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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group” or “CPMC”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

The past year saw many challenges, namely
COVID-19 resurgence, market volatilities and turbulent
global situation. In the face of the difficult operating
environment, especially the impact of various factors
beyond expectation, CPMC continued to coordinate
and firmly grasp its production and operation, epidemic
prevention and control, and safe production. CPMC
identified the targets, took swift actions, firmly grasped
the implementation and did right the first time to ensure
progress and quality enhancement while maintaining
stability. The Group’s annual operating performance
set a record in history surpassing the same period and
grew beyond expectations with a sales size exceeding
RMB10 billion, which represented a satisfactory report
card to the general investors.

In the first half of the year, the can making industry

suffered from the impacts of COVID-19 resurgence,

rising economic downward pressure, weak downstream
demand and fluctuations in raw material costs. In the second half of the year, although there were volatilities in
consumption due to COVID-19 but the overall trend stabilised and improved, alongside with falling raw material
prices and improving profits. It is believed that after the relaxation of COVID rules and opening up, consumer
demand will pick up and the “hustle and bustle” will reappear.

Adhering to high-quality development, the Group continuously improved its core competitiveness and
coordinated both domestic and international markets with focus on core businesses, while promoting R&D
and innovation in an effort to become an internationally renowned “leader of the comprehensive consumer
goods packaging industry”. CPMC continued to leverage on its diversified business advantages in aluminium
packaging, tinplate packaging and plastic packaging to improve its strategic layout and consolidate its leading
position in the industry. With key projects such as the two-piece can projects in Kunming and Shenyang,
the milk powder can project in the Northeast, and the steel drum projects in Fujian and Shandong as leader
projects, CPMC continued to optimise and improve the productivity layout of its core businesses. At the same
time, it accelerated and pushed ahead the expansion projects such as the two-piece can project in Chengdu,
the easy-open end project in Zhenjiang, the special-shaped can project in Hangzhou and the plastic project
in Taicang, while endeavouring to increase its core market share in the Northeast, Northern China, Eastern
China, and the Southwest. The Group’s domestic layout was taking shape which stretched from north to south,
covering first-tier consumer cities such as the Yangtze River Delta region and the Pearl River Delta region.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Chairman’s Letter

Through lean production and technical transformation, the Group improved its processing technology and
reduced production energy consumption. In addition, the Group strengthened the linkage between production,
supply and marketing, continued to improve the management capabilities and profitability of each segment.
While accurately grasping business conditions in upstream procurement, it tapped into the potential and
reduced consumption in midstream manufacturing, intensively cultivated downstream marketing, and mobilised
the synergistic strengths in the upstream and downstream, so as to ensure the market share of many niche
products rank first in China.

Looking ahead in the new year, as the policies optimise, the recovery of economic and social order is
accelerating. With the reopening of consumption, it is believed that it will have a positive impact on the business.
However, the weak global outlook and downside risks have also intensified and highlighted the challenges
ahead. Therefore, high-quality development and risk prevention and control remain the key to the development
of the Group. Focusing on its core business, CPMC endeavours to create value for customers and shareholders,
and continuously improves and promotes manufacturing upgrades to achieve green carbon reduction.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to the management and all the staff of the
Group for their valuable service and contribution during the past year. | would also like to express our heartfelt
gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners, and shareholders for their continuous support to the
Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman of the Board
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General Manager’s Report

In 2022, CPMC actively responded and went against
the trend, and its annual sales revenue exceeded
the RMB10 billion threshold. The Group continued to
optimize its strategic layout, continuously improved its
technological innovation system, and actively promoted
cost reduction and efficiency enhancement.

The Group’s aluminium packaging business maintained
steady growth, with sales revenue increased by 20.3%
over the same period of last year and further increased
share in the overall business structure. The Group
further deepened the cooperation with high-quality
strategic major customers and firmly secured the
orders to further increase the proportion of supply to
core customers. In light of the business philosophy of
establishing market presence before setting up plants,
the Group stepped up the construction of new plants
in Kunming and Shenyang and the construction of the
third production line project in Chengdu, laying the
foundation for achieving the productivity target in 2023.
During the Year, the second production line in Belgium
was put into operation to realize one factory with dual
lines in Western Europe, thus increasing the multi-
type can supply capacity. The implementation of the
two-piece can project in Eastern Europe has formed a
synergistic effect with the Belgian factory, which further
enhanced the overall competitiveness of the Group’s
overseas strategic layout.

The Group’s tinplate packaging business has a wide range of products. It targets at the market characteristics of
different products and the differentiated competition pattern, and takes strategic customers as the breakthrough
point, expands customer resources through technological innovation and other means, so as to actively
consolidate the industry leading position in business sectors such as steel drums, milk powder cans, twist caps,
and spray cans. The milk powder can business focused on promoting the research and development of new
products, comprehensively promoted technological innovations such as tagged easy-to-tear cover and special-
shaped cans, and signed strategic agreements with core customers to secure the proportion of cooperation.
The overall scale has grown for five consecutive years, and the market share has further increased. The steel
barrels business optimised the customer mix, and achieved remarkable results in brand customer management.
The gross profit margin further increased. The three-piece can product is market-oriented. The Group timely
adjusted its direction and introduced the “product line management model” which benchmarks against industry
leaders, strengthens professional division of labour and effectively improves modern operational capabilities,
thus laying a solid foundation for profitability enhancement.

In the plastic packaging business area, the Group further expanded the advantages of cooperation with
strategic customers. The size of cooperation with customers including Unilever and Blue Moon achieved
double-digit growth. While consolidating orders from existing customers, it actively expanded new customers,
and the sales revenue of new categories of products accounted for 21% of the annual sales revenue. The
smart manufacturing of plastic packaging business advanced steadily. The Taicang factory piloted the data
integration analysis of the SAP system, task management system and Bl data system, and was awarded the title
of “Smart Manufacturing Model Workshop in Jiangsu Province” by the Jiangsu Provincial Department of Industry
and Information Technology, thus laying a good foundation for the plastic packaging business to move towards
smart manufacturing 2.0.

CPMC Holdings Limited



General Manager’s Report

Under the coordination and guidance of the “3+N” innovative R&D system, CPMC participated in the drafting
of five national and industry standards. At the same time, it made accelerated breakthroughs in key areas
such as informatisation, digitisation, and intelligence, and achieved the information R&D project application in
various aspects such as procurement process, safety management, and material distribution, thus bringing a
strong impetus towards smart manufacturing and accumulating technical strength. The Group continued to pay
attention to the technological development trend of energy-saving and environmental protection, and promoted
the use of light, environmentally-friendly and recycled materials. During the Year, it promoted the implementation
of 36 energy-saving and emission-reduction projects, achieving carbon emission reduction of 5,000 tons
and VOCs emission reduction by 650 tons, to actively achieve the double carbon goal and environmental
sustainability.

Looking ahead, with the relaxation of COVID rules and opening up of Mainland China as well as resumption
of consumption scenarios, the demand for downstream consumer goods is expected to pick up. The Group
will pay close attention to changes in market development, deepen cooperation with strategic customers,
optimise customer order structure, and ensure the steady release of new production capacity. In addition, it will
strengthen the internal innovation drivers, carry out energy conservation and emission reduction management,
earnestly fulfil social responsibilities and endeavour to improve the Group’s performance and profitability, with a
view to providing customers with reliable products and high-quality services.

Zhang Ye
Executive Director and General Manager

Annual Report 2022

FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

CONTENTS

CORPORATE
INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN'S
LETTER

GENERAL
MANAGER’S
REPORT




Management
Discussion
and Analysis






MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

10

Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Description

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, extensively covering the packaging markets
of tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable beverages, beer, dairy products, household
chemical products and other consumer goods. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive packaging
solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive customer
services. As a leading metal packaging provider in the PRC, the Group is committed to developing into the
leader of the comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry in the PRC. The products of the Group mainly
include aluminium packaging, tinplate packaging and plastic packaging. The Group carries out operations
through 38 operating subsidiaries and their branches and 2 joint ventures (which are strategically located in
different regions of the PRC), an offshore operating subsidiary in order to serve customers more efficiently.
Ranking first in multiple market segments, the Group has earned the appreciation and trust of many well-
known brands domestically and abroad, and established a solid customer base, including domestically and
internationally renowned high-end consumer goods manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminium Packaging

The Group uses aluminium as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging products, which mainly
include two-piece beverage cans (two-piece cans) and one-piece cans. Aluminium packaging products
are characterised by a high degree of automatic production and full product recyclability, etc., and has
been one of the Company’s core businesses in recent years.

In 2022, the Group has taken active pandemic prevention measures to reduce the impact caused
by the resurgence of pandemic, while strengthening the linkage between supply and marketing and
reducing costs. In addition, it continued to promote internal tapping and efficiency enhancement, steadily
releasing new production capacity, building regional multi-type can supply capacity and enhancing
overall competitiveness. Significant growth in sales revenue from aluminium packaging products was
achieved during the reporting period. In 2022, the Group’s sales revenue from aluminium packaging was
approximately RMB5,368 million (2021: approximately RMB4,463 million), increased 20.30% from 2021,
accounting for approximately 52.3% of the overall sales (2021: approximately 46.7%). The gross profit
margin of the aluminium packaging business was approximately 12.4% in 2022 (2021: approximately
15.5%).

Two-Piece Beverage Cans (Two-Piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beer, carbonated drinks and tea
beverages. In 2022, the Group’s sales revenue from the two-piece can business was approximately
RMB5,186 million (2021: approximately RMB4,288 million), representing an increase of 20.9% over 2021.
Renowned customers of the Group’s two-piece can business include Anheuser-Busch InBev, Coca-Cola,
CR Snow Beer, JDB and Tsingtao Brewery.

One-Piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers,
carbonated drinks and medical products. In 2022, the Group’s sales revenue from one-piece can products
was approximately RMB182 million (2021: approximately RMB175 million), representing an increase of
4.0% over 2021. Renowned customers of the Group’s one-piece cans business include Anheuser-Busch
InBev, Tsingtao Brewery, Carlsberg, Daizo Group and Sinochem Group, etc.

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the primary raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which
include steel barrels, milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps and other metal packaging. The Group
is in a leading position in a number of market segments, with steel barrels, milk powder cans, twist caps
and aerosol cans ranking No. 1 in market shares nationwide.

In 2022, the Group continued to promote internal tapping to reduce production costs, optimised supply
chain management, focused on the research and development of digital and new products, and
continued to consolidate the cooperation with core customers. The milk powder cans business continued
to maintain its leading position in the niche market. The integrated and standardised construction of
steel barrel business steadily improved the gross profit margin through benchmarking management, and
further consolidated the leading position in the industry. In 2022, sales revenue from the Group’s tinplate
packaging business amounted to approximately RMB4,213 million (2021: approximately RMB4,461
million), representing a decrease of approximately 5.6% over 2021, accounting for approximately 41.1% of
the overall sales (2021: approximately 46.6%). The gross profit margin of the tinplate packaging business
in 2022 was approximately 12.4% (2021: approximately 11.7%).

Annual Report 2022

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

11



Management Discussion and Analysis

Steel Barrels
MANAGEMENT The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres or above, which are mainly used for

DISCUSSION carrying chemical products and raw food ingredients (e.g. bulk edible oil). In 2022, the sales revenue
AND ANALYSIS

was approximately RMB1,387 million (2021: approximately RMB1,427 million), representing a year-on-
year decrease of approximately 2.8%. Renowned customers of the Group’s steel barrels business include
Wanhua, Sinopec, BASF, Nippon and Exxon Mobil, etc.

Milk Powder Cans

Milk powder cans are mainly used for the packaging of infant formula milk powder, health food and other

products. The Group is the largest milk powder can manufacturer in the PRC. In 2022, the sales revenue

from the milk powder can business amounted to approximately RMB806 million (2021: approximately
RMB737 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 9.4%. Renowned customers of

CORPORATE s . . . . . . .

GOVERNANCE the Group’s milk powder cans business include Feihe, Yili, Mengniu, Unilever and Nestle.

REPORT

Aerosol Cans

Aerosol cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car
maintenance products, alcohol disinfectant, air fresheners, personal care products and pesticides) and
other chemical products. In 2022, the Group recorded sales revenue of approximately RMB523 million
(2021: approximately RMB617 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 15.2%.
Renowned customers of the Group’s aerosol cans business include Gunuo Tianjin, Johnson Shanghai,
Shanghai Daizo and Zhongshan Lanju.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND Metal Caps

GOVERNANCE Metal caps products include twist caps and crown caps. In 2022, the Group’s sales revenue from the
REPORT metal caps business amounted to approximately RMB548 million (2021: approximately RMB543 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 0.9%. Renowned customers of the Group’s metal
caps business include Haiday, Jiajiahong, Huanlejia, Lao Gan Ma, Chubang, China Resources Snow
Breweries, Anheuser-Busch InBev and Tsingtao Brewery.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, household
chemical and food and beverage products. In 2022, the customer structure was continuously optimised
and the sales proportion of food and beverage customers was increased. In terms of production
operations, the degree of automation of production processes continued to increase with the per capita
output efficiency improved significantly. The sales revenue from the plastic packaging business was
approximately RMB674 million in 2022 (2021: approximately RMB642 million), representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 5.1%, accounting for approximately 6.6% of the total revenue (2021:
approximately 6.7%). The gross profit margin of the plastic packaging business in 2022 was approximately
13.8% (2021: approximately 17.8%). Renowned customers of the Group’s plastic packaging business
include P&G, Reckitt Benckiser, Blue Moon, Haiday, Unilever and SC Johnson.

Outlook for 2023

In 2023, the consumer market will show a new development pattern, especially that the recovery of offline
consumption scenarios will become the main trend. Firstly, with the gradual optimisation of pandemic prevention
and control, the demand for offline consumption scenarios will gradually recover. The restricted consumption
demand in the past few years will tend to return to normal, which will boost the vitality of offline consumption
market. Secondly, as the economy gradually revives, there will be positive interaction between supply and
demand, employment and income. The future income and consumer confidence of residents are recovering,
and preventive savings are expected to be progressively released as actual consumption demand. Thirdly, in-
depth implementation of the strategy of expanding domestic demand will be in place, and a series of policies to
promote consumption will be introduced and carried out. Consumption vouchers will be given out in many cities
across China, and the policy effect will gradually emerge, further boosting the consumer market.

In addition, China actively promotes the green and sustainable development agenda for green development
and the harmonious coexistence of human and nature. This concept is also reflected in consumers’ awareness
that they are starting to realise their social responsibility in consumption behaviour and advocate the concept
of “responsible consumption”. Therefore, consumers are willing to pay premiums for green consumption, and
advocating green consumption has become a social consensus.

Against this backdrop, the Group will step up its efforts in low-carbon product innovation and research
and development of environmentally friendly products to meet consumers’ demand for low-carbon and
environmentally friendly product packaging. At the same time, the Group will use “3+N” as a platform to
increase its support for investment in digitalisation and informatisation development, enhance its core
competitive advantages with intelligentisation and digitalisation to actively improve investment returns, and
continue to reward shareholders with good results, and achieve high-quality development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial review

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB10,255 million
(2021: approximately RMB9,566 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB689 million or 7.2%.
Gross profit margin reached approximately 12.5% in the year of 2022 (2021: approximately 13.9%), representing
a decrease as compared with the same period in the previous year. The decrease was primarily due to the
prices of raw material increased.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net profit amounted to approximately RMB485 million (2021:
approximately RMB473 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB12 million or 2.4% as compared
to the same period in the previous year, primarily due to increase in sales volume and decrease in expenses
ratio.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s profit before income tax was approximately RMB596 million
(2021: approximately RMB567 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB29 million or 5.2% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB88 million (2021: approximately RMB66 million), representing an
increase of approximately RMB22 million or 33.7% as compared to the same period in the previous year, which

was mainly due to the increase in financing scale.

Income tax expenses were approximately RMB111 million (2021: approximately RMB93 million). The effective
income tax rate of the Group in 2022 was approximately 18.7% (2021: approximately 16.4%).

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2022, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 5,728 5,819
Cash and cash equivalents 2,380 1,917
Total borrowings 5,211 4,214
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5,379 5,478
Current ratio 1.1 1.4
Gearing ratio* 52.6% 41.9%

*

The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in
which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB5,728 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB5,819 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB5,379 million, which has slightly decreased as compared to approximately RMB5,478 million as at 31
December 2021.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 were approximately 1.1 and approximately 52.6%,
respectively (31 December 2021: approximately 1.4 and approximately 41.9%, respectively). The current ratio
as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 1.1 decreased by 0.3 as compared to 31 December 2021. The
increase in gearing ratio from approximately 41.9% as at 31 December 2021 to approximately 52.6% as at 31
December 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in equity attributable to equity holders of the Company and the
increase in interest-bearing bank loans. Interest-bearing bank loans were approximately RMB5,211 million as
at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by mortgages
over the Group’s properties, plants and equipments, which had a net carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately RMB325 million (31 December 2021: RMB64 million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB977 million,
which was as follows:

Percentage of
RMB million capital expenditure

Belgium project 197 20.2%
Two-piece cans project 420 43.0%
Tinplate project 143 14.6%
Plastics project 63 6.4%
Steel barrels project 79 8.1%
Other equipment purchases 75 7.7%
Total 977 100.0%

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had the following capital commitments:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
Contracted for, but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:
property, plant and equipment 463,023 459,311
capital contribution payable to a joint venture - 4,680

As at 31 December 2022, save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant commitments and
contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits which
are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash
balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuations have no significant
impact on the Group’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 5,945 full-time employees (2021: 6,049), of which approximately 1,598
were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows
the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2022:

Percentage of total
Function No. of employees  no. of employees
Management and Administration 610 10.3%
Sales and Marketing 249 4.2%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 823 13.8%
Production and Quality Control 4,263 71.7%
Total 5,945 100.0%

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB799 million, as compared to
RMB769 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their
performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The
benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In
addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan,
which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they
reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included mandatory provident fund, life
insurance and medical insurance.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Major risks and uncertainties

In order to stabilise business operation, the Company’s management shows great concern on the risk factors
which the Company may face in its operation. Based on critical risk indicators and through assessment and
analysis, the following major possible risks are identified:

1. Operational risks from macroeconomic control:

Macroeconomic control has considerable impact on downstream companies and will indirectly affect the
sales and profits of packaging companies (including the Group).

2. Operational risks from fluctuations in raw material prices and exchange rates:

Raw material costs represent a relative high proportion in our production costs, hence, fluctuations in raw
material prices will have considerable impact on the generation of profits.

3.  Risks from market competition:
With relatively low concentration in our sector, companies with considerable scale and capacity have
viewed further expansion of their production and marketing scale and maximisation of market share as
their main objectives. This will give rise to keen market competition.

4.  Risks from food safety:

Failure to meet the national or industrial safety standards in food production will cause food safety issues
to customers. This will give rise to the risks of return of goods or financial losses.

5. Quality risks:

Failure to satisfy the statutory standards or customers’ needs in relation to product quality or performance
will give rise to lot quality problem, of which defective lots or inventories will result in losses.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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The Board is fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes
that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and
retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its
position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods. During the Year, the
Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing of the
shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 16 November 2009, save for those disclosed in this annual report, the Company has complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
are in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and for maximising the
Shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the
financial and management performance of the Group as a whole. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors as follow:

Executive Directors:
= Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman)
= Mr. Zhang Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

= Mr. Li Minghua (resigned on 18 January 2022)

= Mr. Chen Qianzheng (resigned on 18 January 2022)
= Dr. Zhao Wei (appointed on 18 January 2022)

= Mr. Meng Fanijie (appointed on 18 January 2022)

= Mr. Zhou Yuan

= Mr. Shen Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
= Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

—Mr. Pun Tit Shan

= Mr. Chen Jihua

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages 80 to 85 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2022 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.

Although Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo served as an independent non-executive Director for more than nine years, the
Board considers that Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo is a person of integrity and independent in judgement and character.
He is independent of management and free from any business or other relationships or circumstances which
could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement. The Board considers that Mr. Cheng
Yuk Wo meets the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of the view that his
independence is not affected by his long service with the Company.
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Functions of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal of
maximising the Shareholders’ return. The Board has the following major duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

° be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
° to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

° formulation of business strategies and business plans;

o planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
° evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
° be responsible for the annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The General Manager is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), a risk
management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) and the senior management. On 23 October 2009,
the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. On 22 December 2016, the Board approved the formation
of the Risk Management Committee. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations,
business strategies and day-to-day management to the General Manager and senior management. The final
decision(s) are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the
four committees.

Chairman and General Manager

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and General Manager should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xin, had
been responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board during the Year.
Furthermore, the role of the Chairman is to encourage and facilitate active contribution of Directors in Board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the
executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Zhang Xin had ensured the Directors to have receive
adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner during the Year. The General Manager,
Mr. Zhang Ye, is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to
ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group
during the Year.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Further, under the
Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Articles, remove
a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, 6 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings in person or by
telephone in accordance with the Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting attendance during the Year is
as follows:

Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year*

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 6/6
Mr. Zhang Ye 6/6

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Minghua (Note 1) 11
Mr. Chen Qianzheng (Note 2) 171
Dr. Zhao Wei (Note 3) 5/5
Mr. Meng Fanijie (Note 4) 5/5
Mr. Zhou Yuan 6/6
Mr. Shen Tao 6/6

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 6/6
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 6/6
Mr. Chen Jihua 6/6
* During the Year, there was 1 out of the 6 Board meetings related to continuing connected transactions, in which

Directors who were deemed to have material interest had abstained from voting at that Board meeting.
Notes:

1. Mr. Li Minghua was resigned as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and 1 Board meeting was held during his
tenure in the Year.

2. Mr. Chen Qianzheng was resigned as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and 1 Board meeting was held
during his tenure in the Year.

3. Dr. Zhao Wei was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and attended 5 out of 5 Board meetings
held during his tenure in the Year.

4. Mr. Meng Fanjie was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and attended 5 out of 5 Board
meetings held during his tenure in the Year.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before the
meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters
in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing
papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions.

General meetings with the Shareholders

The 2022 annual general meeting (the “2022 AGM”) was held on 30 May 2022 and one extraordinary general
meeting was held on 30 December 2022. A summary of the general meeting attendance during the Year is as
follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 1/2
Mr. Zhang Ye 1/2

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Minghua (Note 1) -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng (Note 2) -

Dr. Zhao Wei (Note 3) 0/2
Mr. Meng Fanijie (Note 4) 0/2
Mr. Zhou Yuan 0/2
Mr. Shen Tao 0/2

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 2/2
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 2/2
Mr. Chen Jihua 0/2
Notes:
1. Mr. Li Minghua was resigned as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and no general meeting was held during

his tenure in the Year.

2. Mr. Chen Qianzheng was resigned as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and no general meeting was held
during his tenure in the Year.

3. Dr. Zhao Wei was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and 2 general meetings were held during
his tenure in the Year.

4. Mr. Meng Fanjie was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 January 2022 and 2 general meetings were held
during his tenure in the Year.

Code provision C.1.6 of the Code stipulates that the independent non-executive Directors and other non-
executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
the shareholders of the Company. Dr. Zhao Wei, Mr. Meng Fanjie, Mr. Zhou Yuan, Mr. Shen Tao and Mr. Chen
Jihua were unable to attend the general meetings of the Company held on 30 May 2022 due to other business
engagement. Messrs. Zhang Xin, Zhang Ye, Dr. Zhao Wei, Messrs Meng Fanjie, Zhou Yuan, Shen Tao and
Chen Jihua could not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2022 due
to illness or other business engagement.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of written
resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his close associates have any material interest
in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a
meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in
which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2022/2023. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Yim Ming Chung had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 6 March 2016. He has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision A.2.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
acknowledge the needs to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions
to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Mr. Zhang Ye v v
Non-executive Directors
Dr. Zhao Wei (appointed on 18 January 2022) 4 v
Mr. Meng Fanijie (appointed on 18 January 2022) 4 v
Mr. Zhou Yuan 4 v
Mr. Shen Tao v 4
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v 4
Mr. Pun Tit Shan v v
Mr. Chen Jihua 4 v

Audit Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference stating its authority and duties. A majority of the members
of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 3/3
Mr. Zhou Yuan (Note 2) 3/3
Mr. Chen Jihua (Note 1) 3/3
Notes:
1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Non-executive Director

CPMC Holdings Limited



The Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary had been
circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meetings. No member of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company'’s website.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;

° monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

° consider the independence of the external auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and internal control systems and financial reporting matters;

° reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual reports, the
letter to the management from the auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31
December 2022;

° approved the internal audit plan for the year of 2022;

° reviewed Environmental, Social and Governance Report;

° reviewed continuing connected transactions; and

° met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope of their audit work for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited be re-appointed as the Company’s external
auditor for the year ending 31 December 2023.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; and (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

° nominated new non-executive Directors;

o made recommendation to the Board for the re-election at the 2022 AGM; and

° assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board, the Nomination Committee
would consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and other qualities
required, with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board
and work constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings to the role and how they will enhance the
efficiency and performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed candidate including directorships or other
relationship with the Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his ability to exercise
independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Board Diversity Policy

The Board has reviewed its board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Pursuant to the
board diversity policy, all Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of the annual report, the Board comprises 9 directors and all of them are male. The Board targets
to appoint at least 1 female director by 2024.

As at 31 December 2022, male employees accounted for 67.0% and female employees accounted for 33.0%
of all employees (including senior management) of the Group. To achieve gender diversity, we are committed
to creating favorable conditions in our working environment to attract more women to join the Group, and thus
increase the proportion of female employees (including senior management) by years, making us a gender-
balanced company. The gender balance scheme includes hiring and promoting more women to hold senior
management positions based on the qualifications, experience and skills required for those positions. In
addition, we may face the issue of whether the supply of female personnel in the human resources market
matches the academic qualifications, experience and skills required for positions within the Group. Despite
these challenges, we are still moving towards gender balance.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022. The composition and
the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 2) 2/2
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Note 2) 2/2
Notes:
1. Executive Director
2. Independent non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

o review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

° made recommendation to the Board on the emolument of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022. The composition and
the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2
Mr. Shen Tao (Note 2) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 1) 2/2
Notes:
1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Non-executive Director

CPMC Holdings Limited



Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 22 December 2016 and the Board has adopted the terms
of reference for the Risk Management Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee are mainly to (i) review the Group’s enterprise risk
management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management;
(i) review the Group’s major risks and key emerging risks and the controls in place to mitigate such risks; and (iii)
review the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management function.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Management Committee had performed the following work:

° review and discuss the overall risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures
for risk assessment and risk management;

° review and discuss the major risks of the Group such as credit risk and market risk; and
° review the effectiveness of the overall risk management function.
The Risk Management Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2022. The composition

and the details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Management Committee during the Year are as
follows:

Members of Risk Management Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Chen Jihua (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 171
Mr. Chen Qianzheng (Note 2) -
Mr. Meng Fanijie (Note 3) 171
Mr. Zhang Ye (Note 4) 171
Notes:
1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Mr. Chen Qianzheng has resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Risk Management Committee on

18 January 2022.

3. Mr. Meng Fanjie was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the Risk Management Committee on 18
January 2022.

4. Executive Director
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures, a well-established organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable for its daily
operations and is required to implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board from time to
time.

The internal audit department and the risk management department of the Company supported the Board, the
Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee in reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems and performed its functions during the Year following annual plans and submitting their
reports of their findings to the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee at the meetings.
The Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee provide independent review on effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and gives their recommendation to the Board. The
Board is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report and approving policies and procedures designed by
the management.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and implemented an inside
information procedure. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include the
maintaining of a good control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of authority, reporting lines
and responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. Appropriate
control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control environment for handling and dissemination
of inside information. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-
know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

Through the Group’s Code of Conduct, employees are encouraged (and instructed as to how) to report control
deficiencies or suspicions of impropriety to those who are in a position to take necessary action. The Company
has an Anti-Corruption Policy and a Whistleblowing Policy for employees and those who deal with the Group
to raise concerns, where desired, about actual or suspected cases of impropriety in any matter related to the
Group. Details please refer to section 1.2 to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 by way of
discussions with the management of the Group, members of the Audit Committee, members of the Risk
Management Committee and the external independent auditor. The Board considered major investigation
findings of the external consultant on risk management and internal control matters and management’s
response to these findings.

The Board believes that the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training schemes and budget and was satisfied with their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and external audit process, and
satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and is effective at providing assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by the Company, and that the
external audit process is effective.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit service 1,700
Non-audit services 700
Total 2,400
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The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognises the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the Shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i)  the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i)  the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(i) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to
time. There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website; and

(v) Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Monday, 29 May 2023 (the
“2023 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the Shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditor. At the 2023 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee will be available to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should send a notice to the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 14
clear days before the annual general meetings or all other general meetings respectively.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued Share carrying the
right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the written requisition.

CPMC Holdings Limited



The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor
relationship. Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or
proposals to the Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

The Board receives updates from the Company Secretary from time to time on key issues raised by
shareholders and investors. In developing and formulating Group strategy, the Board considers such key issues
raised and independent views. The Board conducted a review and assessment of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Group’s shareholders’ communication policy during the financial year ended 31 December
2022 by way of discussions with the management of the Group and considered the policy effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles. An up-
to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2023 AGM. The Shareholders will be
allowed to have one vote for every Share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

Policy on Payment of Dividends

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of dividends to Shareholders after considering
the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual and expected
financial performance, its current and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon its actual financial performance, its current
and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and regulatory restrictions of
and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition
to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Description of the report: This report is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) report issued
by CPMC Holdings Limited, with an aim to give an objective and fair picture of CPMC and its subsidiaries’ ESG
performance in 2022.

Reference: For the convenience of expression and reading, “CPMC Holdings Limited” may also be referred to
as “CPMC” or the “Company” or “we”/’us” in this report.

Reporting scope: The reporting period of this report is from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).
In order to enhance the comparability and completeness of the report, some disclosures also cover other
periods.

Basis of preparation: This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report has

been prepared based on the principles of “materiality”, “quantification”, “balance” and “consistency”, to define
the content of the report and the information presentation of the consultation.

Materiality: During the preparation of this report, major stakeholders and ESG issues of concern have been
identified, and targeted disclosures have been made in this report according to the relative importance of the
issues.

Quantification: This report uses quantitative methods to measure and disclose applicable key performance
indicators. The standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools to measure the key performance
indicators in this report, as well as the source of the conversion factors used, have been explained in the
corresponding context, where applicable.

Balance: The ESG report discloses both positive and negative information objectively to ensure the contents
provide an unbiased picture of the Company’s ESG performance during the reporting period.

Consistency: The data disclosed in this report adopt the same statistical method as that of the previous year,
and individual changes have been explained to ensure the principle of consistency.

Source of information: The information and cases in this report are derived from the statistical data, relevant
documents and internal communication documents of CPMC during its operation. CPMC undertakes that there
are no false records and misleading statements in this report, and is responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy
and completeness thereof.

The board of directors (“Board”) of CPMC makes the following statement in accordance with the requirements
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the environmental, social and governance (ESG) governance of CPMC.
The Audit Committee of the Board supervises ESG-related matters of CPMC and guides the development of
ESG practices. The ESG task force established by the Company is responsible for the implementation of ESG
strategies and reports to the Audit Committee.

CPMC attaches great importance to the potential material impact of ESG risks on the Company, and incorporate
the same into the risk management system. The Board assesses, prioritises and manages material ESG issues
every year through ESG risk identification, macro policies and hot topics as well as communication results with
stakeholders, so as to clarify the ESG governance priorities of the Group. The assessment results of CPMC'’s
material issues for the Year have been submitted to the Board for approval.

The Company has set environmental targets related to business operations, and the Board and the Audit
Committee have reviewed and discussed the progress of the environmental targets established in their annual
meeting.

This report discloses in detail the ESG-related issues, which have been reviewed and approved by the Board on
15 March 2028.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1. ESG GOVERNANCE

CPMC has always practised the concept of sustainable development, attaches great importance to ESG
governance, and promotes harmonious and win-win development with stakeholders.

1.1. ESG Governance Structure
Good ESG governance is a key way to achieve the goal of the Company’s sustainable development,
and an effective ESG strategy is of great significance for guiding the ESG work execution of the
Group. Through risk management and control, the Group identifies ESG risks and proactively
responds thereto to guide operations and optimise business. We implement ESG strategies in
respect of business ethics, green operation, employee growth, quality innovation and contributing to
the society.

In order to fully integrate the management of ESG into the business operation and management of
CPMC and promote the sustainable development of the Company, we integrate ESG governance
into the corporate governance structure, covering three levels of the Board, the Audit Committee and
ESG task force, which has clarified the powers, responsibilities and decision-making procedures at
all levels and ensured the full implementation of ESG work.

Our ESG governance structure is as follows:

e As the highest decision-making body for ESG governance, the
The Board Board controls the overall direction of the Company’s ESG strategy
and is ultimately responsible for ESG-related matters.

Audit e The Board authorises the Audit Committee to supervise the
Committee implementation of the Company’s ESG work and report to the Board.

e According to CPMC’s overall ESG strategy and annual goals, the

ESG Task ESG task force formulates specific ESG annual work plans and
1 annual goals for each department, implements relevant key tasks,
Force manages daily ESG risks, and regularly reports to the Audit
Committee.
1. The ESG task force is formed by 11 departments, namely the Finance Department, the Party-Masses

Work Department, the Discipline Inspection Commission Office, the Legal Department, the Risk Control
Department, the Supply Chain Management Department, the Technology Centre, the Human Resources
Department, the Audit Department, the Strategy Department, and the Quality and Safety Management
Department.
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Communication with Stakeholders

CPMC attaches great importance to the communication with stakeholders, and has established a
normalised communication mechanism for stakeholders to identify the ESG issues of stakeholders’
concern and proactively respond thereto, striving to realise the recognition of the interests of the
Company and stakeholders. In 2022, we communicated with stakeholders mainly as follows:

Major stakeholders

Government and
regulatory bodies

ESG issues

Labour standards

Product responsibility

Anti-corruption

Emissions

Climate change

Environment and natural
resources

Communication and
responding channels

Policy consultation
Incident reporting
Information disclosure

Shareholders and investors

Product responsibility
Anti-corruption
Climate change

Shareholders’ general
meetings

Annual reports

Periodic announcements

Official website

Employment
Health and safety

Employee training

Employees Development and training ?taa(f;r?oefe;?szxchan .
Labour standards 9
Information disclosure
Customers Product responsibility Social media

Face-to-face communication
Meetings

Suppliers and other partners

Supply chain management
Anti-corruption

Supplier meetings
Phones and emails

Media and charity
organisations

Community investment
Product responsibility

Press conference and
exchange meetings

Social media

Official website

Community and public

Emissions
Community investment

Community interaction
Charity activities
Social media
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Materiality Assessment
MANAGEMENT Based on the communication with key stakeholders and taking into consideration the Company’s
DISCUSSION business and operation characteristics, we conducted a materiality analysis on the ESG issues in 12

AND ANALYSIS aspects listed in the ESG Reporting Guide, which was expected to offer a more comprehensive and

systematic understanding of the assessment and expectations of various stakeholders on CPMC
in terms of ESG management, and served as a reference for our actions and disclosures, so as to
better respond to the needs of stakeholders.

During the Year, we identified product responsibility, employment and emissions as the “highly

material issues”; “material issues in general” included health and safety, development and training,

anti-corruption, supply chain management, use of resources, climate change, labour standards,

oo environmental and natural resources and community investment. We shall discuss the content of
RPORATE . . .

GOVERNANCE each issue separately in each chapter of this report.

REPORT
A

High

Environmental and E
Health and safety natural resources

® @ Labour
Community standards
Anti-corruption  investment Climate change @
. Use of resources
Supply chain
management

Development and

)
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SOCIAL AND
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Significance to stakeholders

training
Low
DIRECTORS AND ol
SENIOR Low Significance to the sustainability of CPMC High
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
1.2 Anti-corruption
CPMC adopts a zero-tolerance attitude towards corruption, fraud and other acts that violate business
ethics. Attaching great importance to internal integrity construction, CPMC regularly sorts out the
“Implementation Opinions on Promoting the Reform of the Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision
System of Central Enterprises”, the “Work Rules for Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision Organs
Stationing at Institutions” and the “Administrative Measures for Clues of Problems by Discipline
Inspection and Supervision Organs’ issued by the General Office of the Central Commission for
;F:;;RTLC;;THE Discipline Inspection, as well as the relevant requirements of the COFCO Group on the construction

of party conduct and integrity and anti-corruption. CPMC also formulates and updates the “Rules
of Procedure for CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee”, the “Implementation Measures for
CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee on Interviews and Written Inquiries”, the “CPMC Integrity
Risk Prevention and Control Manual”, the “Rules of Procedure for CPMC Disciplinary Inspection
Committee” and other rules and regulations, continuously improving the integrity management and
operation mechanism.
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Integrity Risk Prevention and Control

CPMC has further established and improved the supervision system, and established the CPMC
Coordination Team for Construction of Party Conduct and Integrity and Anti-Corruption (referred
to as the Coordination Team), which CPMC’s Party Committee Member and the Secretary of the
Disciplinary Inspection Committee shall act as the team leader, the main persons in charge of
each department shall be the team members, and a liaison officer shall be added to each member
department to be responsible for the relevant specific work. In 2022, the Company held four work
meetings of the Coordination Team to promote interdepartmental information exchange, broaden the
sources of clues of problems, report corruption cases, analyse the causes of problems, strengthen
the governance at source, and promote the high-quality development of the Company’s work on the
construction of Party conduct and integrity and anti-corruption.

The Company promotes routine prevention and control of integrity risks, regularly carries out risk
point reminders and prevention warnings for risk-prone procedures in operation and management,
promotes integrity risk point management and procedural supervision, and carries out various
special supervision work in accordance with the requirements of superiors.

In order to clarify the responsibilities and task requirements of cadres at all levels in terms of
integrity construction, in 2022, the Party Committee and different levels of the Disciplinary Inspection
Committee of CPMC signed a total of 120 annual main responsibility and supervision responsibility
letters, in addition to 96 integrity commitment letters of the leaders. The Company conducts monthly
assessment and evaluation of the performance of the Disciplinary Inspection Committee at all
levels, and the assessment results are linked to performance, continuously enhancing the sense of
responsibility for the construction of Party conduct and integrity and anti-corruption.

Whistle-blowing Channels

CPMC has multiple whistle-blowing channels including mailbox, hotline, suggestion box and online,
and makes use of the Company’s intranet, various cooperation agreements, video playback, etc.
to publicise such whistle-blowing channels. We adhere to the principle of confidentiality, real-name
reporting priority and rewards once verification. Employees and any third parties are encouraged
to truthfully report any violations of discipline and regulations in connection with the Company’s
business activities. Letters and visits are accepted in accordance with the level of management
authority. Letters and visits reflecting the reporting by the cadres, employees and Party organisations
of CPMC that are not managed by the Group’s Party organisations are accepted by the CPMC
Disciplinary Inspection Committee, while letters and visits reflecting the reporting by the Party
Committee and the Disciplinary Inspection Committee of CPMC are accepted by the COFCO Group
Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision Team.

Telephone: 0571-87388127

Letters: No. 160, Weiken Street, Hangzhou Economic and Technical Development Zone,
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, Office of the CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee, postal code
310018

According to the “Administrative Measures for the Disposal of Clues of Problems by Disciplinary
Inspection Committee of CPMC”, the CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee shall put forward
disposal opinions, formulate a disposal plan, and perform approval procedures within one month
from the date of receiving the problem clues. The Company keeps the whistle-blower’s personal
information and the content of reporting and accusation strictly confidential, and severely punishes
the one who infringes the privacy of whistle-blowers or retaliates against whistle-blowers.

During the Year, there were no corruption lawsuits against CPMC and its employees which have
been concluded.
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Awareness Building

CPMC attaches great importance to the construction of Party conduct and integrity. With “zero
tolerance” for violations of business ethics, the Company is committed to creating a transparent
and honest integrity culture. Starting from daily management, the Company promotes disciplinary
inspection and integrity requirements through thematic sessions, emails, WeChat corporate groups
and etc. It also regularly reminds staff of the real-time requirements of superiors and reports the
updates on the Company’s disciplinary inspection and management through warning education
briefings, the integrity practice window on the intranet and other places.

Trainings on Anti-corruption Education

Issue 6 Issue 50

e Publishing a warning e Weekly anti-corruption
briefing exercise book

Over 150

participants

e Young cadre integrity e Integrity construction
warning education and warning education
meeting meetings

During the Year, CPMC'’s trainings on anti-corruption education covered both the management and
employees. In particular, warning briefing, anti-corruption exercise book and integrity construction
and warning education meetings covered two directors, with a total training hours of 14.5 hours.

2. STABLE OPERATION AND QUALITY SERVICE

Adhering to customer demand orientation, CPMC practises its service concept of “full dedication to best
customer service, progress together with the best customers”, actively builds up a safety quality culture of
people orientation, full participation and unremitting improvement.

2.1. Ensuring Quality

CPMC strictly complies with the relevant laws, regulations and national standards including the
Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China and National Food Safety Standards — General
Rules for the Labeling on Prepackaged Foods. We follow quality and safety risk management
principles of system management, prevention orientation, categorisation and classification, and full
participation, issuing regulations such as the Administration Regulations of CPMC on Food Safety,
the Administration Measures of CPMC on Quality and Safety Risk and the Administration Measures
of CPMC on Benchmarking. We incorporate quality and safety risk management into the entire
process of daily operation management, realising the compliance of the whole process of packaging
products, the monitoring of the whole process, and the traceability of the whole process. At present,
all management systems and standards related to quality and food safety of the subsidiaries of
CPMC are incorporated into ISO9001 and FSSC22000/HACCP systems.

Quality Guarantee

The quality management of CPMC is guided by the Company’s quality and safety culture. It always
adheres to customer orientation and result orientation, taking risk management and continuous
improvement as the main line of management, and establishing the quality and safety risk
management and control mechanism of CPMC to ensure product quality and safety.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The quality and safety risk management and control mechanism of CPMC
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In order to ensure product quality, CPMC has established a complete monitoring and inspection
process. Under the internal and external monitoring by COFCO Group, packaging headquarters and

branches, product quality is guaranteed to meet customers’ requirements on quality. ENVIHONMENTAES
SOCIAL AND

. i . i . GOVERNANCE

The quality and food safety monitoring and inspection process of CPMC REPORT

Internal inspection by branches

LPA inspection Rolling review System internal audit and Product examination
management assessment and testing
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DIRECTORS AND
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MANAGEMENT
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and safety performance evaluation of special review and flight inspection by sampling tests coordinated by
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REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

In 2022, the market supervision and administration bureaus at all levels conducted 40 inspections,
involving 53 batches of products at 15 profit points, including 15 on-site flight inspections, with a
passing rate of 100%. Management headquarters strictly conducted sampling on 343 batches of
products and 1,597 key indicators, with a passing rate of 100%. During the Year, the Company had
no food safety incidents, major quality complaints, and product quality litigation cases.

Quality video detection equipment for milk powder cans

Through optimizing light source parameters, the quality detection for milk powder cans solves
the problem of unidentifiable defects due to reflection by metal cans. By optimising artificial
intelligence algorithm and updating marking training, the online detection capacity and detection
accuracy have been significantly improved, realising online digital precise detection, and
enhancing the quality control during production process.
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Steel drum code and steel stamp online detection device

Steel drum code and steel stamp online detection device makes use of OCR measurement
technology for the first time by adopting 2.5D images to stably extract the character
information of steel stamps, improving readability, realising the visualisation of stable
difference, and further ensuring product quality.

Steel drum body appearance online detection device

Steel drum body appearance online detection device innovatively adopts a detection method
combining 8K high-precision colour line scan camera and 12-megapixel high resolution
area array colour camera. The rotating mechanism drives the large barrel to rotate and
detects any paint and printing defects on the appearance of the large barrel, meeting the
requirements of small size, high speed and high precision.

In 2022, CPMC won awards including the “Best Quality Award of the 2022 Budweiser APAC Supplier
Strategic Alliance”, the “Sinochem Outstanding Partner”, and the “Outstanding Supplier of Johnson”
for its reliable quality, timely delivery, and satisfying services.

The “Best Quality Award of the 2022 Budweiser APAC Supplier Strategic Alliance”, the “Sinochem
Outstanding Partner”, and the “Outstanding Supplier of Johnson”

Formulation of industry standards

CPMC has played an important role in promoting the standardisation of industry standards.
In 2022, the Company participated in the formulation and revision of standards such as the
Technical Specifications for Evaluation of Green Design Products (Aluminium and Laminated
Iron Ease Cover), the Quality Grading and “Leader” Evaluation Requirements (Claw-
type Twist Cover), the Polyethylene Blow Containers for Food Packaging, and the Metal
Containers for Food Oil Packaging.

The Company serves as a member of 5 industry authoritative organisations, including the
Metal Articles Technical Sub-committee of the National Standardisation Technical Committee
for Materials and Articles in Contact with Foodstuff, the Canned Food Technical Sub-
committee of the National Standardisation Technical Committee for Food Industry, and the
National Standardisation Technical Committee for Packaging.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Quality Improvement

CPMC is committed to improving product quality. Through various defect identification channels
such as customer feedback, separation of abnormal products, review and discovery, it continues
to carry out quality improvement activities such as benchmarking management, quality team
improvement, typical defect correction, a little lesson, and a little improvement, constantly improving
product competitiveness and customer satisfaction, thereby promoting the Company’s high-quality
development.

In 2022, the Company organised 35 quality improvement projects, 48 typical defect corrections,
626 items for a little lesson, and 2,700 items for a little improvement, which effectively reduced
production waste and rework, improved production efficiency and one-time pass rate, and achieved
improvement gains of about RMB9.07 million.

Tracing System

In order to achieve mastering and control of the whole process of production of various packaging
products in production and operation, and ensure the quality and safety of food packaging products,
the Company has formulated relevant systems such as the Technical Specifications for Traceability
System Construction of CPMC, constructing a product tracing system under the framework of
ISO9001 and FSSC22000 systems to realise traceability of the whole product process through
informatisation system.

The informatisation system for the whole product process

Barcode System

SPC System ‘
SAP System 4 Logistical
OA System Quality management
A . records
Material
management
Assess g
approval

One-can one-code technology

The one-can one-code technology independently developed
by CPMC can realise fast and effective two-way traceability by
scanning the special QR code on metal packaging, which can
precisely trace back to the smallest packaging can/cover.

Product Recall

CPMC has formulated the Administrative Measures on Product Recall of CPMC and other related
systems to standardise recall procedures, strengthen the control of unsafe products, and reduce
losses caused by unsafe products to customers. At the same time, we require each branch to carry
out product recall drills on a regular basis to verify the rationality and effectiveness of product recall
control procedures, discover problems in a timely manner, and then improve the plan.
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Product recall procedure flow chart of CPMC
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DIRECTORS During the Year, CPMC had no recalls of sold or shipped products due to safety and health reasons.
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2.2. Driven by Innovation
CPMC attaches great importance to product, technology innovation and intellectual property rights MANAGEMENT
protection, and insists on empowering the Company’s development through innovation. DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS

Product and Technology Innovation

CPMC continues to upgrade its products and develop market-led differentiated new products

to meet the increasing needs of customers, developing together with customers. The Company

has formulated the Administrative Measures of CPMC for Technology Innovation, the Incentive

Measures for Technology Innovation, the Opinions of CPMC on Execution of the Decision of the

Party Committee of COFCO Relating to High Quality Development Driven by Technology Innovation

and other documents. By optimising its organisational structure, adding a chief technology officer,

assigning benchmarking management-related duties and functions to the technology centre,

increasing investment in R&D and innovation, and building a high-tech enterprise demonstration Ggeggﬁfﬁgi

platform, CPMC continuously strengthens the construction of the “8+N” technology innovation REPORT

system.

During the Year, the Company added a technology management platform and a benchmarking
management platform to the “3+N” technology innovation system. Through various technology
platforms and external benchmarking, the Company cooperated with each manufacturing
department to conduct technology development and application including intelligentisation, food
safety, design and simulation, new materials, etc. We have updated the Administrative Measures of
CPMC on Appraisal and Employment of Professional and Technical Jobs to encourage professional
and technical personnel to be brave in innovation and cultivate a professional talent team through
the technical and professional appraisal and employment channel.

In 2022, CPMC achieved fruitful results in the R&D of new products, new processes, and new
technologies. In terms of new products, we have developed a new type of small-capacity aluminium
bottle of 250ml, effectively breaking the single bottle type scenario in the market. In terms of new
processes, we have developed a new process for the anti-vibration bottom cover of steel drums,
reaching a leading level in bottom cover anti-vibration technology. In terms of new technologies,
we have implemented intelligent manufacturing V2.0, which subversively constructed a plastic
factory management system based on digital means, realising whole process control of production

conditions, equipment, key process parameters and quality abnormalities. D'RECTO;‘EN‘T(“)ﬁ

MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

In 2022, we independently developed the “Insight” robust optimisation technology, and
completed the development of 14 new packaging products for major customers, helping
plastic products expand the market.

This digital design simulation technology fills the gap in batch application of simulation
technology in the metal packaging industry and promotes deep integration of digital REPORT OF THE
technology and the real economy. DIRECTORS

The inflatable screw cap equipment for steel drums developed by the engineering equipment
centre is the fastest and most complete equipment of its kind on the market. Each machine
can reduce the number of employees by 4. At present, 4 machines have been successfully
used in production.

The Company has successfully applied balancer equipment on the production line of cap
making. The current maximum speed of the balancer reaches 10,000 caps/minute, saving
investment costs of more than RMB600,000. Each machine can reduce the number of
employees by 6.
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Intellectual Property Rights

MANAGEMENT CPMC attaches great importance to the management of intellectual property rights, and strictly
DISCUSSION abides by the laws and regulations such as the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China,
AND ANALYSIS the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Regulations on the Supervision and
Administration of Trademark Agents. It has formulated the CPMC Patent Administrative Measures,
the CPMC Trademark Administrative Measures and the CPMC Copyright Administrative Measures,
and newly issued the memorandum on Patent Early Warning and Prevention Guidelines to
establish an intellectual property management system, clarifying intellectual property management
responsibilities, and actively building a multi-faceted intellectual property moat.

CPMC pays attention to protection of its own intellectual property rights. Intellectual property
CORPORATE protection measures are taken into consideration at the beginning of project establishment, and
GOVERNANCE technology novelty search reports are required for researches involving cutting-edge technologies,
REPORT so as to reserve sufficient evidence for cracking down on infringement. For joint development
projects, the Company signs cooperation agreements to agree on the ownership of intellectual
property rights in advance to avoid disputes. In order to standardise the process of public disclosure
of technological achievements, the Company has launched the OA process of Patent Disclosure
Application Form to realise hierarchical approval of patents and strengthen management of
intellectual property rights.

The Company respects the intellectual property rights of others, and pays attention to the

ENVIRONMENTAD infringement risks of trademark rights, copyrights, patent rights and trade secrets in product design,

SOCIAL AND R&D, publicity and information dissemination. Before an R&D project is established, leveraging our

GOVERNANCE professional patent search and analysis platform, we conduct a search and analysis on the patents
REPORT

of each product line, focusing on the investigation of the patents of its competitors, so as to mitigate
the risk arising from infringement. The Company carries out a special self-inspection in respect of
“font use infringement” to ensure the fonts used are compliant on the website, product brochures,
publicity roll up banners, product designs, product development and product displays in exhibition
halls of CPMC, among others. The Company also requires all functional units, business divisions and
profit points to install and use legally authorised proprietary software on office computers according
to the Regulations on the Use and Management of Proprietary Software Products of CPMC (Trial)
and relevant regulations.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR

MANAGEMENT In order to strengthen employees’ awareness of intellectual property protection, in 2022, we engaged

PROFILE external experts to conduct thematic seminars on patent mining and deployment, CPMC’s “3+N”
innovation system patent exchange, etc. A total of more than 80 people participated in the meetings.
In 2022, CPMC newly added 64 authorised patents (including 6 invention patents) and 1 copyright.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
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2.3. Quality Services

In response to customers’ increasingly more requirements on service experience, CPMC provides MANAGEMENT
customers with pre-sale, in-sale and after-sale whole-process services in accordance with the DISCUSSION
Customer Service Management Procedures. The Company has set up a special service team for key AND ANALYSIS
customers to provide one-on-one quality and technology services, and regularly conduct activities
with key customers such as quality and technology exchange meetings and key indicator testing
and benchmarking. In 2022, the Company held an annual quality and technology exchange meeting
with key customers including Budweiser, Coke, Jiaduobao, and Feihe to jointly promote rapid
development of product quality.
Pre-sale, in-sale and after-sale whole-process services
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

REPORT
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® Technology
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
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Food safety campaigns

During the campaigns of “World Food Safety Day”, “National Food Safety Publicity Week”
and “National Quality Month”, CPMC and Tingjin jointly launched “Food Safety Unity”, “Food
Safety Gala One Stop till the End”, “Food Safety, | Promise”, “Let's Talk about Food Safety
with Activities”, “Adhere to the Four Most Strict, Ensure Food Safety” and other food safety
promotion activities, strengthening interaction and exchanges with customers and promoting
the cultural concept of quality and food safety.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
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Food safety promotion activity
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Complaint Handling
MANAGEMENT CPMC has established a complete customer complaint response mechanism, and has set up
DISCUSSION multiple complaint channels such as telephone, email, WeChat, and fax. Once we receive a

AND ANALYSI . . . .
s customer complaint, we shall act in accordance with the Customer Service Management Procedures

and follow the “137 principle” to handle and respond to the complaint in a timely manner: internal
tracing and analysis shall be completed within 1 day, and personnel shall be arranged at the scene
for analysis and processing as soon as necessary; responsible departments shall complete the
cause analysis within 3 days; for general issues, remedies shall be formulated and implemented
within 7 days.

Customer complaint response mechanism

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
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feedback

ENVIRONMENTAL,
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DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT . . °
PROFILE In 2022, CPMC received a total of 1,399 quality feedbacks from customers. About 80% of the
complaints were about poor appearance, and the customer satisfaction rate with the complaint
handling reached above 90%.
Customer Satisfaction Survey
In order to better serve customers, CPMC designs differentiated questionnaires for different
customer groups every year, comprehensively collects user opinions and suggestions from multiple
dimensions such as quality, delivery, transportation, and service, and forms a customer satisfaction
REPORT OF THE survey report as a basis for the planning and improvement of the Company’s quality system.
DIRECTORS

In recent years, the Company’s customer satisfaction rate has been at a relatively high level in the
industry. Taking two-piece can products as an example, the customer satisfaction rate has remained
at above 90% in the past five years.
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2.4.

Management on Advertising, Labeling and Privacy Matters

CPMC abides by the Printing Industry Management Regulations, the Commodity Barcode
Management Measures, the Trademark Law as well as other laws and regulations. We have obtained
a printing business license and a commodity barcode printing qualification certificate, and engage
in printing business activities in strict accordance with the licensed scope. The Company has
formulated the Sales Contract Control Procedures, pursuant to which before accepting entrusted
printing order or signing contracts, we collect the entrusting party’s registered trademark, commodity
barcode and other relevant qualification materials to check against their compliance. At the same
time, we have established the Customer Service Control Procedures and the Control Procedures
Prior to Printing. Before the printed matters go to print, we verify and check the entrusting
party’s registered trademark, commodity barcode and other qualification materials again. Only
after compliance is confirmed can printing begin. In 2022, there were no product recalls due to
advertising or labeling issues.

The Company has issued the Administrative Measures of CPMC on Confidentiality Work, the CPMC
Confidentiality Management Regulations, the 2022 CPMC Confidentiality Work Key Points and other
systems to comprehensively standardise the Company’s confidentiality management work. We shall
also adjust the confidentiality work committee according to actual situation, clarifying the division of
powers and responsibilities, and further improving the Company’s confidentiality management level.

During the Year, the Company updated the confidentiality clauses in the confidentiality contract
templates and the sales and procurement contract templates according to actual needs, clarifying
the confidentiality responsibility of both parties to the contract. In 2022, CPMC organised a
“confidentiality publicity and education month” activity to enhance the confidentiality awareness of
all employees through promotional videos, promotional posters, thematic courses, and training and
examinations. During the Year, CPMC did not experience any information leakage or violation of
customer privacy.

Responsible Purchase

CPMC has diverse business partners and is committed to building a sustainable supply chain.
During the Year, the Company has revised the Purchasing Management Procedures of CPMC, the
Suppliers Management Procedures of CPMC, the Transportation Management System of CPMC,
the Administrative Measures for Supplier Credit of CPMC and other systems, strictly implementing
responsible purchase and our commitment of establishing win-win cooperation, long-term and
mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers.

Supplier Management

The Company has established a complete supplier management system, covering the whole life
cycle management process of supplier admission, assessment and exit, effectively identifying risks,
and building a competitive and sustainable supplier team. During the Year, 95.3% of suppliers were
in compliance with the Suppliers Management Procedures of CPMC, the Suppliers Management
Procedures of its subsidiaries, the Administrative Measures for Equipment Bidding of CPMC and the
Administrative Measures for Infrastructure Project Bidding of CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.

As of the end of the reporting period, we had a total of 2,656 cooperative suppliers, including
2,632 suppliers from the Mainland China, 6 suppliers from Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau, and 18

suppliers from regions other than the Mainland China, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau.

Number of suppliers in Mainland China by region

Eastern China 1,279
Southern China 545
Central China 124
Northern China 394
The Northwest 13
The Southwest 181
The Northeast 96
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Supplier Admission
MANAGEMENT For suppliers of main raw and ancillary materials, CPMC requires them to undergo business and
DISCUSSION technology passing recognition by the Company. At the same time, suppliers of key materials are

AND ANALYSI . . .
S8 subject to on-site review.

During the Year, we newly added a social responsibility survey for suppliers of key resources,
covering human rights, salary, safety and hygiene, and environmental protection. When reviewing
bidding carriers, in addition to scoring indicators for the carriers’ safety management system and
quality system, we also incorporate indicators for insurance for drivers, stevedores and other
practitioners purchased by the carriers.

Supplier Assessment
CORPORATE . . . . . .
GOVERNANCE Through daily dynamic assessment and on-site reviews from time to time, the Company assesses
REPORT suppliers’ performance in terms of product quality and social responsibility from multiple dimensions

such as supply assurance, business conditions, quality safety and service evaluation. For suppliers
involved in food safety, the quality and safety department conducts irregular flight inspections. If
major substandard problems are found, purchases will be reduced or suspended, and suppliers will
be supervised for rectification.

Incentive and Exit System for Suppliers
The Company implements order incentives, strategic cooperation, order punishment, exclusion
and other incentives and punishment based on the cooperation during its ordinary operations and

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND assessment results. According to the relevant regulations of COFCO Group, suppliers who have

GOVERNANCE breached contracts, cheated, or violated laws and regulations in business transactions such as
REPORT

product trade, production and processing, and have caused economic losses or damage to goodwill
shall be added to the blacklist. In 2022, there were no addition to the supplier blacklist of CPMC.

Electronic Purchase Platform (EPP) Project

CPMC continues to improve the management level of electronic purchase and the efficiency
of self-collected materials by expanding the scope of sourcing, and making the purchase
DIRECTORS AND process more transparent. In 2022, CPMC began to implement the Electronic Purchase
SENIOR Platform (EPP) Project of CPMC. During the Year, the cumulative online purchase amount
L":g‘:f:MENT reached RMBB800 million, and the cost of comparable projects with the same calibre has

been reduced by RMB3 million. At the same time, we introduced more than 240 new
suppliers with the help of the platform to further improve the supply system.

Incorrupt Supply Chain

CPMC actively advocates integrity culture in the supply chain, and has formulated management
systems such as the CPMC Integrity Risk Prevention and Control Manual, creating a supervision
system incorporating self-inspection on the supply chain system, interior examining, and special

EIIE:;;LC;;THE audit of the audit department. We have also established an open and convenient issue feedback
channel, and continue to strengthen the control and supervision over anti-commercial bribery in the
supply chain.

~1tJ For purchasing personnel s" For suppliers
e Conducted the Purchase System e Signed the Sunshine Agreement with
Integrity Practice Examination suppliers
e |[n 2022, a total of more than 120 e A total of 329 “Gift Rejection Notices”
people participated in the supply were issued to centralised purchasing
chain system integrity practice warning suppliers throughout the Year

education conference of CPMC
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ENERGY SAVING AND EMISSION REDUCTION FACILITATING LOW-CARBON
DEVELOPMENT

Adhering to the principle of ecology priority and implementing the green development model, CPMC
is committed to mitigating the environmental impact of its operating activities, so as to create a good
ecological environment and facilitate low-carbon development.

3.1.

Environmental Objectives

CPMC has amended the Administration Regulations of CPMC on Environmental Protection, and
promoted its energy- and water-saving management work to regulate the management of emissions.
During the reporting period, CPMC had no material violations of environmental laws and regulations.

Based on the Construction Plan of Ecological Sustainable Development System of CPMC (2020~
2022), the Company continued to implement the long-term mechanism of the plan to ensure that the
goal of carbon peaking before 2030 would be achieved as scheduled. According to the Company’s
current situation, we have formulated the Carbon Emission Peaking Implementation Plan of CPMC,
which focuses on promoting key projects such as carbon reduction project at the source, elimination
of backward production capacity, energy saving of motor systems, waste heat recovery project,
renewable energy utilisation and informatisation improvement projects, so as to assist the work of
carbon peaking in a productive, orderly and effective manner.

During the Year, the Company invested RMB30.69 million to carry out a total of 36 energy-saving
and environmental protection projects. The progress towards our environmental objectives is shown
in the table below:

Objective Progress updates of 2022

Using 2021 as the base year, promote the
implementation of photovoltaic projects and achieve
a cumulative reduction of 12,000 tons of greenhouse
gases by 2025

Using 2021 as the base year, promote volatile organic
compounds (VOCs) exhaust gas treatment, complete
full coverage of treatment, and reduce VOCs exhaust
gas emissions by 5,000 tons by 2025

In 2022, photovoltaic projects generated
about 6 million kWh of power, achieving
reduction in greenhouse gas emission of
3,700 tons

Reduction in VOCs emissions of 650 tons
in 2022

Using 2021 as the base year, achieve a photovoltaic
installed capacity of 20MW

Newly added photovoltaic installed
capacity of 3.43MW in 2022

Using 2022 as the base year, achieve an improvement

in water utilisation efficiency of 6.4% by 2026 Newly set up objective

In 2023, in terms of wastewater management, the
discharge concentration of wastewater (COD,
ammonia nitrogen) meets or outperforms national and
local standards

Newly set up objective

CPMC shall continuously monitor the progress of the above-mentioned environmental objectives,
regularly review and report the completion of the environmental objectives.
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3.2. Energy and Water Saving

MANAGEMENT CPMC strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations such as the Water Law of the
DISCUSSION People’s Republic of China and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China.
AND ANALYSIS In order to improve the efficiency of resource usage and reduce waste of resources, CPMC has
formulated and released internal regulations such as the Energy and Resource Control Procedures
and the Equipment Maintenance Control Procedures to provide reference and basis for carrying out
energy and water saving work. At the same time, dedicated personnel are assigned to take charge
of the relevant work.

Energy Saving

The Company selects electric equipment that satisfies the power requirements of production
CORPORATE process, and conducts scientific planning of power network lines. According to the requirements
GOVERNANCE of the Company, the foreman is responsible for the lighting control of workshops, who controls and
REPORT adjusts the brightness of workshops according to production needs. Employees must shut down
production equipment in a timely manner to reduce power waste.

The Company requires employees to strictly control the use of natural gas in accordance with the
standard standby time during the production process. In order to reduce the possibility of no-load
consumption of natural gas, we regularly check the gas consumption and maintain the natural
gas pipeline. The Company recycles and utilises the waste heat generated by the operation of the
supporting air compressor equipment, which is used for washing cans by the can washing machine,
S0 as to achieve the purpose of saving natural gas.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE We actively use and promote environmentally friendly processes in all production procedures to help
REPORT

realise green production.

Application of LED-UV printing technology

CPMC has formulated the LED-UV light source and lamp configuration plan based on
material properties, and applied LED-UV printing and milk powder bottom cover LED
curing dry-band light technology to mass production, saving an average of 4 million kWh of
DIRECTORS AND electricity per year.
SENIOR
L":g‘:f:MENT It is expected that in the future, after the technology is promoted and applied at various profit
points of CPMC, it can save more than 50% of electricity, and at the same time achieve zero
emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and ozone, helping the Company realise
the green transformation and upgrading of metal printing.

Application of low-temperature printing and coating process

Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. has launched the low-temperature printing and coating process
application project to promote low-temperature printing and coating process on aluminium
bottles and aluminium aerosol cans, optimising part of the can washing and drying process.
By reducing energy consumption through reducing the demand for gas drying, it can save
150,000 cubic metres of natural gas per year.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

Water Saving

The Company implements measures such as upgrading production processes consuming large
amount of water, water-saving technological transformation, and reuse of reclaimed water, vigorously
promoting recycling and utilisation of recycled water and reclaimed water, and reducing water
consumption in the production process. We regularly inspect water pipes, faucets and other water
facilities, and repair damaged equipment in a timely manner to reduce waste of water resource.
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3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes

In terms of exhaust gas, wastewater and waste discharge management, CPMC complies with all
the relevant laws and regulations of China and operating locations, including the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Noise Pollution Prevention and Control of the People’s Republic of
China, and the National Hazardous Waste List. The Company has formulated internal regulations
such as the Administrative Regulations of CPMC on Environmental Protection, the Administrative
Requirements of CPMC on Safety and Environmental Protection of Hazardous Waste (Trial), the
Environmental Operation and Control Procedures, the Waste Control Procedures, the Exhaust Gas
Control Procedures, the Sewage Control Procedures, and the Waste Management Implementation
Procedures and Rules, clarifying the management responsibilities of relevant posts, and
standardising and guiding emission and waste reduction work.

Reduction of Exhaust Gas and Wastewater

The Company insists on classified management of exhaust gas, and implements differentiated
treatment methods according to the source of exhaust gas to ensure that exhaust gas discharge
meets the standard. For exhaust gas derived from the production process such as cleaning, colour
printing, internal coating and natural gas combustion, we treat it up to standard with regenerative
thermal oxidiser (RTO) facilities to reduce volatile organic compounds (VOCs) therein. CPMC is the
first in the industry to use VOCs rotor concentration + regenerative combustion technology and RTO
facilities for exhaust gas treatment. Currently, there are 16 sets of RTO facilities in normal operation,
and the VOCs treatment rate is over 95%. For exhaust gas generated in laboratories, we use the
wind collecting hood to collect it and discharge it into exhaust gas treatment pipeline, and process it
through exhaust gas treatment equipment.

We treat wastewater up to standard. The sewage generated in the production process is first
discharged to the factory sewage treatment station through pipelines, and then discharged into
municipal sewage pipelines after centralised treatment.

Wuxi company exhaust fume treatment project for rear of drying rooms on coating lines

Wuxi company remodeled the exhaust fume system for the rear of drying rooms on coating
lines, connecting the rear exhaust duct to the combustion chamber in the third zone of the
drying rooms, so that the exhaust from the rear exhaust duct can be used as fresh air in the
combustion chamber for combustion, providing heat for tinplate drying. The transformation
realised the recycling of rear exhaust, reducing the emission of volatile organic compounds
(VOCs) by 3.24 tons per year.

Reduction of Waste
CPMC implements classified management of waste, and cooperates with qualified third parties to
properly dispose of non-hazardous and hazardous waste.
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Classified treatment for waste

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS Non-hazardous waste Hazardous waste

e Non-metallic materials and other non- e Waste mineral oil, waste paint, waste
hazardous waste _ fluorescent tubes, waste drums, etc,,
¢ Waste transformed into non-hazardous generated from production process

after treatment

\

Treatment measures

\

Treatment measures

CORPORATE e Non-hazardous waste that can be sold is e Hazardous waste generated during the
GOVERNANCE sold in accordance with the requirements production process is collected by the user
REPORT of the Waste Management Implementation departments, labeled, and placed in a
Procedures and Rules. designated place after taking leak-proof
e For general domestic waste, storage measures, which is then handed over to
boxes are placed in specially designed qualified third parties or suppliers for

domestic waste storage places for harmless and compliant treatment.

centralised storage, which are then
handed over to environmental and hygiene
agencies for disposal.

ENVIRONMENTAL, Panyu company hazardous waste reduction project
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

In 2022, Panyu company reduced 50 tons of waste drums through the following measures:

o Adjusting orders and producing a single product on a dedicated line to realise reuse of
paint ton drums;

o Improving isopropanol and anti-white water packaging drums to realise reuse of solvent
drums;

DIRECTORS AND ° Putting plastic bags in paint drums, and taking out the plastic bags for hazardous

SENIOR waste disposal after carrying water-based paint to realise recycling of water-based
MANAGEMENT paint drums.
PROFILE

In 2022, Panyu company reduced waste liquid and waste rags by a total of 40 tons through

the following measures:

o Formulating replacement frequency of steel knives on the coating lines to solve the
serious problem of material stripping caused by wear and tear on steel knives, thereby
reducing the cleaning and replacement frequency of water scrapers, and saving the

REPORT OF THE amount of rags used;
DIRECTORS

° Covering and sealing the thinner tank of the water scraper system to reduce solvent
volatilisation;

o Putting plastic bags in paint tanks to solve the problem of difficult cleaning of paint
tanks, reducing the consumption of thinner to clean paint tanks.
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Supply Chain Cooperation to Help Reduce Emissions and Waste

CPMC continues to cooperate with upstream and downstream suppliers in purchase, transportation,
material recycling and other procedures, and strives to build a green supply chain to help the
Company reduce emissions and waste.

In the purchase process, the Company gives priority to purchasing green and environmentally
friendly raw and ancillary materials such as coated iron and water-based paint to reduce VOCs
emissions from the source.

In the transportation process, the Company reduces the impact of logistics and transportation on the
environment by changing transportation mode, such as water transport instead of road transport to
reduce energy consumption and pollution, and small vehicles instead of large ones.

In the material recycling and reuse process, we cooperate with suppliers to jointly promote recycling
of scrap materials such as aluminium and steel through equipment upgrades and technological
transformation. In 2022, the Company achieved a direct recycling rate of 40% and an indirect
recycling rate of 60% for scrap steel, and a direct recycling rate of 100% for scrap aluminium.

Management of Packaging Materials

CPMC promotes lightweight products. On the premise of ensuring quality, the Company reduces the
amount of raw materials and consumables used for packaging products through technological R&D
and process optimisation. During the Year, we have conducted in-depth R&D of “Reformer” thinning
technology for aluminium, and achieved a saving of about 0.38% in consumables for two-piece cans
throughout the year, saving a total of more than 500 tons of aluminium materials.

Win-win Supply Chain Cooperation

In addition to reducing material consumption in its own production process, the Company is also
actively seeking cooperation with upstream suppliers to reduce raw material consumption through
material thinning, and expanding the use of coiled materials and corrugated materials.

In terms of recycling of packaging consumables, CPMC replaces disposable wooden packaging
with recyclable plastic packaging to improve the recycling rate of packaging materials and reduce
raw material consumption. During the reporting period, the use of plastic pallets accounted for more
than 73%, the use of plastic lining paper accounted for 75%, and the recycling rate of plastic pallets
and plastic lining paper reached more than 98%.

Green Office

CPMC attaches great importance to the environmental management of the office area, and adopts
a series of energy-saving and emission-reduction measures to realise green office. The Company
installs energy-saving lamps in the office area, assigns dedicated personnel to take charge of
lighting control, and requires employees to turn off the lights upon leaving. We have also posted
signs near water areas and air-conditioning switches to promote the concept of water and electricity
saving to employees.

The sewage generated in the Company’s office area is discharged into the municipal sewage
pipelines after treatment. Hazardous waste generated in the office area is all handed over to the
information management department for harmless treatment. At the same time, we set up domestic
waste storage places in the office area for centralised storage of domestic waste, which is then
handed over to environmental and hygiene agencies for disposal in a unified manner.
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3.6. Response to Climate Change

MANAGEMENT In the face of global climate change, CPMC, as a responsible leader in the packaging industry, has
DISCUSSION initially drafted the CPMC Carbon Emissions Peaking Implementation Plan under the guidance of the
AND ANALYSIS Notice of the State Council on Printing and Distributing the Action Plan for Carbon Peaking by 2030
and the Opinions of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council
on Completely, Accurately and Comprehensively Implementing New Development Concepts and the
Work on Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality, so as to promote low-carbon transformation of the
Company.

Our Actions
The carbon emissions generated during the Company’s operations mainly come from the use of
electricity and natural gas. The deployment of renewable energy is the main way for us to reduce

CORPORATE . . .
greenhouse gas emissions and slow down climate change.

GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Photovoltaic power generation projects

In 2022, the photovoltaic power generation projects of Guangzhou Steel Barrels, Zhenjiang
company and Hangzhou Meite have been completed and put into use.

Among them, Zhenjiang company installed a photovoltaic power generation device on the
roof of lid-making workshop, which consists of about 2,909 photovoltaic modules and covers
ENVIRONMENTAL, an area of 16,000 square metres. It has a total installed capacity of 1.6MW, and can generate

SOCIAL AND power of about 1.76 million kWh per year.
GOVERNANCE

REPORT

The Company has formulated an emergency plan for typhoon and flood prevention, and conducts
regular drills to guide its factories on prevention and early warning work in an orderly and efficient
manner after the release of rainstorm and typhoon forecasts. In the event of flood and typhoon,
emergency and relief efforts shall be carried out in a timely and targeted manner to maximise the
protection of lives and safety of employees and the safety of production facilities.

Environmental Key Performance Indicators
DIRECTORS AND
N KPI Unit 2022 Data
PROFILE Total energy consumption® MWh 664,710.69
Direct energy consumption, including: MWh 327,068.15
Gasoline MWh 839.47
Diesel MWh 841.63
Natural gas MWh 324,924.96
Liquefied petroleum gas MWh 462.09
REPORT OF THE Indirect energy consumption, including: MWh 337,642.54
PIRECTORS Electricity, including: MWh 337,400.04
Purchased electricity MWh 334,278.91
Renewable energy MWh 3,121.13
Purchased heat MWh 242.50
Energy consumption per unit of revenue  MWh/RMB million revenue 64.82
Total water consumption® tonnes 1,927,308.00
Water consumption per unit of revenue  tonnes/RMB million revenue 187.93
Total packaging materials used per unit .
of revenue tonnes/RMB million revenue 1.13
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Notes:
MANAGEMENT
(1)  The comprehensive energy consumption is calculated based on direct and indirect energy consumption DISCUSSION
with reference to the coefficients in the National Standards of the PRC, General Principles for Calculation of AND ANALYSIS
the Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T 2589-2020). During the reporting period, our major energy
consumption was purchased electricity and natural gas.
(2) CPMC'’s water supply resources are from the municipal water supply and there is no issue in sourcing
suitable water.

KPI Unit 2022 Data

Total GHG emissions” (Scope 1 and 2)@ tCO,e 292,311.87
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCOe 66,320.02 CORPORATE
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCOe 225,991.85 GOVEF:;’;’;‘;?

GHG emissions per unit of revenue tCO,e/RMB million revenue 28.50

Total oxynitride emissions tonnes 37.96

Total sulfur dioxide emissions tonnes 6.97

Total soot emissions tonnes 18.19

Total VOC emissions tonnes 25.13

Total volume of hazardous wastes® tonnes 3,178.86

- (4)

To.tal volgme of non-hazardous wastes®, fonnes 55.097.92 ST
including SOCIAL AND
Total volume of domestic wastes and EONERERe

. tonnes 644.93 REPORT
kitchen wastes
Total volume of production wastes tonnes 55,352.99
Volume of hazar r unit of -
olume of hazardous wastes per unit o tonnes/RMB million revenue 0.31
revenue
Volume of non-hazardous wastes per .
. tonnes/RMB million revenue 5.46
unit of revenue
Wastewater tonnes 1,142,844.62
. DIRECTORS AND
Total chemical oxygen demand tonnes 33.83 SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
Notes: PROFILE
(1)  CPMC’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, which are mainly derived from
gasoline, diesel, natural gas, LPG, purchased electricity and steam. GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent. Among them, GHG emissions from electricity are calculated based on “Average
Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of China’s Regional Power Grids in 2011 and 2012” issued by the
NDRC, carbon emissions from steam are calculated according to NDRC'’s “Accounting Methodology and
Reporting Guidelines of Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Trial Implementation)”, and the GHG emissions from
other energies are calculated based on the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories REPORT OF THE
(2019 Edition) issued by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the standard “GB/T DIRECTORS

2589-2020 General Principles of Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption” issued by the
State Administration for Market Regulation and the Standardization Administration of China, and the Sixth
Assessment Report of IPCC.

(2)  Scope 1 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from gasoline, diesel, natural gas and LPG consumed
by Company’s operations. Scope 2 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from the internal
consumption of electricity and heat (purchased or acquired) of the Company.

(3) Hazardous wastes are mainly waste sludge, waste liquid and other hazardous wastes listed in the “National
Hazardous Waste List (2021 Edition)”.

(4) Non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic waste, kitchen waste and general production waste. In
particular, domestic waste and kitchen waste are handled by the environmental protection department;
general production wastes are mainly scrap aluminium, scrap iron, etc., which are mostly disposed of by
means of recycling and reuse.
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4. PEOPLE FIRST AND GROWING TOGETHER

CPMC adheres to the development concept of “talent is the first resource”, and strictly abides by the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Articles of the Chinese Trade Union
and other national laws and regulations. We carry out work in five aspects, namely employee rights, talent
development, smooth communication channels, health and safety, and caring for employees, and grow
together with employees.

4.1. Employee Rights
CPMC respects and protects the legitimate rights and interests of all employees, and has formulated
various internal regulations such as the Recruitment Management Policy of CPMC, the Recruitment
Process for Fresh Graduates, the Administrative Regulations of CPMC for Attendance and Leaves,
and the Performance Administrative Measures of CPMC, which standardise the employee rights
protection work.

Recruitment, Employment and Diversity

The Company has established a sound recruitment and employment mechanism, and actively
carries out recruitment activities through channels such as social recruitment platforms online, talent
exchange fairs, campus publicity, and recommendation by university teachers, strictly selecting
talents. The Company is committed to providing employees with equal employment opportunities,
advocate a diverse and inclusive workplace culture, and oppose all forms of discrimination. We
firmly prohibit the employment of child labour and the use of forced labour, and take strict audit and
preventive measures. Once a violation is found, the Company will immediately deal with the relevant
responsible person seriously according to the severity of case, and report the situation to the labour
and social security administrative department in a timely manner, actively cooperating with the
relevant department in the investigation. During the Year, the Company did not employ any child
labour or use any forced labour.

Remuneration and Benefits

CPMC adheres to the remuneration principle of “remuneration based on responsibility, competence
and performance and with a balance between fairness and sustainability” by formulating a sound
remuneration system and providing employees with competitive salaries.

In terms of employee benefits, we pay social insurance and various commercial insurances (including
accident insurance, supplementary medical insurance and others) for our employees. In terms of
leave, the Company has improved its leave management policy according to its internal and external
conditions by specifying leave entitlements and leave approval procedures, thus safeguarding the
legal and equal leave entitlements for employees.

Performance Management

CPMC has established a complete performance evaluation system. The head of each department
and relevant personnel conduct comprehensive evaluations for employees from multiple dimensions
such as moral quality, performance orientation, and learning and growth by carrying out monthly and
annual performance evaluations. We provide employees with open and fair feedback and appeal
channels to ensure the fairness and objectivity of performance evaluation results.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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4.2. Talent Development

CPMC attaches great importance to the cultivation and construction of a talent team, provides
equal promotion opportunities and abundant training programmes for all employees, and supports
the growth and development of employees. In order to thoroughly implement the strategy
of “strengthening the enterprise with talents”, the Company issued the Guiding Opinions on
Strengthening the Construction of Young Talent Teams during the Year, proposing various training
methods such as job rotation and exchanges, project training, two-way mentoring system for young
talents, and lecture halls for leaders, with a view to providing more possibilities for the development
of young talents.

Promotion Channels

CPMC provides employees with various career development paths, and has established a “dual-
channel” promotion system with the parallel “management channel” and “professional channel”.
Employees can choose according to their wishes and expertise, and they can switch between the
“management channel” and “professional channel”, which provides employees with a broader space
for career development.

“Dual-channel” promotion system

“Dual-channel”
promotion
system

Management

channel

Management Senior
posts
t Middle
Employees .
Junior

Talent Training

CPMC attaches great importance to talent training and actively innovates the employee training
system to help the team develop with high quality. The Company keeps innovating in terms of
training mode by adopting the combination of special training and daily operation management to
cultivate talents with an international view, and establishing a four-level training management system
covering “management headquarters — business divisions — profit points — departments at all levels”.

The Company carries out targeted training programmes for different types of employees according
to their career development stages and job requirements. For new employees, we carry out training
activities such as “906 Workplace Training Camp”, internship base and mentoring plan to help
new employees adapt to work as soon as possible. For senior employees, we have organised the
professional improvement training series of “I Am A Professor” to improve the professional skill
level of employees. For production managers, we have arranged the training programme of “Lean
Academy” to enhance production management capabilities.
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Mentoring plan

CPMC provides a humanised learning and development platform for fresh graduates of
colleges and universities. Each department assigns one-on-one senior teachers to teach
these fresh graduates upon the conclusion of the new employee training.

In 2022, the plastics business division formulated a mentoring plan according to the
Company’s mentoring plan, and formed 43 pairs of mentors and apprentices within the
division to train production technicians and equipment technicians in a targeted manner.

The meeting between mentors and apprentices

“I Am A Professor”

“I Am A Professor” is a professional improvement training series organised by CPMC, which
aims to cultivate professional teams in various functional lines and help the teams reach the
level of consultants. During the Year, we organised and carried out four classes of “I Am A
Professor” training series for benchmarking managers of the Lean Academy.

“I Am A Professor” training series

CPMC Holdings Limited



MANAGEMENT
. D L o . . i DISCUSSION
‘Lean Academy” is a key training programme for CPMC aiming at improving production AND ANALYSIS

management. In 2022, the two-piece can business division carried out 11 classes of two-
piece can production management training, covering lean production tools, awareness of
the role of grassroots supervisors, communication skills, human resource management,
quality management, intelligent manufacturing, financial topics, performance management,
etc. At the same time, the business division carried out 5 classes of electrical professional
training in response to overseas business needs, which were participated by more than 100
trainees. The steel drum horizontal team collaborated with the human resources department
to organise 6 training classes for production management personnel, covering compliance
management, performance management, lean production, quality management, R&D project CORPORATE
management, and three-inspection tools for steel drums. The plastics business division GOVERNANCE
launched a professional skill talent training project, which trained 38 qualified primary bottle- REPORT
blowing technicians through 20 training sessions for bottle-blowing technicians.

4.3. Smooth Communication Channels
CPMC attaches great importance to communication and exchanges with employees. It has
established effective employee communication and grievance mechanisms in accordance with
the Trade Union Law, the Articles of the Chinese Trade Union and other laws and regulations,
and conducts employee satisfaction surveys to fully understand the needs and expectations of
employees.

Employee Communication and Grievance

CPMC encourages employees to speak out and has built multiple communication channels for
employees. The Company regularly conducts employee seminars for new recruits, young employees,
technical backbones, management cadres and other employees at different levels to keep abreast of
the work and life of employees. We hold an annual employee representative meeting to understand
the situation of employees and solicit opinions and suggestions from employees on the Company’s
management systems and measures. In response to the problems reflected in the employee
proposals, the Company formulates solutions and implements rectifications by convening trade
union committee and collective discussions with relevant departments, so as to continuously improve
the internal management level. In addition, the financial revenue and expenditure of the trade union DIRECTORS AND
for the Year has been announced at the annual employee representative meeting, fully protecting MANAGS:A'/VIS?
employees’ rights to know, participate and supervise the financial revenue and expenditure of the PROFILE
trade union.

CPMC has established the Mediation Committee for Labour Disputes as a grievance channel
for employees. When the rights and interests of employees are compromised, they can appeal
through the trade union or the Mediation Committee for Labour Disputes. CPMC was awarded the
Demonstration Enterprise with Safe and Harmonious Labour Relations in Qiantang New District.

Satisfaction Survey REPORT OF THE
The Company pays close attention to talent retention. It summarises and analyses the reasons DIRECTORS
for employee departure according to monthly reports, and understands the overall situation and
pattern of employee turnover each year, so as to provide reference for the Company to improve
management and adjust policies. We rectify the problems found in the analysis in a timely manner,
striving to reduce the turnover rate of employees.

Combining visits and inspections, CPMC conducts satisfaction survey with employees from various
profit points and departments of the Company, focusing on employees’ opinions and expectations
on the Company’s system construction, operating conditions, remuneration and benefits, working
atmosphere, training and cultivation, etc. The survey results are timely fed back to the relevant
departments, who are responsible for the rectification work. In 2022, we have completed a total of 85
individual interviews, consulted 3,579 documents, conducted 1,085 anonymous questionnaires, and
found 51 problems for rectification. The rectification completion rate reached 100%.
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4.4. Health and Safety

CPMC attaches great importance to the health and safety of employees, and has formulated internal
regulations such as the Safe Production Responsibility System, the Safety Management Measures
for Hazardous Operations, the Safety Permission Standards for Hot Works and the Safety Permission
Standards for Working at Heights, so as to standardise the management work of occupational health
and safety.

Management of Hazardous Operations

CPMC has established the Management System for Hazardous Operations covering three
levels, namely the Group, professional companies and grassroots units, in order to regulate the
management of hazardous operations. Making use of data servers, visualisation devices, online
communications devices and video monitoring devices, we have achieved online approval, real-
time supervision and big data monitoring of hazardous operations. In 2022, the Management System
for Hazardous Operations of the Company has been fully promoted to its 24 profit points. Though
the standardised, systematic, structured, and digital monitoring of hazardous operations, we have
effectively contained the problem of “three violations” in hazardous operations, and significantly
improved compliance rate of hazardous operations.

Management System for Hazardous Operations of CPMC

companies and
grassroots units

automatic
signature, etc.

Closed-loop Standard, scientific Tracking and : E“SU{)‘?I? the . Convenient and
process and normative tracing throughout tracEilr?g%f berarous efficient mobile
management process the process operations application
. Strength . Strengthen the . Real-time . Ensure the . Ensure the
monitoring through process monitoring by traceability and convenience and
informatisation management of using on-site APP tracking of timeliness of the
means hazardous videos to realise hazardous systematic
Implement the operations remote, real-time operations hazardous
closed-loop Improve approval and dynamic . Facilitate the operations through
management of the process through management constant the mobile phone
full process of informatisation Address the sore improvement of terminals
hazardous technical means, points of managing hazardous Without the
operations monitor operations hazardous operations limitation of space
Management approval in a operations, such management and time on the
System for dynamic manner as lagged management of
Hazardous Improve on-site management, hazardous
Operations cover approval efficiency insufficient operations,
three levels, through personnel supervision force, improve the
namely the Group, positioning, face and lack of management
professional recognition and supervision effectiveness

Employee Safety Education
CPMC attaches great importance to the safety education of its employees, and adopts a combination
of online and offline methods to continuously strengthen employees’ safety awareness.

The Company has built an online training, education and learning platform for production safety,
covering a three-level organisational structure of “professional companies + business divisions
+ grassroots enterprises”. The online training, education and learning platform is equipped with
abundant learning resources, including the system and standard database, course resource
database and test question database. The courses include four categories and cover ten production
safety-related contents. In 2022, the production safety online training, education and learning
platform has been fully put into operation, and more than 4,600 trainees have been enrolled.
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Four categories of course resources, ten course modules

MANAGEMENT
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CORPORATE
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The Company has further upgraded the safety education and warning experience centre, where
employees are organised to study production safety incidents and cases together. Safety risk maps
have been posted to remind employees of precautions for production safety. At the same time, we

provide employees with offline safety education and training such as first aid, fire rescue, scenario
simulation, etc.
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Safety education and warning experience centre
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Combating the Epidemic
MANAGEMENT During the Covid-19 epidemic, CPMC adopted a series of epidemic prevention measures to
DISCUSSION effectively protect the safety and health of employees and ensure the safety and order of production

AND ANALYSI .
S8 and operation.

The Company conducted full-coverage disinfection of public areas such as living areas and office
areas, while continuing to implement the health reporting mechanism through daily temperature
checks for employees. We also implemented an approval and reporting system for employees
leaving their dormitories, reminded employees of epidemic prevention ahead of holidays, and
asked them to stay home to reduce the risk of infection. Employees were actively mobilised to get
vaccinated, so as to achieve “not one less”. The Company continued to pay attention to policy
CORPORATE changes during normalisation of the epidemic situation, and adjust the epidemic prevention
GOVERNANCE measures in a timely manner.

REPORT
In terms of distribution of anti-epidemic supplies, we distributed them in the form of anti-epidemic
kits, which contained disposable medical surgical masks, KN95 masks, medical alcohol sprays,
alcohol wipes, disinfecting and anti-bacterial hand sanitiser and cotton soft towels, medical PVC
gloves, etc. CPMC distributed a total of 1,349 anti-epidemic kits, totaling RMB316,000. After the
epidemic has entered normalised management, in addition to the above anti-epidemic supplies, we
have also prepared antigen test kits for employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR . . . L. . . .
MANAGEMENT Nucleic acid testing for employees Disinfection in office areas
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4.5. Caring for Employees

CPMC has formulated the CPMC Employee Care System (Temporary), building up a sound MANAGEMENT
welfare system for its employees covering different aspects of work and life to meet their needs in DISCUSSION
various areas, including quality meal, physical exercise, cultural life, etc. We pay full attention to AND ANALYSIS
the demands of employees, and bring out the care for employees in the details, using actions to
increase employees’ happiness.
Employee Benefits
Cultural and
Facility improvement sports activities

Non-motor vehicle sheds . March 8 Women's Day thematic CORPORATE

Gym room activity GOVERNANCE

Yoga room Mid-autumn gathering REPORT

KTV

) . . Basketball games
Mutti-function AV room e Variety of clubs (Yoga Club, Table
Automatic dishwashing Tennis and Badminton Club,
facilty N Trailwalk Club, Fishing Club, etc.)
. Food insulation facility
N H
Caring for employees Employees’ health
¢ Optimise temperature of @ % e Physical examinations for new

workshops comers ENVIRONMENTAL,
. Variety of food at canteen . Annual physical examinations SOCIAL AND
. “Stay Cool in Summer”, GOVERNANCE

a cheer-up activity for employees
. Orientation meetings for new
comers

REPORT

“Packaging Heroine Flowers, Celebrating the 20th National Congress” serial activities for
Goddess Festival

CPMC Trade Union held a series of activities for March 8 Goddess Festival themed
“Packaging Heroine Flowers, Celebrating the 20th National Congress” in the Hangzhou

area. The activities started with “Send Heroines with Brilliant Flowers”, during which 220 DlRECTOzE,:\lgE

female employees were presented with colourful carnations, followed by an interesting DIY MANAGEMENT

coaster activity. The series of activities were aimed at strengthening communication among PROFILE
employees, fully reflecting the Company’s genuine caring for female employees.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS

“Packaging Heroine Flowers, Celebrating the 20th National Congress” serial activities
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“Stay Cool in Summer”, a cheer-up activity for employees

CPMC launched “Stay Cool in Summer”, a cheer-up activity for employees, amid high
temperature, during which frontline employees working in high temperature were offered cool
drinks. We actively prevent employees from suffering heatstroke by cooling them off, so as to
ensure the health of frontline employees and maintain their good working condition.

“Stay Cool in Summer”, a cheer-up activity for employees

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Social Key Performance Indicators
MANAGEMENT
KPI® Unit 2022 Data DISCUSSION
i AND ANALYSIS
Number of full-time employees persons 5,945
By employment type
Other types of employees® persons 156
Male employees persons 3,983
By gender
Female employees persons 1,962
Senior management persons 609
By level Middle management persons 1,469
General employees persons 3,867
Employees under 30 years old persons 1,129 eg\?::ﬁ:jgi
Employees between 30 and 50 REPORT
By age group (including) years old persons 4,228
Employees over 50 years old persons 588
Employees in Northern China persons 1,718
By region Employees in Eastern China persons 2,191
Employees in Southern China persons 2,036
Employee turnover rate® % 17.01
ENVIRONMENTAL,
By gender Turnover rate of male employees % 11.00 SOCIALAND
Turnover rate of female employees % 6.01 GOVERNANCE
REPORT
Turnover rate of employees under o
Yo 9.00
30 years old
Turnover rate of employees between |
By age group 30 and 50 (including) years old % 7.32
Turnover rate of employees over o 0.69
50 years old
Turnover rate qf employees in % 558 O RECTORS AND
Northern China SENIOR
. Turnover rate of employees in R MANAGEMENT
By region Eastern China Yo 5.99 PROFILE
Turnover rate of employees in o
Southern China % 5.43
Notes:
(1)  The statistics of employees based on gender, level, age and region only include full-time employees.
REPORT OF THE
(2)  Other types of employees include interns, short-term dispatch, temporary workers, labour dispatch, etc. DIRECTORS

(3) Employee turnover ratio for each category = number of employees resigned or terminated in that category
during the reporting period/number of full-time employees at the end of the reporting period, the calculation
of which is in line with CPMC’s ESG Report in year 2021.
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KPI Unit 2022 Data
MANAGEMENT Percentage of male employees
DISCUSSION [}
AND ANALYSIS Pertfe.ntage (_’f em?l?yees participated in training % 96.38
participated in training by b . ” | |
gender erc?eh age 9 en".na'e employees % 89.09
participated in training
Pergeptage Qf semgr management % 9573
participated in training
P f | .
erc.e_ntage (.’ em!) ?yees Percentage of middle management
participated in training by . i o % 91.22
level participated in training
Percentage of general employees
- . . % 94.75
CORPORATE participated in training
P IANEE Training hours per
REPORT 9 P hours 21.97
employee
Training hours per Training hours per male employee hours 21.85
employee by gender Training hours per female employee  hours 22.23
Training hours per senior hours 17 44
Training hours per management employee
employee by employee Training hours per middle hours 2510
level management employee
ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND Training hours per general employee hours 21.50
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
KPI Unit Data
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2020 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2021 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2022 persons 0
Number of work days lost due to work-related injuries in 2022  days 342
DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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POVERTY ALLEVIATION TO HELP RURAL REVITALISATION

Giving full play to the regional advantages of its business layout, the Company continues to promote rural
revitalisation of Jueri village, Ganzi County, Sichuan Province through poverty alleviation, contributing
to the modernisation of agriculture and rural areas. During the Year, CPMC Party Committee held two
research and deployment meetings on special rural revitalisation work, and allocated an annual special
fund of RMB3 million according to the Group’s deployment requirements. We actively carried out projects
such as farmers’ skill training, sales assistance, talent training, and employment assistance to help rural
revitalisation, industrial revitalisation, and talent revitalisation, demonstrating the Company’s sense of
social responsibility and mission.

Rural revitalisation

In 2022, the Company organised 32 skill training sessions on vegetable planting, medicinal planting,
horse breeding, accounting, etc., with a total of 78 participants, helping them understand and learn the
latest professional knowledge, and solving their problems in the process of planting vegetables, medicinal
materials, and raising horses. It was aimed to improve the scientific literacy of farmers, thereby effectively
promoting the high-quality development of local agriculture.

Vegetable planting skill training in Jueri village

During the slack season from January to March 2022, we carried out winter and spring vegetable
planting skill training in Jueri village, with a total of 43 participants.

Vegetable planting skill training in Jueri village
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Industrial revitalisation

MANAGEMENT In November 2022, CPMC assisted 3 companies and 5 townships in Ganzi County to present their
DISCUSSION characteristic agricultural products at the 106th China Food & Drinks Fair, directly displaying product
AND ANALYSIS features and charms to consumers. The Company further promoted the business model of “characteristic
planting + e-commerce online sales + tourism supporting facilities” by jointly developing highland barley
solid beverages, black highland barley noodles and other characteristic agricultural products with COFCO
Nutrition and Health Research Institute, and guiding Jueri village to work with local manufacturers of
highland barley product and yak meat product to conduct e-commerce sales through the “832” platform
and “COFCO Womai.COM” platform, so as to integrate advantageous resources and vigorously develop
rural industries.

During the Year, we supported the purchase of poverty alleviation products with a total amount of

CORPORATE RMB629,000.

GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

106th China Food & Drinks Fair

Talent revitalisation
In terms of strengthening the construction of talent team, in 2022, CPMC trained a total of 17 outstanding
young cadres of the “two committees” of village and 2 leaders of rural revitalisation through diversified

DIRECTORS AND L . . . .

SENIOR training and education activities. Deeply promoting employment assistance for college students, the

MANAGEMENT Company has so far encouraged 2 college graduates to return to their hometowns to start businesses.

PROFILE Moreover, CPMC’s regional company in Chengdu provided 13 work-study positions to help cultivate
outstanding local talents with knowledge, culture and ability, assisting rural development.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
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Appendix: ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Issue Description

Mandatory Disclosure

Corresponding Chapter

Governance Structure

A statement from the board containing the following elements:
(1) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(2) the board’'s ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(3) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.

Statement of the Board

Reporting Principles

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following
Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG Report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and
the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder
engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder
engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be
disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes
to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a
meaningful comparison.

About this Report

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are
included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the change.

About this Report
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Issue

Description

A Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions

General
Disclosure

KPI'A1.1

KPI'A1.2

KPI'A1.3

KPI'A1.4

KPI'A1.5

KPI'A1.6

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to exhaust gas and greenhouse

gas emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Description of emissions target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General
Disclosure

KPI'A2.1

KPI'A2.2

KPI A2.3

KPI A2.4

KPI A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.qg.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

CPMC Holdings Limited

Corresponding Chapter
Comply or Explain

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives

3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes
3.5. Green Office

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives

3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes
3.5. Green Office

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.2. Energy and Water Saving

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives

3.2. Energy and Water Saving

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives

3.2. Energy and Water Saving

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators
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Issue Description Corresponding Chapter

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant 3.  Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

Disclosure impact on the environment and natural Facilitating Low-carbon Development
resources. 3.2. Energy and Water Saving

- P . 3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of ; -
activities on the environment and natural gg graeneanggrfr;iecr;t of Packaging Materials
resources and the actions taken to manage ~
them.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Policies on identification and mitigation of 3.  Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

Disclosure  significant climate-related issues which have Facilitating Low-carbon Development
impacted, and those which may impact, the 3.6. Response to Climate Change
issuer.

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

B Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Aspect B1: Employment

General Information on: 4. People First and Growing Together

Disclosure 4.1. Employee Rights
(a) the policies; and 4.2. Talent Development
(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type 4.  People First and Growing Together
(for example, full- or part-time), age group Social Key Performance Indicators
and geographical region.

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group 4.  People First and Growing Together
and geographical region. Social Key Performance Indicators

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Information on: 4. People First and Growing Together

Disclosure 4.4. Health and Safety
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 4.  People First and Growing Together
occurred in each of the past three years Social Key Performance Indicators
including the reporting year.

KPI B2.2 Lost work days due to work injury. 4. People First and Growing Together

Social Key Performance Indicators

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 4.  People First and Growing Together

measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.

4.4. Health and Safety
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Issue

Description

Aspect B3: Development and Training

Corresponding Chapter

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 4.  People First and Growing Together

Disclosure  and skills for discharging duties at work. 4.2. Talent Development
Description of training activities.

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by 4.  People First and Growing Together
gender and employee category (e.g. senior Social Key Performance Indicators
management, middle management).

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per 4.  People First and Growing Together
employee by gender and employee category. Social Key Performance Indicators

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Information on: 4. People First and Growing Together

Disclosure 4.1. Employee Rights
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 4. People First and Growing Together
practices to avoid child and forced labour. 4.1. Employees Rights

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 4.  People First and Growing Together
practices when discovered. 4.1. Employees Rights

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Policies on managing environmental and 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service

Disclosure  social risks of the supply chain. 2.4. Responsible Purchase

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service

2.4. Responsible Purchase

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
suppliers, number of suppliers where the 2.4. Responsible Purchase
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
environmental and social risks along the 2.4. Responsible Purchase
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
environmentally preferable products and 2.4. Responsible Purchase
services when selecting suppliers, and how 3.  Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

they are implemented and monitored.

Facilitating Low-Carbon Development
3.3. Reduction of Emissions and Wastes
3.4. Management of Packaging Materials

CPMC Holdings Limited



Issue

Environmental, Social

Description

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

and Governance Report

Corresponding Chapter

General Information on: 2. Stable Operation and Quality Service
Disclosure 2.1. Ensuring Quality
(a) the policies; and 2.3. Quality Services
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
subject to recalls for safety and health 2.1. Ensuring Quality
reasons.
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
complaints received and how they are dealt 2.3. Quality Services
with.
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
and protecting intellectual property rights. 2.2. Driven by Innovation
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service
recall procedures. 2.1. Ensuring Quality
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 2.  Stable Operation and Quality Service

privacy policies, how they are implemented
and monitored.

2.3. Quality Services

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

KPI B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

KPI B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.

1. ESG Governance
1.2.  Anti-corruption

Community

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General
Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

KPI B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

KPI B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area.

5. Poverty Alleviation to Help Rural
Revitalisation
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

CPMC Holdings Limited

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Xin, aged 60, is an executive Director and the chairman of the
Board. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall management,
major decision-making, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on
23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015, respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice
president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011.
Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC.
He is a senior engineer.

ZHANG Ye, aged 49, is an executive Director and the General Manager.
Mr. Zhang is primary responsible for the daily operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in April 1995, and had served as
sales manager, sales director, general manager of the subsidiaries of the
Company, assistant to the General Manager, deputy General Manager,
etc. He also served as the chief legal consultant of the Group concurrently
during the period from July 2011 to January 2016. He was appointed
as an executive Director and a general manager of the Company on 22
December 2016 and 19 July 2016 respectively and currently serves as
directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years of
experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang obtained an associate
degree in physics from Shanghai Fudan University (/878 B X&) in
1995, and obtained a bachelor degree in business management from the
Continuing Education School of Shanghai Fudan University (_E/&18 B K
X AE Z87) in 1999.



m Mr. Meng received a master degree in electronic magnetics and
microwave technology from Tsinghua University in the PRC in December

Directors and Senior Management Profile

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION

ZHAO Wei, aged 48, is appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 AND ANALYSIS

January 2022. Dr. Zhao joined COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”) in April
2001, and had successively served as staff of the Accounting and
Taxation Division, the Operation and Management Division and assistant
to the general manager of the Operation and Management Division
under the Finance Department of COFCO; director, chief accountant and
general manager of the Finance Department of COFCO Tunhe Sugar Co.,
Ltd. (FRIET A FE SRR D BB A 7], formerly known as COFCO Tunhe Co.,
Ltd. (FIEHEA D BBR A F]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock

Exchange); and the leader of the IT Working Group of COFCO, etc., from Ggs::smgi
April 2001 to April 2021. Dr. Zhao has served as the chief officer of the REPORT
Information Management Department of COFCO since April 2021, and
served as a non-executive director of COFCO Joycome Foods Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1610) since July
2021. Dr. Zhao holds the qualification of Certified Public Accountant in the

Dr. Zhao received a doctorate degree in management from Central

University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2005.
ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
MENG Fanjie, aged 58, is appointed as a non-executive Director on GOVERNANCE

18 January 2022. Mr. Meng had successively served as the general REPORT
manager of Shenyang Xiangxue Flour Co., Ltd., the assistant to the
general manager and then as the deputy general manager of COFCO’s
Wheat Processing Department, the general manager of COFCO’s Project
Management Department, the general manager of COFCO Chengdu
Industrial Park, the deputy general manager of China Grain & Logistics
Corporation, the deputy general manager of COFCO Trading Corporation
and the deputy director of COFCO’s Party-mass Work Department (in

charge of the daily work) from December 2005 to April 2019. Mr. Meng D'RE°T°::£22
had also served as a non-executive director in China Mengniu Dairy MANAGEMENT
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: FREFILE

2319) from June 2019 to December 2021. He is currently served as the
chief officer in the human resources department of COFCO.

1989.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHOU Yuan

SHEN Tao

CPMC Holdings Limited

ZHOU Yuan, aged 36, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 25 February
2016. Mr. Zhou was a vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging,
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director of
Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (“Huang Shan NOVEL"), a listed
company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016. Mr. Zhou
received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with Honours) in the field of
Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia in December
2010.

SHEN Tao, aged 52, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016. Mr. Shen has had over
23 years of senior management experience in the packaging industry
including acting as the general manager of Shanghai Shenjing Steel
Processing Company Limited (/8B Hii# i1 THR A F), the general
manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company Limited (E/§ B R &S
[k~ 7)), the assistant general manager of Shanghai Baosteel Property
Development Company Limited (/8B Ml E X R AR A ), and the
assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal Company Limited (Z i<
BAFRAA]). Mr. Shen joined ORG Packaging in July 2008 and has been
a director of ORG Packaging since October 2010. He worked as the vice
general manager of ORG Packaging from October 2008 to February 2014,
and has been the general manager of ORG Packaging since February
2014 and a director of Huang Shan NOVEL since January 2016. Mr.
Shen received a Master degree in Business Administration from Peking
University in January 2015. He also obtained the qualification of senior
business operator (/=% £ ff) from the Occupational Skill Testing and
Instruction Centre of China* ({F B B E HaeE g8+ L) and State
Senior Business Operator Assessment Committee* (& Bl &= 4 48 4 A 5T 25
% 8) in March 2004.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHENG Yuk Wo

PUN Tit Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 62, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years
of experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has
been the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong since 1999.

Mr. Cheng currently acts as an independent non-executive director
of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely, CSI
Properties Limited, Top Spring International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited,
Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Somerley Capital Holdings Limited,
Kidsland International Holdings Limited and China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited. Mr. Cheng was previously also an independent non-
executive director of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company
Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was also an
independent non-executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited,
Chong Hing Bank Limited, C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. and HKC (Holdings)
Limited, all companies were delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Cheng graduated from the University of Kent, England with a
Bachelor’s degree in Accounting in July 1983 and obtained a Master’s
degree in Accounting and Finance f rom the London School of Economics,
England in August 1984.

PUN Tit Shan, aged 62, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Pun was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2016. He holds a master
of business administration degree (with honour) from the University of
Manchester. Mr. Pun is currently acted as investment director of Teyk Ltd.
(Wellchamp Group) and was head of investment of TC Concord Asset
Management Ltd., the chief executive officer of Asia Wealth Securities
Limited and the chief investment officer of Astrum Capital Management
Limited. He has over 32 years of experience in the finance field, such
as strategic dealing and arbitraging in the derivatives market, sales and
marketing management in the primary and secondary equity market and
sales and assets managing of high net-worth clients and investment
advisory.

Currently, he is the vice-chairman of Institute of Financial Analyst and
Professional Commentator and the Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong
Ningxia Youth Association (%% E B F &) since 2015. Mr. Pun was
previously a board director of Hong Kong Futures Exchange Ltd. (1995~
1999); a board director of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Options Clearing
House Ltd. (1997—-2000); a membership committee member of Hong Kong
Securities Institute (1998-2002); a panel member of Derivatives Market
Consultative Panel (2000-2003); a committee member of Hong Kong
Securities Institute Professional Education Committee (2002-2004); and a
member of Lions Club of Hong Kong Shouson Hill.

Mr. Pun was an independent non-executive director of China New
Economy Fund Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pun
was also an independent non-executive director of Convoy Global
Holdings Limited, which is delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHEN Jihua

CPMC Holdings Limited

CHEN Jihua, aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Chen was appointed as a Director on 2 July 2019. Mr. Chen had served
as the financial director of Red Bull Vitamin Beverages Company Limited
from October 1995 to January 1998, the financial director of Saudi
Arabia ALJ (China) Limited from September 1998 to June 1999; the
vice president and financial director of Jitong Network Communications
Holdings Company Limited from July 1999 to April 2001; the executive
director, vice president and financial director of Aluminum Corporation
of China Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange, from April 2001 to
October 2010; the director of ABC-CA Fund Management Co., Ltd. from
March 2008 to October 2010; the president of Aluminum Corporation of
China Overseas Holdings Limited from May 2009 to October 2010, the
vice president of China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange, from
November 2010 to October 2011, the independent director of Huang
Shan NOVEL Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, from June 2017 to December 2022 and the director of Jiangsu
Wortact Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, from June 2016 to March 2023.

Mr. Chen has also served as the chairman of Beijing Huge Capital
Management Co., Ltd since October 2011; the independent director of
TruValue Asset Management Co., Ltd since July 2014; the independent
director of China Railway Hi-tech Industry Corporation Limited, a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, since January 2017; and the
independent director of Tahoe Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since November 2022.

Mr. Chen received a master degree in accounting from Central University
of Finance and Economic in March 1994. He is also a senior accountant in
the PRC.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

Li Minghua

CHEN Qianzheng

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (FORMER)

LI Minghua, aged 54, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Li was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 17 March 2020 and resigned on 18 January
2022. Mr. Li had served as the general manager of the public relations
department of China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FF BII&fh
Bm#E L O EE)ARAQR]) (currently known as COFCO Corporation) from
August 2000 to April 2006; the deputy director of the strategy department
and the general manager of the brand management department of China
Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (F B2 AR m(EE)BRAF]) (currently known
as COFCO Corporation) from April 2006 to October 2007; the deputy
director of the research and development department and the general
manager of the brand management department of COFCO Corporation
from October 2007 to June 2008; and had served in the Party and mass
discipline inspection and supervision department of COFCO Corporation
from June 2008 to May 2019, and served as the chief officer of the Party
and mass work department (corporate culture department). He has been
the director of the human resources department of COFCO Corporation
since June 2019.

Mr. Li obtained a Master of Arts degree from Renmin University of China
in July 1993 and a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School in September 2009.

CHEN Qianzheng, aged 59, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Chen
was appointed as a non-executive Director on 22 December 2016 and
resigned on 18 January 2022. Mr. Chen had served as a manager,
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager successively at Wuhan COFCO Import and Export Co., Ltd. (&
ERR g H 02 F]), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Foods Import
and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEEHRRELD(EE)ER A A)
(currently known as COFCO Corporation), from Feb 1987 to May 2006.
From May 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Chen worked at China Foods (Group)
Co., Ltd. (FEEHER(EE)ER2AF]) (currently known as COFCO
Corporation) as a general manager of its meat department. He was the
deputy general manager and also serves as the general manager of the
marking department, the general manager of the trading department and
the deputy general manager of cold chain logistics department of COFCO
Meat Investment Company Limited (F 12 AR & B R /A F]) successively
from July 2008 to November 2016. Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree
from Huazhong Agricultural University (224 22 K2 in July 1985, and
was accredited as a Senior International Business Engineer in May 2002.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2022. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 8 to 17 of this annual report.

Further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set

out in the “Chairman’s Letter”, “General Manager’s Report”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes
to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the Group’s financial position as of that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 208 to 317 of this annual report. The Directors recommended
the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.098 (equivalent to HK11.0 cents) per ordinary Share (2021 final
dividend: RMB0.095 (equivalent to HK11.5 cents)) for the year ended 31 December 2022. An interim dividend
of RMBO0.120 (equivalent to HK13.9 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 26 September 2022 (2021 interim
dividend: RMBO0.112 (equivalent to HK13.5 cents)).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 will be distributed on or after Monday, 26
June 2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Wednesday,
7 June 2023 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore
Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management” ((E8A B INEM AR B 1R K IE BIR S IR HIE
EEETABERMCEAR BB ENMA)) (the “Notice”) which was issued by the State Administration of Taxation
(the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January 2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese
enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident enterprises with
de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises” (3ERERFEMER
%), if all of the following criteria are present or effected in the PRC: (1) senior management in charge of daily
operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments regarding financial management and
human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or
board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily
reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident
enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of
Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from 1
January 2013. Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for the
proposed year 2022 final dividend.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules of the laws of PRC, the
Company is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2022 final
dividend to its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees
Limited, corporate nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organisations, which are all considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute
the proposed year 2022 final dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not
withhold and pay the income tax in respect of the proposed year 2022 final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the PRC’s Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register
of members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
documents from its governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay
enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 1 June
2023.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
Company’s register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees.
The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders
strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The
Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or
inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 318 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year are
set out in note 14 to the audited financial statements.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately
RMB117,749,000 (2021: approximately RMB117,506,000), of which approximately RMB109,115,000 (2021:
approximately RMB105,775,000) has been proposed as a final dividend for the Year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 13.5% and 43.0%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 20.8% and 46.4%, respectively,
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LI Minghua (resigned on 18 January 2022)

Mr. CHEN Qianzheng (resigned on 18 January 2022)
Dr. ZHAO Wei (appointed on 18 January 2022)

Mr. MENG Fanijie (appointed on 18 January 2022)
Mr. ZHOU Yuan

Mr. SHEN Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. PUN Tit Shan

Mr. CHEN Jihua

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles, Messrs. Zhang Xin, Zhang Ye and Cheng Yuk Wo will retire and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Gu Xiao Lei*
Huang Jin*
Wang Jiliang
Ji Lifang

Qu Hongliang
Mo Baohong
Qian Rong
Song Yinghui
Zhu Weigui
Chen Heging
Li Qinggong
Ye Xiaojing*
Wang Lei*
Wang Xiaoju
Xu Wen

Yin Xiaoyu
Zhang Shoujun
Li Gonghai

Li Yuli

Huang Supu
Li Qi

Li Junyan
Zhuang Huimin

*

He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 80 to 85 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS
No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the

Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market conditions,

Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2022

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

91



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

92

As at 31 December 2022, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Approximate

Number of percentage

underlying shares of interests

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interests held in long position (Note 1)
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 14,560,000 1.31%
Mr. Zhang Ye Beneficial owner 9,366,000 0.84%

Note:

(1)  The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022, i.e.,
1,113,423,000 Shares.

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage of
aggregate interests
in issued
share capital of
Capacity/ Number of the Company
Substantial shareholders and other persons  Notes Nature of Interests Shares held (Note 6)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited (1 Beneficial owner 330,658,800 29.70%
(“China Foods (Holdings)”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") (1) &(2)  Interests of controlled 330,658,800 29.70%
corporations
COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) (1) &(4)  Interests of controlled 330,658,800 29.70%
corporations
ORG Technology Co. Ltd. (“ORG Technology”) (1) &(3)  Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
corporations
Shanghai Yuanlong Investment Holdings (1)&(3)  Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
(Group) Company Limited corporations
(BEREFEERAF) (“Shanghai Yuanlong”)
Mr. Zhou Yunijie (1)&(3) Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
corporations
Zhang Wei (1) Beneficial owner 233,380,000 20.96%
(1)&(5)  Interest of corporation 11,900,000 1.07%

controlled by you

CPMC Holdings Limited



(1) Long position in the shares of the Company.

(2) China Foods (Holdings) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 330,658,800 Shares held by China Foods (Holdings). COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by COFCO (HK)
and China Foods (Holdings).

(3) ORG Development Limited and Hubei ORG Tinplate Printing & Can Making Co., Ltd. (“Hubei ORG”) hold 269,341,200
Shares and 2,326,000 Shares respectively. ORG Development Limited is wholly owned by ORG International Holdings
Limited. ORG International Holdings Limited and Hubei ORG are wholly-owned by ORG Technology. ORG Technology
is owned as to approximately 33.06% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately 0.68% byt = —+— " BEEHR
7y A)which in turn are owned as to approximately 78.00% and 80.00% respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunijie. Therefore, Mr.
Zhou Yunijie, Shanghai Yuanlong and ORG Technology are deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ORG
Development Limited and Hubei ORG.

(4) COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

(5)  Yuanging Investment Limited hold 11,900,000 Shares. Yuanging Investment Limited is owned as to approximately
80.00% by Mr. Zhang Wei. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Wei is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Yuanging
Investment Limited.

(6) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2022,
i.e., 1,113,423,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors, from 19 October 2021 to the date of this annual report, the Company’s public float was below 25%,
the minimum prescribed percentage (“Minimum Prescribed Percentage”) as required in Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules. To the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the annual report, the Company’s public float
was approximately 21.72%.

While the drop of the Company’s public float was beyond the Company’s control, it will take appropriate steps to
ensure the restoration of the Minimum Prescribed Percentage to public hands as soon as possible.

For more details of the insufficiency of public float, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
January 2022, 21 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 22 June 2022, 22 July 2022, 22 August 2022, 22 September 2022,
24 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 29 December 2022, 30 January 2023, 28 February 2023 and 30 March
2023.
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The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which were
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions are as
follows:

1. 2019 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance

On 7 November 2019, the Company, CPMC Investment and COFCO Finance entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2019 Financial Services Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO Finance shall
provide (i) the Deposit Services; (ii) the Loan Services; (iii) the Entrustment Loan Services, and (iv) the
Other Financial Services to the Group. Details of the 2019 Financial Services Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2019, and the circular of the Company dated 27
November 2019. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 23 December 2019.

Pursuant to the 2019 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group
the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 23 December 2019, the date on
which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:

(a) Deposit services
The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual
cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b)  Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other services
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including
settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be
provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2019 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO
Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million. The above entrustment
loan services and the other financial services were subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the period from 1 January 2022 to 22 December 2022, the maximum daily deposit amount (including
accrued interests) amounted to RMB892,419,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment
loan services and the other financial services between the Group and COFCO Finance under the 2019
Financial Services Agreement.

2. 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement
On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply Products
and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of same or similar
products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021. The
2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject
to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of
the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 October 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 December 2020.

CPMC Holdings Limited



The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied
to COFCO Group in 2022 and 2023 are expected not to exceed RMB600,000,000 and RMB700,000,000
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group under the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement was approximately
RMB563,951,000.

2020 COFCO IT Agreement

On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 IT Services Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates other
than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group, supply
IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective annual caps
for a period commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023 (the “IT Products and
Services”). The 2020 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to
obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the
2020 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2020.

Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products and
Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2022 to 2023 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software
and IT facilities is RMB1,500,000 and RMB1,500,000 respectively; (ii) the supply of IT services and market
consulting services is RMB5,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000
and RMB4,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software
and IT facilities; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing under 2020
COFCO IT Agreement were RMB268,000, RMB 1,000,000 and RMB1,506,000, respectively.

2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2020 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement”) with ORG Packaging in respect of the renewal of the 2017 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, (i) the Group has
agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the Group printed tinplates,
printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging materials, and (ii)
ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed to purchase from ORG Group
tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production services of such packaging materials,
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. Details of the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2020 and the circular of the
Company dated 17 November 2020. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 14 December 2020.

Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect of
(i) the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of
such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group from 2022 to 2023 are RMB350,000,000 and
RMB450,000,000; (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production
services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group from 2022 to 2023 are RMB270,000,000
and RMB350,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the sale of printed tinplates,
printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging materials by the
Group to ORG Group; and (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can
production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group under 2020 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement were RMB21,744,000 and RMB33,088,000 respectively.
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2022 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance

On 31 October 2022, the Company, CPMC Investment and COFCO Finance entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2022 Financial Services Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO Finance shall
provide (i) the Deposit Services; (ii) the Loan Services, (iii) the Entrustment Loan Services, and (iv) the
Other Financial Services to the Group. Details of the 2022 Financial Services Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 15
December 2022. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 30 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2022 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group
the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 30 December 2022, the date on
which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:

(a) Deposit services
The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual
cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b)  Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other services
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including
settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be
provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2022 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO
Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million. The above entrustment
loan services and the other financial services were subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the period from 30 December 2022 to 31 December 2022, the maximum daily deposit amount
(including accrued interests) amounted to RMB890,000,000 and there was no transaction of the
entrustment loan services and the other financial services between the Group and COFCO Finance under
the 2022 Financial Services Agreement.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 5 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1.

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report include connected transactions
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions disclosed above, the Directors consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest ~ Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products  As a vice chairman ~ November 2010
As a director October 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products  As a general manager February 2014
As a director October 2010
Note:

ORG Technology is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial Shareholder,
holding approximately 24.40% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG Technology is principally engaged in
the comprehensive packaging services including packaging design, packaging production, filling and brand design and
promotion. For further details of ORG Technology in respect of its business and financial position, please refer to its annual
report dated 23 April 2022, which is available at https://www.orgtech.cn/uploadfile/2022/0523/20220523103512185.pdf.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG Technology, and Mr. Shen Tao is the
general manager and a director of ORG Technology, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their
duty to avoid conflict of interest. In cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen
Tao will refrain from taking part in the decision making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution in board meeting. On this basis and given that ORG Technology has its own management personnel
other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao, the Directors believe that the Company is capable of carrying out
its business independently of, and at arm’s length from ORG Technology.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.
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Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the corresponding costs,
charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them. Pursuant to Article 171
of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) sustained or
incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC in its business operation, including but not
limited to the laws and regulations in relation to product safety, printing business, foreign investment, labour and
insurance, taxation, foreign exchange and environmental protection, specifically, Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Regulation of the People’s Republic of China on the Administration of Production
License for Industrial Products, Measures for the Administration of Operating Licenses for Hazardous
Chemicals, Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation for Implementing the Foreign
Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations
of the People’s Republic of China on the Management of Foreign Exchanges, Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not breach any law and regulation that has a
significant impact on the Group.

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective
measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this report.
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The Directors recognise that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the

customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings
to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The 2023 AGM will be held on Monday, 29 May 2023.

For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2023
Closure of Register of members 23 May to 29 May 2023

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 29 May 2023

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 1 June 2023
Closure of Register of members 2 June to 7 June 2023

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 7 June 2023

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2023 AGM, Shareholders should contact the
Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 M % BRI R
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To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 208 to 317, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matters (continued)

REEZEHE(E)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEREREERE TRBMRELRUNARABRER
Gooawill impairment

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, Impairment of Assets, the Group
is required to test the amount of goodwill
for impairment annually. The net carrying
amount of goodwill of RMB233,973,000 as
of 31 December 2022 was material to the
consolidated financial statements.

RIEBBGTEIEIRIEERE] 0 EHHE
BESFETHERESRE - BER2022F
12A31A REAKR233,973,0007T 2 BREDF
EfFAMEHREAME DEBERX -

In addition, management’s assessment on
the impairment was complex and highly
judgmental and was based on assumptions,
specifically budgeted gross margins, discount
rates and revenue and long-term growth
rates, which were affected by expected future
market or economic conditions.

o BEERERREGEREFRAEMA SR
BEHE - WAZBERR/RELE  LERXE
BHIREMRSEBERR T E L FREENE
BEIR KRR AROKBIERE -

Relevant disclosures are included in Note

3 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MHEARBERN A M ERRME3R16 -

We understood and tested the processes and key
controls of the Group over the assessment on the goodwill
impairment;

RAZBENE T AR AR
FRSEIE B 56 -

BREETHEREN GO REM

We obtained the relevant cash-generating units’ cash flow
forecasts prepared by management for goodwill impairment
and evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
identification of cash-generating unit and the allocation of
assets to each cash-generating unit in the preparation of its
cash flow forecasts and whether these were prepared in a
manner consistent with the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

AZBMEESEEESRBRERNMERNEBRSE
FEMNRSRERA  UHREEEERRRCAENERE
ABHRSEEEUNRRIMNESERSELEMNNEED
FE@EE N - WRERIRERITEER - T ARE

We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts by comparing the current year’s actual cash
flows with the prior year’s cash flow forecasts and
evaluated management’s estimation and challenged the
appropriateness of key assumptions (such as budgeted
gross margins, discount rates and revenue and long-term
growth rates) adopted in the value-in-use calculations by:

AZEMERABLBAFERRERER LFRERERN
AP E IR B TROR AV L MR - 3 SHE B EBERT BAT AR
AR RR(MBEEENE - BRXRPATKERRE)W
EEMRL TER - AT

° Comparing the budgeted gross margins with the
Group’s past performance, taking into consideration of
market trends;

e HEEEMNXHS
BH5iBE

BEREBENRTETHL A=
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter
HEREREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBANBLSNARREARER

Gooawill impairment (Continued)

BEBIE ()

° Engaging our internal valuation specialist to assess
the discount rates by considering weighted average
cost of capital for the individual cash-generating unit
and comparable companies in the open market, as
well as considering territory specific factors, such
as risk free interest rate and debt ratio prevailing in
relevant market; and

o EERMANABEETR ABEZRERNRSELE
fir 2 BT b A A L8R 20 9 DO T 49 5 A AR I
R AR A E AR TS R ) B AR
SRR L) R E R

° Comparing the revenue and long-term growth rates
used in the five-year forecast period with the approved
budget and market development of the relevant
business and industry.

o HEFIEAHDAAHWRARKERRKREBEZER
B RARBEBMITENTSBEETHLL

We evaluated management’s assessment of the sensitivity
of the Group’s impairment model against reasonably
possible changes around the key assumptions.

ARBACTHEEES REENEELEIERRNE
9 A A 2 B ) B L B 3T A

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements regarding
goodwill impairment assessment.

A BEXRERGEMBRRDEEHERETH
MEERERRE
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Key Audit Matter
HEREXEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBARELRNARRARER

Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

KEEFERIAE 5 W 6E

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers amounting to RMB2,557,980,000
(net of allowance of RMB3,535,000), which
represented approximately 18.2% of total
assets of the Group.

R2022F 128318 BEBRKERFPAY
ME S ER A ARE?2 557,980,0007T (FABR
B AR ®3,535,0000T) ' 1 BEEBEBEE
#918.2% °

As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of
the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers based on provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering internal credit
ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information.

HINsra M EMRM 20 5KEE - BEEHE
BEBEEREHEBANRGEEFA - 48
BRE TP AEMNNE S RUGRHRE - B
BRSBBRRE - RRBESERELUE
B R R 2 HEUGRE D TS BHE B
- AR RKEREFPANNE S EEOHEH
BHEEBR(RBBEEEBRD - AitEBEREX
DREBABRFHRANEL CBERENEMS
it WEAATIE L BRI BEE -

Our audit procedures included the assessment of the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the
Group’s key internal controls which govern credit control,
debt collection and estimates of expected credit losses.

AZBENEZREF BRMAERECEEE - EFREEMA
AEHMEERR EREMBERADEHNRT  BER
SBIERR

We also understood and evaluated the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model adopted
by the management, including the basis of the groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss pattern and
assessed whether trade receivables were appropriately
categorised in the ageing report by comparing a sample of
individual items with the underlying goods delivery notes,
sales invoices and other relevant underlying documentation.

AZBEITE TREHEEREENBREEBERIGAE
AnER2HERR  ERAARUBERANZ AT, D
AR M ERE - ARCRB L EERH B MR EEEE M
REE  HERRNMEMAREXN - HEESREFESHE
FREERETHZEDHE
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter
HEREREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBANBLSNARREARER

Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Continued)

KEEPEAHIESEW T BE (&)

The loss allowance amount of the trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future
credit losses.

KEEFPANMEZREFNERRESRIR
FREEMEREELGTRERERENRE
(REBEMAREEBR BHEZRTE

We identified the impairment assessment
of trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers as a key audit matter due to
the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL
of the Group’s trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers at the end of the
reporting period.

HRREEPANNESREZYE HEREN
SEMBRAAMEBEAN - Bt EEER
BEHRRNREFPANNE ZRE TR
EEERSRTBHEMERE MGG - AR
BM B RIR B B P A #H S 5 8 WK e (B AT (4
R—RBREZEER

[

We also assessed the reasonableness of management'’s
expected credit loss allowances by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements
and estimates, including checking the accuracy of the
historical default information, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based
on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information.

A% BRI 7T 5 ORI B 38 [ R DATEZ A AR R 1 B M b ET Y B KL
(BRZEBERNEHNNERLE FHEEEEEIER
B AT IR R BTE 1E B R AGE V) 8 B) R B E TR
EEBERBENAIENE -

We also reviewed the Group’s subsequent collection of the
trade receivables.
AZBETEE SREBRWEESREKNER

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements regarding

impairment assessment of trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers.

Az EXRERGEMBERRABEFANELD
B RUGREREFENRBEEERR

Annual Report 2022 FEHE

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT

B ZBAERE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF PROFIT
ORLOSS
FEBEER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

e EEREX

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FEEFBRAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
HAEREER

203



INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT
BB S

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF PROFIT

OR LOSS

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
FeEEEKER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
RaMBRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
REEREDHR

204

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ENHRE

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and the Audit
Committee for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
Chan Sai Ho
Practising Certificate Number PO7705
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

HZE2022F12A31HIEFE (AARKETIR)
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE ARBT T ARBFT
Revenue LON 5 10,255,225 9,566,382
Cost of sales SHE AR 8(a) (8,973,085) (8,236,171)
Gross profit EF 1,282,140 1,330,211
Other income, gains and losses Eabug A - Was K EE 6 224,853 142,245
Selling and marketing expenses & N & & H (393,955) (409,853)
Administrative expenses THER (431,206) (431,922)
Finance costs B8 R 7 (87,717) (65,590)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ JE/H & & ¥EELE 1,978 1,568
Profit before income tax B BT 18 84 A1 F) 8 8 596,093 566,659
Income tax expense Fris i 2 11 (111,415) (93,200)
Profit for the year FEERHE 484,678 473,459
Attributable to: PE4S :
Equity holders of the Company RRRRAFER A 486,512 462,498
Non-controlling interests =R T (1,834) 10,961
484,678 473,459
Earnings per share attributable ZARQTZBERBRERFEEA
to ordinary equity holders of EEERAT
the Company 13
Basic (RMB) ER(ARET) 0.437 0.415
Diluted (RMB) e (AR%T) 0.437 0.415

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mEEHWERE

(Expressed in Renminbi) For the year ended 31 December 2022
AARMFIR) HE20226F12 A1 AL FE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Profit for the year FEFE 484,678 473,459
Other comprehensive (expense)/ H2mE@E%)/ Wi
income
Item that may be reclassified to profitor WA EEIEI A E#H =
loss in subsequent periods: Bz oIHE -
— Exchange differences arising on - BEBINEBR ZER R
translation of foreign operations (€::35i8 3% )
(with nil tax effect) (344,029) 80,180
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FEHMZEESR)/ W&
income for the year, net of tax (B HBREIE) (344,029) 80,180
Total comprehensive income for FELXERRERE
the year 140,649 553,639
Attributable to: G -
Equity holders of the Company RRAGRAEFER A 140,432 549,508
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 217 4,131
140,649 553,639

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B REAR R TR e

As at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE ARBT T AR¥ETF T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB k& 14 5,730,086 5,300,403
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE 15 420,458 386,298
Goodwill BES 16 233,973 233,973
Other intangible assets HtEpEE 17 20,270 22,317
Interests in joint ventures REeEEhtEZER 18 20,917 14,259
Deposits for purchase of items of  BEE Y% - BE & &E
property, plant and equipment HE®ZE 189,129 193,492
Prepayments SCENE 21 44,299 38,795
Deferred tax assets FRIETR I E E 28 24,811 35,558
Total non-current assets BERDEE 6,683,943 6,225,095
Current assets REEE
Inventories s 19 1,770,419 1,903,650
Trade and bills receivables B W & FE W E R 20 2,738,201 2,488,620
Prepayments, other receivables  FEfTE « E b FEU R K
and other assets Hin&E 21 386,109 415,379
Tax recoverable B qEb 24 5,448
Pledged deposits and restricted B IXIFFR LB R
deposit 73R 22 115,743 36,327
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReFEY 22 2,380,067 1,917,295
Total current assets BRBEE 7,390,563 6,766,719
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 R E A E R 23 2,422,478 2,323,753
Other payables and accruals HEM B R ERTIEE 24 504,894 467,956
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 12,002 13,510
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t 2 R1TRE R 27 3,824,249 2,071,145
Tax payable FE T IR 64,770 15,543
Total current liabilities BRBEE 6,828,393 4,891,907
Net current assets MEEEFRE 562,170 1,874,812
Total assets less current BEERRBEE
liabilities 7,246,113 8,099,907

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in Renminbi) As at 31 December 2022 ﬁéﬂjﬁﬂﬁfﬂ%

(AARHFIT)

20224 12H31H

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat AR¥F T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Government grants BT R 13,604 14,485
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BRTTER 27 1,387,199 2,143,137
Lease liabilities HERE 25 64,852 62,376
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEE 28 52,056 60,870
Total non-current liabilities HWERBERE 1,517,711 2,280,868
Net assets BEE 5,728,402 5,819,039
Equity E=
Equity attributable to equity ERARREFEA
holders of the Company LR
Share capital [N 29 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves i 30 2,648,311 2,747,265
5,378,744 5,477,698
Non-controlling interests FERER 349,658 341,341
Total equity iR 5,728,402 5,819,039

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’'S
REPORT
BRI

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF PROFIT

OR LOSS

fRAEEK

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

21 March 2023.

HEEER2023F321 B &EREKE
FzE -

Zhang Xin
WA
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Zhang Ye
R EE
Director

EF

MERBRZSFRAM WK
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBE R o

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

INDEPENDENT Aiﬂﬂmiﬁﬁkﬂﬁ{ﬁ
AUDITOR'S
REPORT Share-
BB RE based Exchange Non-
Share  payment Capital ~ Statutory fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
HRA
Bl EX

Bx BE EABRE  LERE  RBRE  2RAR Rit FEREE 4R
Nefe  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO
M ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

As at 1 January 2021 R0 E1518 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 561,668 (211032) 1847128 5217680 285283 5,502,963
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 462,498 462,4% 10961 473,459
OF PROFIT Other compretensive income/ ~ EEA#2EUZ/
;2;;; (exvense) for the year: (%)
e Exchange differences RERNEREL
on translation of foreign EizE
operations - - - - 87,010 - 87,010 (6,830) 80,180
Total comprehensive income ~ £E 2 ANEAE
for the year - - - - 87,010 462,498 549,508 4131 563,639
Capital contribution fromnon- £ RIEREER
CONSOLIDATED controlling shareholders BA - - - - - - - 51927 51927
STATEMENT OF 2020 final and special BEENERER
COMPREHENSIVE dividends declared Rk - - - - - (184787)  (164787) - (164787)
S s 2021 inerim dividend A1E RS 2 - - - - S (T8 (124709) - (124709
o Appropriation o the statutory  AREEFHE
reserve - - - 83,287 - (83,287) - - -
As at 31 December 2021 H2021512A31R 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 644,905° (124,022 1936849 5,477,698 341341 5819039
As at 1 January 2022 H202E151R 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 644,955 (124,022 1,936,849* 5,477,698 341,341 5,819,039
Profitloss) for the year FEFE/(FR) - - - - - 486512 486512 (1834) 484,678
Other comprehensive FERMZEET)
CONSOLIDATED (expense)/income Wi -
STATEMENT for the year:
OF FINANCIAL Exchange differences hEENEREL
POSITION . . v
PR on translation of foreign EizE
operations - - - - (346,080) - (6080 2051 (344029)
Total comprehensive FE2EED)/ ba
(expense)fincome k]
for the year - - - - (346,080) 486,512 140,432 217 140,649

Capital contribution fromnon- ~ FEETRIERAER

controlling shareholders & - - - - - - - 8,100 8,100
CONSOLIDATED 2021 final dividend declared ~ BEJR01ERAKE 12 - - - - - (105775  (105,775) - (105,775)
STATEMENT OF 2022 interim dividend 005 HERE 12 - - - - - (183611)  (133611) - (183611
CHANGES IN Appropriation to the statutory ~ S EZEEF R
EQUITY _ _ _ _ - _ _
e 18Se1Ve 71,224 (71,224)
Asat3i December 2022 HOI2E12B31R 7048 IBTH 20700 TIBNS' (MO0 2751 BABTM M9EH 5728402
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEMERE B EEBMR TS
RMB2,648,311,000 (2021: RMB2,747,265,000) in the consolidated MR A FiEARK2,648,311,0007T
statement of financial position. (20214 : ARM2,747,265,0007T) °
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated MR SmRAe M BmERN—2o o

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
s R HERE R

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 e rATeMENT OF
frat AR¥TR ARBFT CASH FLOWS
Cash flows from operating RETHELECZRERE S
activities
Profit before income tax BRFTSBLRT A 596,093 566,659
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs B8 A 7 87,717 65,590
Interest income FEWA 6 (30,703) (25,872)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEKE
plant and equipment B 6 6,744 18,148
Write-off of other intangible WHEMETEE ngTSZSLLOAI:;
assets 8(c) - 1,540 EINANCIAL
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE KB AR 6 (60,128) - STATEMENTS
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEERERE (1,978) (1,568) FAMBEEIE
Committed dividend income RE—RAGELEN
from a former joint venture AR DI 6 (68,643) (119,000)
Depreciation of property, plant Mm% BEREBETE
and equipment 8(c) 434,044 411,273
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE
assets 8(c) 26,280 23,947
Amortisation of other intangible HithmyEESH :IIIII/EI-\JY(EIQT
assets 8(c) 3,182 4,414 SUMMARY
Impairment loss recognised/ B S REWG - BRF K REUHER
(reversed) of trade HipBERESE
receivables, prepayments and R/ (#mE)
other assets, net FER 8(c) 3,545 7)
Amortisation of government B0/ 6 B 8 8
grants (1,210) (1,245)
Foreign exchange differences, BE X E R
net 15,959 (10,830)
Operating profit before changes in SEECEYRI 8L
working capital FE 1,010,902 933,049
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERD/(Em) 133,231 (656,138)
Increase in trade and bills B oY R EREE
receivables 0 (250,873) (335,053)
Decrease/(increase) in BAR - EtRUBER R
prepayments, other HipEEm D,/ ()
receivables and other assets 41,575 (80,811)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged EEAERRBREER
deposits and restricted deposit Ggm),/wd (50,202) 61,080
Increase in trade and bills BORNFRENRE
payables 12 98,725 873,905
Increase in other payables and Hib 5 R EFTIE B
accruals 12 63,767 20,047
Cash generated from operations REELECRS 1,047,125 816,079
Interest paid BEAFE (97,831) (71,080)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BAHREIREMREH (54,744) (92,772)
Net cash generated from RETHELECRSFE
operating activities 894,550 652,227
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ﬁéfﬁﬁjﬁ%% For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

HZE2022F 12831 ILFE

AARMZIT)

CONSOLIDATED 2022 2021
e TATEMENT OF Note RMB’000 RMB'000
CASH FLOWS HizE AR¥TR ARETFT
e Cash flows from investing REZHEEZEERE
activities
Interest received BUFE 30,703 25,872
Committed dividends received Bl —RAIcetEL
from a former joint venture BN 68,643 119,000
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME  WFERE
equipment (714,696) (5283,432)
Deposits paid for purchase of IRNEENE  BER
property, plant and equipment HENED (191,865) (134,041)
Proceeds from disposal of ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%&?& 5010 051
NOTES TO THE property, plant and equipment 5B , 54
CONSOLIDATED Addition to prepayments, other FARRR - E AU
FINANCIAL receivables and other assets HipEELMN (16,297) (8,881)
STATEMENTS Additions to leasehold lands MELmEm (48,388) (2,631)
DN Additions to other intangible assets H & AL N (1,084) (4,896)
Investments in joint ventures RELEREIRE (4,680) (4,320)
Deposits paid for other ERNEMIEREEEN
non-current assets e ) (2,400) -
Deposits refunded for other WEIEMIEREEER
non-current assets e 1,680 -
Net inflow of cash and cash HE—RMHE AT
equivalents in respect of the e RAREEY
disposal of a subsidiary MAEEE 32 67,679 -
FIVE-YEAR Receipt of government grants for BUE - HE REERER
FINANCIAL property, plant and equipment ) BUIT 46 86 - 13,720
SUMMARY Net cash used in investing REFBHEAZESFE
nAEMBRE activities (807,463) (510,068)
Cash flows from financing METHELEZRESRE
activities
New bank loans raised HEERRITER 33 1,383,415 1,061,063
Repayments of bank loans Tﬁ%@fﬁﬁgm 33 (784,109) (968,488)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAE 33 (15,017) (14,519)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBBEEHFS 33 (1,966) (2,000)
Dividends paid ERRE (239,386) (289.490)
Capital contributions from non- FERERAEREZA
controlling shareholders 8,100 51,927
Loan advanced from a non- B8 A B IR AR AR SR A
controlling shareholder of a ERBf
subsidiary 33 64,895 -
Loan repaid to a non-controlling B RFFERRED
shareholder of a subsidiary BERNER 33 (69,777) -
Net cash generated from/(used) MEFTES (ER)Z
in financing activities REeFHE 346,155 (161,507)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRBEEEMEM
and cash equivalents (R2) 38 433,242 (19,348)
Cash and cash equivalents at FVHe RS EED
beginning of year . 1,917,295 1,944,230
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREH 2T
changes, net 29,530 (7,587)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRACEEY
end of year 2,380,067 1,917,295
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRFALEEYER
cash equivalents o
Cash and bank balances B MRITHER 22 1,490,067 1,780,295
Deposits in COFCO Finance Company RAEEEER R 8/ B
Limited (“COFCO Finance”), a NAIPRMEARAETAR
subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (IR )) 2 75K 22 890,000 137,000
Cash and cash equivalents BEMBRRRELZE
as stated in the consolidated ReRmBRMIZEER
statement of financial position Re%EY
and the consolidated
statement of cash flows 2,380,067 1,917,295
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated ML S A SN —5 5
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) — A j. i& $& % MT 23
AARYEFIR) % = /E\ Vi) A H—E

Corporate and information of the Group

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture
of packaging products, including beverage cans, milk
powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels and
plastic packaging in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

As at 31 December 2022, (i) COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
(“COFCO (Hong Kong)”) beneficially held approximately
29.70% (2021: 29.70%) of the issued shares of the
Company, being the single largest shareholder of the
Company; and (i) 2K BERKRMHBR QA (ORG
Technology Co. Ltd.*) (“ORG Technology”) beneficially
held approximately 24.40% (2021: 24.40%) of the issued
shares of the Company, being the second largest
shareholder of the Company. COFCO (Hong Kong) is a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and ultimately held
by COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”), a state-owned
enterprise registered in the PRC. ORG Technology is a
company established in the PRC and listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

* For identification purposes only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

1 Corporate and information of the Group 1 QAFRRKEEERGE
CONSOLIDATED (continued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARERER Information about subsidiaries Ft A B &R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RARIMEZWEB QAN SW
follows: N
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
NOTES TO THE Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity
Eﬁﬂi‘;ﬂ'ﬁ““’ EMREE BRTEER/ RAFME
T ATENENTS 4% gEnY BifRA BREAM TEEH
BEMBRRM Direct Indirect
Ef [
Hangzhou COFCO-MC packaging PRC 1S$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
Co,, Ltd* EF 30,050,000 T tBRREE

R RERERERAT

Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd.*  PRC US$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
o ENERZRARERDA i 3029000057 packaging
SUMMARY TENERRRLE
AENBHE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC US$25,000,000 - 8448  Manufacture of metal packaging
(“Wuxi Huapeng’) i 25,000,000 TEAREE
EHEEREERAA(RHER)
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.” PRC US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
AR EERERAA" M 64,500,000% TERREE
Tianjin CPMC Co,, Ltd.* PRC US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAK (K2R M 50,000,000% 7 TERREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.” PRC US$43,300,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAR(EHBERAR M 43,300,000% TERREE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd."* PRC RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RREPRBAERRAA™ M AR 17,000,007 TERREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.” PRC 1S$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAREE)BRAR M 30,000,000% TERREE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
MR EREERA R e 39,750,000 T tERREE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC US$3,800,000 - = Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co., Ltd.™ (note (i)) H 3,800,000%7T (2021:100) ZRBBEEE

LEREBBIXARLE" (W)

216 CPMC Holdings Limited # a5 A R 2 7




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

UAARKESIR)

Corporate and information of the Group 1 2AFARKEEERGE)
(continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
. . CASH FLOWS
Information about subsidiaries (continued) Ft A B E R (]) GABLRER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RAARIMEZWEB A AIMEED
follows: (continued) T : (8)
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity NOTES TO THE
AMREE BRTEER/ KA CONSF?;Tpch.if
4 gy BEMRA BREAM EEE e ATenENTS
Direct Indirect REMBRRME
E# GE3
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAR(EWL)BERAR f# 24,200,000% TERREE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$32,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PEAEEI)ARAR i 32,750,000% TERREE
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* PRC US$89,052,877 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging SUMMARY
BMNrERERRLA i 89,052 877% 7T TERRLE BEMBHE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.™  PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
REAE(RR)ARAR™ i 10,000,000% 7 EBRRLE
Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Zhongshan)  PRC US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co,, Ltd.” t 7,200,000% 70 PRRRLE

FUABEH R ERAT

Victoria Package (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.**  PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging

EMEEBRERAR™ i AR 1100,000,0007T EBRKLE

Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.**  PRC 1S$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging

EERER2)ERAT" t 10,000,000% EBRKLE

CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC US$15,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging

REPEREBERLA el 15,000,000% 7T TRARLE

Nanning CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC 1S$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging

BETEREARLA el 30,000,000 7 tRARLE

CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.* PRC US$404,090,000 - 100 Investment holding

PRERRABRAR i 404,090,000% T RERK

CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic Package PRC 1S$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co,, Lt * i 10,000,000 BRRRLE

rREKENZBERAR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

1 Corporate and information of the Group 1 QAFRRKEEERGE
CONSOLIDATED (continued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS s, =
BARSRER Information about subsidiaries (continued) Ft 8 A R E R (])

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

R AR R M

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
REHMBHHE
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

ARRHERKE QA FB

follows: (continued) T : (8)

Place of

registration Issued Percentage of

and ordinary/ equity

principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity

EMREE BRTEER/ RARFAE
£ Ke BEfRA BREMN TEEH

Direct Indirect
Ef GEE3
Harbin CPMC Co., Ltd" PRC RMB80,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAK(MRER)ERRA M AR 80,800,007 TERREE
Fujian FC Packaging Limited” PRC US$3,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BRXERGERLA i 3,000,000% 7 TERREE
CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.” PRC US$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
B ERRERLA i 8,000,000% TERREE
Weigang Packaging (Sugian) Co. Ltd.* ~ PRC US$6,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
RREBRRARLA i 6,000,000% T PBRRLE
Xiamen CPMC Co., Ltd.”* PRC RMB12,000,000 - 60  Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAR(EM)ARAT" M AR 12,000,007 TERREE
Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* PRC US$42,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
ERTERERRAA i 42,000,000% 7T TERRLE
Harvest Epoch Packaging Co., Ltd. PRC 1S$80,000,000 - 68.8  Manufacture of metal packaging
(“Harvest Epoch’)™ H 80,000,000 T TEREEE

MIBREARAF
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC RMB250,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RBPEREERAA" i AR #250,000,00070 tERREE
CPMC (Jiaxing) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
ERNEARERLA i 10,000,000% T TERRLE
CPMC (Weifang) Barrel Co., Ltd.*** PRC RMB64,520,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
By ERRERLR™ i AR 64,520,007 TERRLE
Benepack Belgium NV Belgium EUR21,200,000 - 50.9  Manufacture of metal packaging

bl 21,200,00081 7T TEBRAE
Heilongjiang MC Packaging Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RRIERASARRE i AE#25,000,0007C TERRLE
Chengdu Weigang Packaging Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB13,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
RBERBEARAF" i AR #13,000,0007C BRARLE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

Corporate and information of the Group 1 2AFARKEEERGE)
(continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Information about subsidiaries (continued) Ft A B E R (]) GABLRER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RAARIMEZWEB A AIMEED
follows: (continued) T : (8)
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity c:z;zm‘;:;
R EE BRTLER/ NG g FINANCIAL
1 mEhy BRI BHEH TEEER STATEMENTS
Direct Indirect SRS
Ef f3
CPMC (Chongging) Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB56,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
TEREER)BRAA i AR 556,000,007 packaging
SENEBRREE
Harbin Meite Container Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging FIVEYEAR
BREXRASERAG i AR H25,000,0007T PEAREE FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Kunming CPMC Canmaking Co, Lid*  PRC RVB120,000,000 - 70 Manufacture of metal packaging R
ELEL o] NG G AR 120,000,000 TEARLE
Longjiang Meite Container Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BIXBABERLF" i ARH#25,000,0007C SBOREE
Shenyang CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB135,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
(note (i) it AR135,000,0007 (Q021:-) 2BRELE
R ERERRA A (W)
* Wholly foreign-owned enterprises * SNEBE I
“*  Sino-foreign equity joint venture > YN E B E
“** Domestic-funded enterprises o NERE
The English names of all the above companies are direct LB RARTMEXEBIEFX
transliterations of their Chinese registered names. aAmEENEETE -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company FREVNEEREBTEFELRFE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected EERENAEERBOFEEN
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion RAFIMBAR - EERE - 2
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other HWBARMFBEEERIIEIT
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in Ko

excessive length in the particulars.

Notes: Btet -

(i)  The entity was disposed during the year ended 31 () ZEBREZ2022F12H31H 1F
December 2022. FEHE °

(i) The entity was newly incorporated during the year ended (i)  FZEBREZ2022F12H31H 1F
31 December 2022. EFILL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments which have been measured at fair value.
These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A
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ZERAMBERRDIBIER LG
Ag((BEGMAG)EMZ
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BRERPRRBEK ° 1IN A
MBRENEEBTEMARSME
RARES EmARAT EmARRD
MENERKE -

BREFERIAURATESEIN
RAPBRRTRE L RAX R
B NFAMBHRENARE(TA
REDIIE - BEBR=ARBI - I
EEEANBEREAOMNTA(A
RETT) -

HEHE%E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly
or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent and uniform accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE

(AARKTIR)
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RIREREEAEG R EERA
HERERIER - R B -
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1 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

2.1

2.2

AARKETIR)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvement to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contact

Amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts™®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS
17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)2#

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Amendments to HKAS Disclosure of Accounting

1 and HKFRS Practice Policies’
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption.

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective

date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion.

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS
39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023.

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating
to the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall
apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it
has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of a joint venture is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and a joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investment in a joint venture, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of a joint venture is included as part of the Group’s
investment in a joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or group of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressedin Renmmb\)

(AARE|R

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
and debt instruments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 = based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3— based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’'s value-in-use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
group of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group (if the
Group is itself such a plan) and the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Prior to 1 January 2022, depreciation is calculated on
the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life, taking into account its estimated
residual value of 10%. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

20 to 30 years
3to 5years
12 to 20 years

Vehicles 5years
Electronic equipment, office
equipment and fixtures 5years

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressedin Renmmb\)

AARKETIR

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

With effect from 1 January 2022, the Group performed a
review to reassess the estimated useful lives and residual
value of certain property, plant and equipment, based on
the expectations of the Group’s operational management
and technological trends.

As a result, the estimated useful lives and estimated

residual value of these property, plant and equipment have

been changed to:

Machinery and equipment 10 to 20 years with
estimated residual value
of 2% to 10%

Electronic equipment, office
equipment and fixtures

5 years with estimated
residual value of 3%

The aforesaid changes in accounting estimates were made
using the prospective application method and resulted in
an increase of depreciation by RMB5,863,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised, is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised as
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machinery and production lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognised lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Leased properties 210 20 years
Machineries 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investment and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out in
“Revenue recognition” paragraph below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investment and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

For debt instruments that are stated at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investment and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt instruments that are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost whilst fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
changes recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL). The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
end of each reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

(Expressed in Renminbi)

RE U BRRMEE

(AAREF|R)

24 FRETHEHARGE)

HIERREBAE @)
AEBERY S ES RAEE
B DAAEZ RERERAEE

AREFREEEZRSREMEZR
KEE -
TRMEERE

REEFI IR A FETABRF
BHFBEBER TARAEREEE
BUREBEEBRDEE - BHE
EEBERDERRES QBN E R
ﬁim5ﬁ$$lﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ

BN EEEMNERROME

imLEZFEJE}]%%E JE o TRHAIR
eRERBELEMFERRNKE
WIEF BN EMEETRER
FIiSHIRERE o

—RIE

J”Eﬁﬂ@f%)éﬂa D P {EI P B AR © Bk
Y146 HE AR LA R A5 & L I 8 K 1R 45
jJDEM:.Eh&EIﬁﬁ:. C B RARKA2(E
ARBEBREMNBOSHMELNE
EBREG2EARREEER)FE
EHEEBERE - SLUmTERIA
KIEE R R j(“ﬂaﬁ“)]ﬂfﬂ’ﬂ:.%ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬁ
T AR O H R T FHE
EMEEERRBERE  TH
E%’UE’UH%F‘?(%HHEHHF%E?%) °
AEER/ERHNTBIBEG
REF - EERBRAEIEN

RERER  AEEFTEEES
BMTANERARR B VHERRZE
GREEILI - #1T AR - A%
Eiem T AENSREARELER
HHRERES BT ERVRERE
ABEZONRARETHER I
ZRBENETNEHKANKES S
Bl EBSHAIEAEZER - 81
BIERAREEER

Annual Report 2022 FEHE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FERERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
REMBHE

241



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HaBELRER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

R AR R M

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
REHMBHHE

242

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset is in default when
contractual payments are past due over a long period
of time. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Debt instruments that are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below:

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but they are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting period. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and interest-bearing bank
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
commodity futures contracts, to hedge its price risk of raw
materials. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet
the definition of a derivative as defined by HKFRS 9 is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered
into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt
or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
are held at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average cost basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in “Impairment
of financial assets” paragraph.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made on the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities, and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes interest expense accreted on the contract liability
using the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of packaging products

Revenue from the sale of packaging products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery and
acceptance of the packaging products by the customers.

Some contracts for the sale of packaging products provide
customers with volume rebates. The volume rebates give
rise to variable consideration.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREZ|TR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in the Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentages of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate of 2.08% (2021: 1.68%) has been applied to the
expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles of Association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB. The functional currency of the Company is the
Hong Kong dollars. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and joint ventures of the Group are currencies other than
RMB. At the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

(Expressed in Renminkji) 'éﬁ‘—\éﬁl\jﬁiﬁ% MisE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regularly environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgement that
significantly affects the determination of the amount of
revenue from contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for the sale of packaging
products

Certain contracts for the sale of packaging products
include volume rebates that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the
Group is required to use either the expected value method
or the most likely amount method based on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled.

In estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
packaging products with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using a combination of the most likely
amount method and the expected value method is
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts the
amount of variable consideration related to volume rebates
is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds
contained in the contract. The most likely amount method
is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold,
while the expected value method is used for contracts with
more than one volume threshold.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration
are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In
addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration will
be resolved within a short time frame.

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sale of packaging products
with volume rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed
on a per customer basis for contracts that are subject
to a single volume threshold. Determining whether a
customer will likely be entitled to a rebate depends on the
customer’s historical rebate entitlement and accumulated
purchases to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Variable consideration for volume rebates (continued)

The Group has applied a statistical model for estimating
expected volume rebates for contracts with more than
one volume threshold. The model uses the historical
purchasing patterns and rebate entitlement of customers
to determine the expected rebate percentages and
the expected value of the variable consideration. Any
significant changes in experience as compared to
historical purchasing patterns and rebate entitlements of
customers will impact the expected rebate percentages
estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates are
sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not
be representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements
in the future. As at 31 December 2022, the amount
recognised as refund liabilities was RMB20,338,000 (2021:
RMB56,960,000) for the expected volume rebates, which
is included in “Other payables and accruals”.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At the end
of each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customers’ actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in Note 20.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2022 was RMB233,973,000 (2021:
RMB233,973,000). Further details are disclosed in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB24,811,000 (2021: RMB35,558,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
will be utilised, deferred tax assets are recognised for
temporary differences arising from impairment provisions
for trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables
and property, plant and equipment and decelerated tax
depreciation and amortisation, certain accrual items. The
amount of unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from
tax losses at 31 December 2022 was RMB67,874,000
(2021: RMB86,208,000). Further details are disclosed in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and
is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

4 Operating segment information 4 REDIWEE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF For management purposes, the Group has one operating REREMNS  AEBE—EeRE
Z:;;ng; segment of packaging products, which can be analysed MM E D E - AR EE B R AR
by three business units based on their products and A= BB BERETHN - OTF

services as follows: N

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the (@) HOoEeX - FAEEFERSE
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products, RPHEEAESDEBEEER
which include, milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal MEZRME - ERBED
caps, steel barrels, and other metal packaging; M REE ©BE - i

RRkEMSERE
NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL (b)  Aluminium packaging — the Group uses aluminium (b) EBE - KEEFARE
:;:;;N;?ﬁa as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging REERNBRERNEER
- products, which mainly consist of two-piece ME - EEBEMA SRR
beverage cans and one-piece bottles; and RER@: &

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging (c) ZRBBEE - X5EENER
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo PEEMEZRANDE - %
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily EK - BEFELBRBK

EVEVEAR use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles " -BARAT - BEHOR -
FINANCIAL and related plastic-made products. ERHRBMEAEZRR
SUMMARY lél:lll o

BEMBBE

Management monitors the results of the Group's business EREERERAEEERELAN

units separately for the purpose of making decisions about XE - URBRSERRIETAE

resource allocation and performance assessment. The HRTE « SFEBEMHRIBIZKA
performance for each of the business unit is evaluated HEITEVE - T CATRIEE

based on revenue, as explained below:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFT

Tinplate packaging BOEeE 4,212,735 4,461,124
Aluminium packaging fraE e 5,368,106 4,463,374
Plastic packaging R 674,384 641,884
10,255,225 9,566,382

200 CPMC Holdings Limited ®Ri8 @5 RARA A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

(AARHIT)
Operating segment information (continued) 4 ReEHBEEE
Geographical information 32 & R
The Group’s revenue from external customers is based on REBIREINTFEF R A TR
the location of customers and information about its non- EFPWAEE D  BRAZREEME
current assets by geographical location of the assets are NEBESINAEEFFERDEENE
detailed below: BErtan T
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets (Note)
RENBEFHKA FRBEE WL
2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%Tn AR%TR AR%Tx
Mainland China FEA 9,572,088 8,846,844 5,949,467 5,700,405
Overseas o 683,137 719,538 709,665 489,132
10,255,225 9,566,382 6,659,132 6,189,537
Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. Wiet - HnBEETEFEELEHEELE
o
Information about major customers FRETEEFHNESR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HEFEEREBERABLERR
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are 10%HREEFHBALT
as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ET T
Customer A ZPA 1,380,647 1,348,089
Customer B =FB 1,101,412 N/A*
*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over o HESKRARERBBAARE
10% of the total revenue of the Group. U AKI10% ©
Revenue 5 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: AT R—BAR ST
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Revenue from contracts with EEFEEHBA
customers
Sale of packaging products HEBRKRER 10,255,225 9,566,382
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(i)

AARKETIR)

5 Revenue (continued) 5 WA(&E)
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHEA
Disaggregated revenue information (i)  DIFRAER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETF T
By type of goods REWERE S
Tinplate packaging BOEeE 4,212,735 4,461,124
Aluminium packaging fraE SNk 5,368,106 4,463,374
Plastic packaging BREE 674,384 641,884
Total revenue from contracts with BFE & %W A 4258
customers 10,255,225 9,566,382
By geographical markets RWETHE D
Mainland China AR A i 9,572,088 8,846,844
Overseas AN 683,137 719,538
Total revenue from contracts with EFE & %W A 4258
customers 10,255,225 9,566,382
All of the Group’s revenue from contracts with TEEMNHEREFREHKRA

(ii)

customers is recognised at a point in time when the
goods are transferred.

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of packaging products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the packaging products and payment is generally
due within 30 to 180 days from delivery, except
for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required and the Group recognises it
as contract liabilities until the goods have been
delivered to customers. Some contracts provide
customers with volume rebates which give rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue from
sales of packaging products for not disclosing
the remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts as these contracts had an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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6

Other income, gains and losses

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ MTJ‘%I

UAARKESIR)

6 HtblA - WEREE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREF T
Other income Habg A
Bank interest income HITH EWA 15,608 11,370
Interest income from COFCO R EF R ERF B U A
Finance (Note 37 (a)) (#tz#37(a)) 15,095 14,502
Committed dividend income froma KRB —XKAI& &1 E M #EHE
former joint venture (Note (a)) DEA (B 7 (a) 68,643 119,000
Government grants (Note (b)) ESEEN Rz 34,122 14,012
Rental income e A 3,008 3,788
136,476 162,672
Other gains and losses Hihli R EE
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - BE MKREEE
and equipment g (6,744) (18,148)
Foreign exchange differences, net  MEZ 3855 23,318 (12,840)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB AR
(Note 32) (Mta#32) 60,128 -
Other gains (Note (c)) E Az (B 72 (c)) 11,675 10,561
88,377 (20,427)
224,853 142,245
Notes: Btat -
(a) Based on the instalment payment schedule as set out in (a) IR#FE2020F4H28H % ]2 0158

the repurchase agreement dated 28 April 2020, during
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
the sixth and seventh instalments of committed dividend
from a former joint venture, Qingyuan JDB Herbal Plant
Technology Co., Ltd., amounting to RMB68,643,000 (2021:
the third, fourth and fifth instalments of committed dividend
of RMB119,000,000).

e AT 6 7 BE bl & - &
FP022F12H31HIFFE - K
FEWRPI & ST EETENZE
BEREYRRERAGENR
FEHHEFESH - 2EEAARK
68,643,0005T (20214 : £=H] -
FEPUEIR E ARS8
AARH119,000,0007T) °

(b)  The government grants are mainly granted by the local (b)  BAFHERL TS F 2 i B A T
authorities in the PRC to support local entities. There are EERTFULHEMDE - ZF
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these 17 B 00 1 R G B R S Bl B
grants. FIH o

(c)  Other gains mainly consist of gains from the sales of waste (c) EHftiham+*ZEEIEHERERE
materials or unused raw materials from the manufacturing o 8 B ZE W) 3R AR AT R
process. e

Annual Report 2022 FEHE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FERERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
REMBHE

263



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

7 Finance costs 7 HBEAH
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF An analysis of finance costs is as follows: TH A EERDHT
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Interest on bank loans IRITERA B 101,964 71,080
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEF S 1,966 2,000
Interest on loan from non-controlling K@ A & 3E1EAX AR R A9
shareholder of a subsidiary B A 564 -
CONSOLIDATED 104,494 73,080
o Less: Interest capitalised o BARERE (16,777) (7,490)
STATEMENTS
ey 87,717 65,590
8 Profit before income tax 8 PFRETBSHAIRIE
The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after REERAEBAFB &R,
charging/(crediting): GTAATIER 1BES -
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL 2022 2021
SUMMARY Note RMB’000 RMB’000
REMBHR ks ARET T ARET T
(a) Cost of sales (a) SHERE
Cost of inventories sold BHEFERA 8,978,268 8,208,588
Realised and unrealised TEEMT AR
fair value (gains)/losses FRRAREIR
on derivative financial RNFEUE),
instruments, net i858 26 (5,183) 27,583
8,973,085 8,236,171
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRN(BIEES
directors’ and REETHASMH
chief executive’s £)
remuneration)
Wages and salaries TENG® 669,876 658,714
Pension scheme RIREETEIfEE
contributions™* 70,764 58,657
Other benefits HAaF 58,525 52,109
799,165 769,480
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

UAARKESIR)

B AT 16 %54 A R 8 (D)

8 Profit before income tax (continued) 8

The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting): (continued)

AEBERPAEHATRE &G,
GFORTHEBZRZSR - (8)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FERERER

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE ARET R AR®TFIT
(c) Otheritems (c) HfEAE
Depreciation of property, mE -~ BE &
plant and equipment BT E 14 434,044 411,273 NOTES TO THE
Depreciation of right-of- EREEENE Gl
use assets 15 26,280 23,947 STATEMENTS
Amortisation of other Hfhfmp g e SAMBHRAE
intangible assets™® 17 3,182 4 414
Research and B B& B AR
development costs*® 93,366 90,053
Impairment losses BEEREE
recognised/(reversed) EREAER
under expected credit (B R HYRE
loss model, net: B8 558 FIVE-YEAR
- Trade receivables* - BB R 20 1,292 22 iy
- Prepayments, other -FANR - Ef REHBEE
receivables and FEWR K.
other assets* HEmEE" 21 2,253 (29)
Write-off of other i aEH o AR A
intangible assets™® 17 - 1,540
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEEM & -
- Audit service - ZH R 1,700 1,700
- Non-audit services - IERERT 700 700
2,400 2,400
* The research and development costs, impairment losses * HELLX - BZENZ - BT
of trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and o B EY IR B A EE R E
other assets are included in administrative expenses in the EEEA AL G Bmk N ITIE
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Write-off of other B o MiEAMEREECFA
intangible assets are included in other gains and losses in FEBEm RN B MM RE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Amortisation 1B o B EEBEE AL
of other intangible assets is included in cost of sales and BEm RN HEKRERITHE
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of e
profit or loss.
*  As at 31 December 2022, there are no forfeited »* RO022F 12H31H + KEE I FE
contributions that may be used by the Group as the Al A 1EE F R IR B H sk F2Z
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions (2021: SRUHRE K (20214F « &) »
Nil).
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ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EERTETHAEZHME

CONSOLIDATED

ELZLEI“E"LEC’)“J’:F Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIELTHRE - BEREEHE

NI, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of 38IMNIEUAR ARG (WEEEFEE
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the EOABIZE2E - FANEEREETT
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BABZHESWELT ¢

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
NOTES TO THE Fees we 1,069 1,036
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL Other emoluments: H A H 8 -
STATEMENTS Salaries, allowances and benefits e FAREWET
SEEEEE in kind 1,633 1,654
Performance related bonuses FRIRBEREIEAL 2,349 1,690
Pension scheme contributions RIRSET B 249 226
4,231 3,570
5,300 4,606
Rl (a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIFHITEE
SUMMARY The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANTELIENITEED
HFFBHE during the year were as follows: wmeT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo ERERAN S 299 290
Mr. Pun Tit Shan B A 299 290
Mr. Chen Jihua BRECEES A 299 290
897 870
The independent non-executive directors’ EXMANTREIIERITES
emoluments shown above were for their services MM DESELAEARRAE
as directors of the Company. There were no other ENRBER - FAWEE
emoluments payable to the independent non- NTBIFERTESTHEA
executive directors during the year (2021: Nil). M (20214F « £E) ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi) % _\éﬂ\jﬁﬁi H:J'EI

UAARKESIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EERFTETHAEZHME

(continued) (#8) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HITEE - FBITEERE FARERER
the chief executive ETHAE
Salaries,
allowances
and Performance Pension
benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
¥¢ 2HEK RERE BRAKEHE NOTES TO THE
ik ENER 4 #3 Rit SeSEARLE
, , , , , FINANCIAL
RMB000  RMBI000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'000 STATEMENTS
ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR AR%ETn GAMBRENE
2022 20226
Executive directors: H1EE:
Mr. Zhang Xin FAAE - 850 1,114 138 2,102
Mr. Zhang Ye' RELE - 783 1,235 M 2,129
- 1,633 2,349 249 4,231 FIVEYEAR
FINANCIAL
Non-executive directors: FTEE: SUMMARY
Mr. Zhou Yuan AE%E 86 - - - 86 B
Mr. Shen Tao TREE 86 - - - 86
Dr. Zhao Wai HEELT? - - - - _
Mr. Meng Fanjie? ARG - - - - -
Mr. Li Minghua? TRE LA - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng? RATB LA - - - - -
172 1,633 2,349 249 4,403
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and

9 EERFETHAEZHME
(%)

(b) BTESE  FHTEBERE

the chief executive (continued) ETHAE(E)
Salaries,
allowances
and  Performance Pension
benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Be 2ER ZRER  RReiE
e EVEF Tt 3 At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT  ARETR  ARETRE ARETRT ARETR
2021 2021F
Executive directors: 8%
Mr. Zhang Xin RAAE - 867 879 129 1875
Mr. Zhang Ye' RELE - 787 811 97 1695
- 1,654 1,690 226 3,570
Non-executive directors: ¥HiTES:
Mr. Zhou Yuan ARLE 83 - - - 83
Mr. Shen Tao T 83 - - - 83
Mr. Li Minghua FHELE - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng RAmEE - - - - -
166 1,654 1,690 226 3,736

7 Mr. Zhang Ye is also the Chief Executive of the
Company.

2 Mr. Li Minghua and Mr. Chen Qianzheng resigned
as non-executive directors of the Company on 18
January 2022 and Dr. Zhao Wei and Mr. Meng Fanjie
were appointed as non-executive directors of the
Company on the same date.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

1 RELETREARALE
TTIXA R °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EERFTETHAEZHME

(continued) (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HITES - FHTEERE GABLRER
the chief executive (continued) ETBRABE
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above EXFRAITHITESTNNE
were for their services in connection with the EEREEALNTIRAEE
management of the affairs of the Company and the EENEENREBER - £
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments XASIRIERITEETNIE
shown above were for their services as directors of DEERERARRIENBEA
the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable. ANER)EENRBEER -
R NOTES TO THE
There was no arrangement under which a director EERARFRTBES S E CONSOLIDATED
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive ZITBABRIBEEMZH K ST;'T"E‘:A"EC':‘T‘;
remuneration in both years. EXREREMNS - O R
10 Five highest paid employees 10 EEFMEESNES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FAhEFNESNEERERE
two (2021: two) directors, details of whose remuneration (20214 - MB)ES - EFHEHE
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the BN EX - FRESKZ=H (2021
year of the remaining three (2021: three) highest paid FZR)ERFTMNEARAES FIVE-YEAR
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive SFETHAERENMSFIEN Fs'm':ﬂc/;:t
of the Company are as follows: ™ AN
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Salaries, allowances and e EMREYEN
benefits in kind 2,037 1,935
Performance related bonuses FRIBHEENEAL 2,318 1,942
Pension scheme contributions RIRSET B 333 292
4,688 4,169
The number of non-director and non-chief executive MErEATHENZIFESTRIEE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the ETBABZERHEE AZN
following bands is as follows: K
Number of employees
EEA"
2022 2021
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,000/% T - 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T2
2,000,000/ 7T 3 -
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UAARKETIR)

11 Income tax expense 11 FEBMX
CONSOLIDATED
ELZLEI“E"LE(;“J’:F Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the FAHRTEBRE BT EELT
O Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in AIERTAE - WML BB BERG
Hong Kong during the year (2021: Nil). Taxes on profits TRIE L B (20214F « f8) - Hithith
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates FHERB R R NS B X HT
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group AR MBITH R E -
operates.
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
NOTES TO THE ARBF T ARBETIT
S PRC Enterprise Income tax PRI
SIS Current tax BIHARR I8 126,378 87,421
GARMBERHE Over-provisions in respect BAEFEBEEE
of prior years (16,905) (322)
Overseas tax FINIE
Under-provisions in respect of BAEFEREBTR
prior years 9 -
Deferred tax EIERIE 1,933 6,101
111,415 93,200
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit AR B R E KI5 M B A B i
BEMBBE i e e
before income tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions ALERE R 805 TE FI IR BR TS B AT
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries MHEFERNT B BN EFR 2
are domiciled to the tax expense is as follows: HERWAT -
2022
Hong Kong PRC Others Total
EE HE Hitr &%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TRT AR¥TR AR%ETx
(Loss)/profit before income tax BTG RAT(BI8),/FE (18,059) 652,097 (37,945) 596,093
Tax at the statutory tax rates* REERETE HE (2,980) 163,024 (9,486) 150,558
Income tax at concessionary rate™  IREEM RE M ST - (11,348) - (11,348)
Income not taxable for tax TARBZUA (135) (34,050) - (34,185)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 X - 4,860 3,797 8,657
(Over)lunder-provisions in respect  BAFE (BEEE),/
of prior years BETR - (16,905) 9 (16,896)
Utilisation of tax losses BANERTRERN
previously not recognised HEEE - (24,407) - (24,407)
Tax losses not recognised AR HIBER 3,115 30,232 5,689 39,036
Tax charge at the Group’s AEERERBEHEL
effective rate RIER X - 111,406 9 111,415
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(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

11 Income tax expense (continued) 11 FrEBmZ (E)
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
2021 CASH FLOWS
Hong Kong PRC Others Total BaRemER
0 H Hit At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFT  ARETT ARETT ARET:
(Loss)/profit before income tax BETER A (B8), /A (6,077) 567,378 5,358 566,659
Tax at the statutory tax rates* REEMEFE 2 HIE (1,003) 141,845 1,340 142,182
Income tax at concessionary rate™ B E RE AT EH - (12,451) - (12,451)
Income not taxable for tax A RB 2 A - (29,907) (919) (30,822) NOTES TO THE
Expenses not deductible for tax EOGIE kiiyd 53 1,003 1,711 - 2,714 CONSOLIDATED
ol : 8 4 =] FINANCIAL
Over-prowswns in respect of BEFEREEE ST ATENENTS
prior years - (322) - (322) GAMBRENE
Utilisation of tax losses previously — E A& TR
not recognised HIEBE - (7,833) (425) (8,258)
Tax losses not recognised AR ZBEER - 157 - 157
Tax charge at the Group’s AEERERFIRHE
effective rate RIER % - 93,200 - 93,200

ok

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration
of Taxation of the PRC during the year ended 31 December
2013, the Company and most of its subsidiaries registered
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands are regarded as
Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and
the relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries are 25% for both years.
Four (2021: Four) of the Group’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC have granted a preferential EIT rate of 15%,
by the relevant tax authorities. One (2021: One) of the
Group’s subsidiaries are qualified as high-tech enterprises
in the PRC, and the relevant tax authorities have granted
the subsidiary a preferential EIT rate of 15%. One (2021:
One) of the Group’s subsidiaries are qualified as small
enterprises earning low profits in the PRC, and the relevant
tax authorities have granted the subsidiary preferential EIT
rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%).

ok

RIEFEHERHEERATRE SR
20134 12H31H IF EEF 8
#HE BHL013F1A1HE &K
RAIREREER BB RE
Bt ey X 55 K1 E A el # 2 E
APEERDE(BHIFEER
1)) MEREFEERPFEE
B R B 10 2 T 75 B 9 76 B B B
/%g °

WRIE P B 1> 2 BT 18 B 0% ([ 2 AT
BEE) R EATBHERE I
1G] - [ A E AT B 2 5] B B
K H25% o NEEFEFIIFR
(20214 : PUZ) B8 2 &l 3 R
B - (AR ISR IR FiZ
B R a2 (BRI EATIEFFHE
B15% o KEFHHF—Z (2021
F o —K)WEAGRIFAFEZ =
i EEE - HEH R
RFZNE AR 2 ERDFEHS
BHEZ16% - FAEFRF—F
(20214F « —xK)WB L FAFA
Bz NI FI D EEE - HER
BHERTFZNE A2 BRD
EA{EHBERB2.5% (20214 :
2.5%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

12 Dividends 12 RE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREEFTT
Interim — RMBO0.120 PH - GRRE AR
(2021: RMBO0.112) AR#0.1207T (20214
per ordinary share AR#0.11270) 133,611 124,703
Proposed final — RMB0.098 BEOAAH - BREBER
(2021: RMB0.095) AR #0.0087T (20214 -
per ordinary share AR#0.0957T) 109,115 105,775
242,726 230,478
The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 HZE2022F12A31H IEFEEZER
December 2022 is subject to the approval by the B BB AR RIRE R EE R
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming Annual RBFEREG L& -
General Meeting.
The final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 RAFZEER2022F3 822 2%
December 2021 was proposed by the directors of the K E £2021F12831HIEFE
Company on 22 March 2022, and subsequently approved HIREAR S - BENAR A RAIN2022
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2022 F5H30BMRRBF ARG D4
and recognised as distribution during the year ended 31 A WHERANEZE2022F12
December 2022. S1THIEFEMDIK °
13 Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13 XAREBERBREEFEAE
equity holders of the Company EEREF

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB486,512,000 (2021:
RMB462,498,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,113,423,000 (2021: 1,113,423,000) in
issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 was same as the basic earnings
per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares in existence in both years.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

BRERABFNHSBIDBRERTF
EMAQREBRBEAFAE A
FEAEFE AR 486,512,0007T
(20214 : AR#462,498,0007T)
MERNEEITEBRAMmEFS
£11,113,423,0000% (20214 :
1,113,423,000/%) st & 15 H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% H:J‘%I
(AAREF|R)
13 Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13 ARATEERREFEEAE | —
equity holders of the Company (continued) HERAER (E) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
. . R . CASH FLOWS
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share BREAREERFFTETER - BARSRER
are based on:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTT
Earnings &R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ FA{EstEERERZBF] 2
holders of the Company, used RARIEBEBRBRAFEA NOTES TOTHE
. . . 3 CONSOLIDATED
in the basic earnings per share FEMRFIE FINANCIAL
calculation 486,512 462,498 STATEMENTS
GAMBRENE
Number of shares
B8 E
2022 2021
000 ‘000
TR T
Shares i FIVE-YEAR
. X S FINANCIAL
Weighted average number of Bt ETRERBFIH SUMMARY
ordinary shares in issue during the ~ FRAE TR HERBHRE
year used in the basis earnings InHEF 98
per share calculation 1,113,423 1,113,423
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(AARHFIR)

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ¥ BMEREE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS Electronic
RARSRER equipment,
Machinery office
Leasehold and equipment  Construction
Buildings improvements  equipment Vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
EREU R
HENE HOERE
B¥ ®E  BERZE EQIR R%E ERIR fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NOTES TO THE ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  AR%ETn  AR¥TR
S At 31 December 2021 and R0 E128318 R
STATEMENTS 1 January 2022; 202251818 :
A M RRM T Cost e 1,916,776 26,732 5,744,240 68,503 258,823 306,656 8,321,730
Acoumulated depreciaionand  ZFTE RA(E
impaimens (13685  (19128) (2374109 (48091)  (166314) - (3023)
Net carrying amount SE5E 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20,412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
At 1 January 2022, net of R202251R18
acoumulated depreciaionand IR BEAERAE
FIVE-YEAR imparments 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20,412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
FINANCIAL Addiions i - - - i 36 67406 87279
SUMMARY . & v
RS Exchange adjustmens 3k 1911 - 7213 10 155 - 9,349
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAT
(Note 32) (Hi232) (7,588) - (603) (165) (29) - (8,385)
Disposals e (185) - (8874) (122) (805) - (9,986)
Depreciation provided during ~~ IAEERERE
the year (60,699) (3,813) (334,358) (6,834) (28,340) - (434,044)
Transfer upon completion TREEA 19,989 - 225,578 10,185 24,201 (279,953) -
At 31 December 2022, net of 20025124318
acoumulated depreciaionand ~ AIBEHAERAE
imparments 1,456,519 3,791 3,259,087 23,573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086
At31 Decermber 2022: W02F12A31R :
Cost A 1,979,806 26,732 5,844,797 80,867 215,187 899,109 9,106,498
Accumulated depreciationand  Z:FHERE
impaiments (523287)  (2941) (2585710  (57.294)  (187,180) - (3376412)
Net carrying amount EmEE 1,456,519 3,791 3,259,087 23,573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14 Y% - BERREGE
CONSOLIDATED
) STATEMENT OF
Electronic CASH FLOWS
equipmen, FARERER
Machinery office
Leasehold and equipment  Construction
Buildings  improvements  equipment Vehicles  andfixtures i progress Total
ERE R
RENE N+
BF & BERRE  EBIR XE  REIR i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT  ARBTL  ARETr  ARETr  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR NOTES TO THE
At 1 January 2021: Ro021E1 818 : Gl
Cost A 1,849,990 26,732 5,288,160 64,605 236,891 366,197 7832575 STATEMENTS
Acoumulated depreciationand ~ ZFTE RiA(E A MR M
impairments (B3471) (15986  (2100862)  (5009)  (154560) - (2669609)
Net carrying amount FmFE 1,496,519 10,746 3,187,498 19,5% 82,331 366,197 5,162,887
At 1 January 2021, net of R202151R18
accumulated depreciationand B ZFHAERAE
impairments 1,496,519 10,746 3,187,498 19,59 82,331 366,197 5,162,887
Additions HE 60471 - 360 2 21 549,680 610,790 FIVE-YEAR
Exchange adjusiments EiAE i - (12,053) - - (22.21) (34,253) FINANCIAL
Disposdls te (521 - (2160 (101 1966 - o i
Depreciation provided WAEENERRE
during the year (60,346) (3,142) (319,948) (6,682) (21,155) - (411.213)
Transfer upon completion TREEA 6,891 - 540,434 7597 32,022 (586,944) -

At 31 December 2021, net of R2021F 128310
accumulated depreciaionand B EFFHERAE

impairments 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20,412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
At 31 December 2021: W01F12A31A :
Cost A 1,916,776 26,732 5744240 68,503 258,823 306,656 8,321,730
Accumulated depreciationand  Z:FHERE
impairments (413685)  (19128)  (2374109)  (48091)  (166314) - (3013
Net carrying amount FmEE 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s property, MR2022F12A318 » BREFEA
plant and equipment, with an aggregate net carrying AR#325100,0007T (20214 = A
amount of RMB325,100,000 (2021: RMB64,354,000), were R #64,354,00070) A S B E T
pledged to secure Group’s borrowings as disclosed in ¥ BEERREBEERBIERRER
note 27. EEE R FF27ATHEE) -
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UAARKETIR)

15 Right-of-use assets 15 FREEE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Leasehold Leased
GABSREE lands properties  Machineries Total
HELH nENE e &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tn
As at December 2022 20225123
Carrying amount FHEE 337,624 81,734 1,100 420,458
As at December 2021 20215127
NOTES TO THE Carrying amount FHEE 302,095 82,523 1,680 386,298
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
SRS For the year ended RE 22022128318
GAMBERKE 31 December 2022 LEE
Depreciation charge wEZ 8,876 16,824 580 26,280
For the year ended REZ2021512A318
31 December 2021 LFE
Depreciation charge WEZH 7,971 15,563 413 23,947
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL 2022 2021
SUMMARY , )
RS RMB 00_0 RM,B 00_0
AR®ET T AREFT
Additions to right-of-use assets NEEREEE 62,305 24,911
Expenses relating to short-term leases H255HAFA G A BRI 8,476 7,257
Total cash outflows for leases HERRLAE 73,847 26,407

276

The Group leases leasehold lands, leased properties and
machineries under leases which run for a period from 2
to 50 (2021: 2 to 50) years, at the end of which period all
terms are renegotiated. The leases include no variable
lease payments.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain lessor
provided rent concessions to the Group through rent
reductions for 8 years. These rent concessions were not
within the scope of Covid-19-related rent concessions
as set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. The reduction
of the Group’s lease liabilities of RMB1,200,000 and a
corresponding adjustment of the same amount to the
right-of-use assets were recognised. No rent concessions
were provided to the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

NEERE A 22504 (20214 ¢
2ESOF)MMANEEREL - B
EMERKEE - REREMERE
BRI EFE - BEHEETE
BIEASHEN -

HE2021F12A31HLFE © &
FHAARBRANFRAAERR
HEASER ZSEHEEZTIHE
TR BMBHRELELF 16575468
EZFT#Covid-19iHBfH £ BB E
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B ARERESHSESR -
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(AARKTIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE

16 Goodwill 16 HE

RMB’000
AREFTT

Cost at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021,  #2021%F1H1H + 20214124318 -

1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2022F 1 418 &2022F12H431H

Z R 240,973
Accumulated impairments 2FRE (7,000)
Net carrying amount REFE 233,973

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
through business combinations in the amounts of
RMB57,305,000, RMB 155,836,000 and RMB27,832,000 is
allocated to the tinplate packaging cash-generating unit,
plastic packaging cash-generating unit and aluminium
packaging cash-generating unit, respectively.

Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging cash-
generating unit was determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 15.2% (2021: 15.2%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging cash-
generating unit was determined based on a value in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 14.5% (2021: 14.5%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

AR E R

BTEITRENR  BREFEH
UeBE & %8 & A R #57,305,0007T -
AR 155,836,000 A R
27,832,000t E D RN EEES
OEBERSELEN - BREE
REEFXBENNIRORIREELS

fiz ©

BOEEREeEEE N
BOSBRREEFEBMNATKED
CHENBREFEREEFEETE &
FAERRAEREEENRFH
BHREEMNBESREEN - BA
RIS RERAMAIREE15.2%
(20214 : 15.2%) - 5 1 & HAfE
BB e RENEMR2.0% (2021
F2.0% KB REME - JiEA
RITERKEFHEEE—H -

BRERE©ELEN
BROKBEELEMNNATKRE S
BEORBEAEENEEE HiE
BERSHREBEEMENAFH
BHREEMNBEeREEN - BA
RIS REFRAMNEIRE B14.5%
(20214 : 14.5%) - 5 1 & HAfE
BB RENEMR2.0% (2021
F20% KIBREME - JiEA
RITERKEFHEEE - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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AARKETIR)

16 Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the aluminium packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections was 13.5% (2021: 13.4%) and cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using
a growth rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the tinplate packaging, plastic packaging and aluminium
packaging cash-generating units as at 31 December 2022
and 2021. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined the
budgeted gross margins based on past performance and
its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant cash-
generating units.

Growth rates — The growth rates are based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the above assessments, no further impairment of
the carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 is recognised, as there was sufficient headroom
available as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. A reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions would not cause
the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount
of the respective cash-generating unit.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

16 & (HE)

EERENR (E

5 e R S EL B
IRPERRSELBUNAINESEE
DIREFEREETEET HEA
%m%ﬁéﬁﬁwﬁmﬁiﬂﬁﬂ
fﬁi%ﬁﬁl‘]fﬁiumgfg E'J EAfﬁi
ﬁ%ﬁmm%ﬁ$ﬁw5%@m1
F:13.4%)  r MR AFEHEEZK
RERETIFERA2.0%(20214F -
2.0%)K)IG R EHEET - THE BT
ERKEBEFHIBRE T -

BEEOEE BEEKIRE
”*fﬁiéiﬁuﬁézozzi&zomi
12A31EMFEAEERFEARBRE -
ATl B IR g i 17 g 2R ER)
ARMRANSEFERSRENE
/EMEX;& ©

FEEEFFE - ERERBBAERR

REmSERNBHETREEN
$0

BB E - e AMREIR R RTAT &
REAEBERSELEMARNE
ERE -

WEF - SHERDHERTREE
FRIEE T RBARTESTY
X TTER

R EFEE 0 20226 & 20214F
12A318 - IEMREEYEE—
SHERRE - B 20224 K 20214
12A31HMAREZMTR - B
BREMEER EE B T2 E A L
EeBERSHeEEEMMNERR
ﬁo



17 Other intangible assets

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARKTIR)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR EE

17 HWBEEE

Patents
Customer and Computer
relationship licences software Total
EFBE  EARHA L &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 1R2022F1 B 1E Z A -

accumulated amortisation Mk 23+ - 11,260 11,057 22,317
Additions RE - 148 926 1,074
Amortisation provided FREHER

during the year - (1,149) (2,033) (3,182)
Exchange adjustments X AR - 18 43 61
At 31 December 2022 20225128318 - 10,277 9,993 20,270
At 31 December 2022; 202251243108 :

Cost AR - 39,034 33,536 72,570

Accumulated amortisation R EH - (28,757) (23,543) (52,300)
Net carrying amount REFE - 10,277 9,993 20,270
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of R2021F1R1B ZRA

accumulated amortisation Mk 25T 1,540 13,510 8,325 23,375
Additions NE - 171 4,725 4,896
Written-off during the year FRH (1,540 - - (1,540)
Amortisation provided FREHARE

during the year - (2,421) (1,993) (4,414)
At 31 December 2021 20215128318 - 11,260 11,057 22,317
At 31 December 2021: 2021128318 :

Cost A - 38,868 32,556 71,424

Accumulated amortisation B £ - (27,608) (21,499) (49,107)
Net carrying amount REFE - 11,260 11,057 22,317
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fade)

18

/E\y_l‘i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

Interests in joint ventures EELENER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT
Share of net assets DIHFEE 20,917 14,259

The balance represented the Group’s interests in two joint
ventures, which are not individually material.

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement entered into
between Wanhua Chemical (Fujian) Co., Ltd., Jing Yu
Xiang (Shanghai) Technology Co., Ltd. and CPMC
Investment Co., Ltd. (a direct subsidiary of the Company)
on 11 August 2020, CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. injected
RMB4,680,000 in cash to CPMC Barrel Production (Fujian)
Co., Ltd during the year ended 31 December 2022. After
that, the Group contributed 36% in total of the registered
capital of the joint venture company.

RBRERAEBERMRE L LEN
- EMRRAELIFEHERX -

BEBELCEGRER) GRAT -
HE(ESREERARHEFPIER
EEREBRAT(KARHEEN
BAR)R202068 A11HET L HA
Bt TREBEREERQFRN
HZE2022F12 A31B IEFEEHTIE
Flim(ER)BRARBEETIEAR
#4,680,0007T © 1% + REEES

HEEEEDETMERN36% °

Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures that EEDEZIFERNEENHER R
are not individually material: CEE
At 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Aggregate carrying amount of the ~ ARBIFEE RS LD ERE
individually immaterial joint REMBmMEFTN
ventures in the consolidated AREERE
financial statements 20,917 14,259
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
B Z20226 B Z=20214F
12A31H 12H31H
LFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETT
Aggregate amount of the KEBEDSHEERER
Group’s share of joint FEBEE
ventures’ profit after tax 1,978 1,568
Aggregate amount of the Group’s AEBOEEEDEREM
share of joint ventures’ other EHEMEEE
comprehensive income - -
Aggregate amount of the Group’s AEBSEEECELHE
share of joint ventures’ total W18 5
comprehensive income 1,978 1,568
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UAARKESIR)

19 Inventories 19 F&
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
2022 2021 CASH FLOWS
RMB’000 RMB’000 FARERER
AR¥T AREFTT
Raw materials JRAF 771,727 884,341
Work in progress & 247,443 281,554
Finished goods X 6B 652,398 653,111
Consumables FEM 98,851 84,644
1,770,419 1,903,650
NOTES TO THE
20 Trade and bills receivables 20 EZRNRREREE CONSOLBATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
2022 2021 BEMBRARE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
Trade receivables B 5 YK
— From third parties -RBE=FH 2,481,450 2,219,244
- From related parties (Note 37(b)) - REREE AT (K17£37(b)) 80,065 110,482
2,561,515 2329726 .
Less: Impairments o ORE (3,535) (2,767) FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
2,557,980 2,326,959 e
Bills receivables eSS 180,221 161,661
Trade and bills receivables ) U E O E S 2,738,201 2,488,620
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly AEEBGTEFPEER EHEP
on credit, except for new customers, where payment REZABENK - FEHH—KA30
in advance is normally required. The credit period is £180K (20214 : 30E180K) °
generally 30 to 180 (2021: 30 to 180) days. Each customer BREEFPHEEREER - A5EH
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain SRES G E R EERWART
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a REBEEEH MG EERREE
credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue &I - SREEAB BT HR
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. BHAGRIE o R bl E R AR EE
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s BZREWGERKETRENEFE
trade receivables related to a large number of diversified B RUTESEASFEERR - &
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit SEWAREZ KT ERTE
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit EREFLEMEERE - B S
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade JEMWGFRIL R R ©
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are on AEBBEEATZ2EHRBFEER
credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers BMhEmASEFERFIRHENE
of the Group. LUEEH -
Annual Report 2022 FEHE 281
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date

20 EZRURREREREE

R & HREE 5 UG R =R
BIRBZEREY - WHRRERRE

and net of impairment, is as follows: DHIT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3ME AR 1,855,754 1,927,069
3to 12 months 3=12{8 A 881,735 560,673
Over 1 year 1A 712 878
2,738,201 2,488,620
The movements in the impairment of trade receivables are B SRR REZS T -
as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT
At 1 January ®1A18 2,767 2,745
Impairment losses recognised, net  FERHIEE S 1B/F 5
(Note 8(c)) (K1z78(c)) 1,292 22
Amounts written off as uncollectible  #i#5-~rT U Bl > £ %8 (524) -
At 31 December MW12A31H 3,535 2,767
Impairment under HKFRS 9 EAMBHREEREIR

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of each
reporting period using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss pattern, after considering internal credit
ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment history and/
or past due status of respective trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if they are past due for more than three years
and are not subject to enforcement activity.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

B & e HIR R A B R AR e
TREDT Ut ERBEES
B -REEEHEBANAINEE
AR BB EFPANNESE
W RE - BN, a S
RRIR - BERTDEREBBRLE
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(Expressed in Renminbi) % _\éﬂ\jﬁiﬁi Bﬁ'%}

UAARKESIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20 BESEWRKREREREGE)
CONSOLIDATED
Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued) BB ELER N (&) STATEMENT OF
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TRESIEABEEE 2 BREAE e
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a EEZEEREARRKINE
provision matrix: #}
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 H431H
Past due
k]
Less than 1t03 Over 3 NOTES TO THE
Current  1month months months Total Gl
b SR1ER 1238 A @iB3{E A Foh STATEMENTS
Expected credit loss rate EHEERHEX 0.00% 4.64% 8.33% 69.30% 0.14% SRS
Gross carrying amount BERE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 2,549,048 6,142 1,872 4,453 2,561,515
Expected credit losses EHREEESR
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 8 285 156 3,086 3,535
As at 31 December 2021 20214128318 FIVE YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Past due AEMBHE
paki
Less than 1103 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
e SREA 1£38A  #iB3fEA Bt
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.01% 0.05% 1.71% 72.28% 0.12%
Gross carrying amount BEmE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 2,323,808 1,997 350 3571 2,329,726
Expected credit losses BHEERSR
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 179 1 6 2,581 2,767
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AARKETIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivables accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB704,935,000 (2021:
RMB1,028,153,000). The Derecognised Bills have a
maturity from one to six months at the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised
Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC
banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion
of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills and
there is no significant credit risk on such derecognised
bills being exposed since the bills are guaranteed by
banks which are either state-owned banks with strong
state support or other credit-worthy financial institutions in
the PRC. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills (2021: Nil). No gains or losses were
recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year ended 31 December 2022 or cumulatively.

Bills receivables that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding and for
selling purpose are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. All bills received by the Group are
with a maturity period of less than one year.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

20 EZRURREREREE

BBV KERE LD ER (FE)
MN2022F12A31H » REEREE
TFHEBFETEZRBITENN
ETRUEZEER(TEERRZRE] -
LUBERMNEBEEEERAEA
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(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

(AARKDIR)

21 Prepayments, other receivables and other 21 FANR - HttEWR R HA
assets BE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Current assets nEEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers 81 758 = 5 (L fE R 2 B 3K 147,140 201,308
Deposits Be 58,159 63,130
Input VAT recoverable AT O] 7 TR (E R 83,608 79,927
Prepaid expenses ENER 6,700 16,937
Other receivables H ih fE UL TR 41,995 23,287
Amounts due from related parties FEUREEE A L HIE
(Note 37(b)) (B17£37(b)) 54,792 34,822
392,394 419,411
Less: Impairment B ORE (6,285) (4,032)
386,109 415,379
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid expenses AR FAX 44,299 38,795
The movements in the impairment of prepayments, other TERT IR - B U SR R E 0 E R
receivables and other assets are as follows: gy
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
At 1 January M1A1H 4,032 4,231
Impairment losses recognised/ R, (BRE)NREREF8E
(reversed), net (Note 8(c)) (H#t5#8(c)) 2,253 (29)
Amounts written off as uncollectible  fi$5~ AT Uk Bl 2 4 58 - (170)
At 31 December M124318 6,285 4,032

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets mainly
represent prepayments to third-party suppliers and input
VAT recoverable. As there were no comparable companies
with credit ratings can be identified, expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.
The 12-month ECL loss rate applied for where there are
no comparable companies as at 31 December 2022 was
2.29% (2021: 0.89%).

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
financial assets included in the above balances related
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

TEfM R B ER G R EMmEEE
BB NE=Z T ERmeTE
R AT el 2 #ETE IR AT o B REE
SR EEEFANTELRA
Al AEEKL2ERTEBLHER
BRFERBERAGITRBEES
B BEEERNEERRIELDFHE
LA Iz B 5 B 155 50, T FBUBI 5K TR A EE 1B
Joo ¥R 2022F 12831 H &£
BB ARMER - FAEA12ME
REHEEEEXAE2.29% (2021
£ :0.89%) °

B LA EE R EE YRS - bl
EHRANBRENSRE E TR
RADERH FEM R A B » 1 2022F
202112 A31 0 @ EEEETG
BRERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%iﬁ% H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

22 Cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits

and restricted deposit

ReRkBEEEY  CEF
FREARBIFER

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTIT
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTTA R 1,490,075 1,780,614
Deposits in COFCO Finance TR AR BT 7S B0 17 3K
(Note 37(b)) (B1:37(b)) 890,000 137,000
Time deposits TEHTF R 115,735 36,008
2,495,810 1,953,622
Less: Pledged deposits and B BEEEER R ARSI
restricted deposit: Tk
Pledged for letters of credit RERAFDER (29,472) (2,166)
Pledged for bills payable (Note 23)  HtFE =& B IF (F/7223) (86,263) (33,842)
Restricted deposit BRHITFR (8) (319)
(115,743) (36,327)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 2,380,067 1,917,295

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months, depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term
time deposit rates. The bank balances, pledged deposits
and restricted deposit are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

All of the above deposits in COFCO Finance are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitment
and have a short maturity of less than three months with
a determinable return when acquired. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, these deposits in COFCO
Finance are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23 Trade and bills payables

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,
is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

UAARKESIR)

23 BESENRRESERE

R|ERR  REZAHFENE
5 FET 3R I FE A< R B ) BR e 5 A 40
-

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Within 3 months 3ME AR 1,849,725 1,956,331
3to 12 months 3&E121@A 565,169 361,701
Over 1 year 1F A E 7,584 5,721
2,422,478 2,323,753

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 (2021: 30 to 90) days.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s bills
payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits
amounting to RMB86,263,000 (2021: RMB33,842,000)
(Note 22).

As at 31 December 2022, among the trade and bills
payables, trade payables of RMB246,000 (2021:
RMB1,160,000) were due to ORG Technology and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Group, and
trade payables of RMB32,658,000 (2021: RMB35,088,000)
were due to CPMC Barrel Production (Yantai) Co., Ltd.
(“Yantai Barrel”), which is a joint venture of the Group.
These balances were payable within 90 (2021: 90) days, a
credit term similar to those offered to its major customers
(Note 37(b)).

B HENALEMNZERLTETE
ZREEE B30E2 90K (20214 -
30E90K) °

20225 12A31H - AEANE
FTEAEEARNEBNRITERA
H AR #86,263,0007T (20214 :
AR 133,842, 0007T) 1EH 38 (Fff 3%
22) °

R2022%12A31H * E5EMR
NN 2R BIE RN AN E
TRESREEEMNBATNE S
JERT TR A R #5246,0007T (20214F
AER#1,160,0007T) & & AR E
EETEREERMIES)BRARA
(EedR)NESENRAEAR
#532,658,0007T (20214 : AR
35,088,0007T) ° sZZF K IAAF 90
K (20214 : QOKR) A - B4 T
HFXrERP ZEEGFA LR
37(b)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j‘i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

24 Other payables and accruals 24 HhENRRESTER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Contract liabilities BHERE 40,952 42,135
Refund liabilities R¥;AE 20,338 56,960
Salaries and welfare payables B TE REF 135,077 150,876
Accrued expenses fEZHE A 65,001 54,259
Guarantee deposits from suppliers  HERERES 26,186 20,707
Payables for purchases of equipment £ &% ## & (< ZUE 141,084 96,091
Amounts due to related parties FEfTRBE A LFIA
(Note 37(b)) (H1a£37(b)) 1,952 212
Other tax payables Hi g iiE 53,250 21,614
Others HAfth 21,054 25,102
504,894 467,956

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and
have an average term of three months.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities were
RMB44,628,000. Revenue recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2022 related to contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year was RMB42,135,000 (2021:
RMB44,628,000).

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

Hip SR R B HE X TETE
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25

26

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ MTJ‘%I

(AAREF|R)
Lease liabilities 25 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREIAEB CHEBENHT
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: EHVEARR
2022 2021
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
3%k 1%k 5wtk xEHE
ZBE Fokc) ZHAE Eek ]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARETR
Within 1 year —FER 12,002 13,478 13,510 15,081
After 1 year but within 2 years —FURERFUR 6,755 7,998 8,486 9,662
After 2 years but within 5 years MENBREBRFUR 16,967 19,564 15,135 17,498
After 5 years AELNR 41,130 44,047 38,755 41,813
64,852 71,609 62,376 68,973
76,854 85,087 75,886 84,054
Less: total future interest expenses  J, : 7 R F| B 8% (8,233) (8,168)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEEZHE 76,854 75,886
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied HARHEEBEZMETHIEE
to lease liabilities is 2.39% (2021: 2.50%) per annum. BERFFEE2.39%(20214F ¢
2.50%) °
Derivative financial instruments 26 fTE€@MTIA

The Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from
the fixed unit price of aluminium to certain of the Group’s
customers conducted in the normal course of business.
These commodity futures contracts are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. A net fair value gain on
derivative financial instruments of RMB5,183,000 (2021: a
net fair value loss of RMB27,583,000) was recognised in
cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the year (see Note 8(a)).

AREBEVZERPERAL
AREBEEEBBREPAEES
F &= 5 $H 7 88 M B AL Ak AN T B B
MMmZERRAR ZSEHEM
BB ATEFAEZ - FRTAE
CMIENFAFERSIARE
5,183,0007C (20214 : JFAF1(E
Fi18 A R#27,583,0007T) 2 #ER
AR iEm R EERAF (5
8(a)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

27 Interest-bearing bank borrowings 27 FEBRITER
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS 2022 2021
BARSRER Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
B FIZ (%) HE  ARETRT BBEF®E%) I8 ARETR
Fixed-rate - secured EE-BHHA 1.26-1.48 2029 2,386 1.26-159  2026-2029 41416
Floating-rate -~ secured ;%8 - HIEIF 3.52-3.85  2023-2026 253,160 - - -
Floating-rate - unsecured |8 — EIEIE 2.36-545  2023-2026  4,955902  099-1.30 20222024 4,172,866
5,211,448 4,214,282
NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 2022 2021
HAMBBEME RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T AR¥ETT

Bank borrowings are repayable in  JER N7 HAREERITHER
the following intervals:

Within one year F—FRN 3,824,249 2,071,145
In the second year £ F 1,226,413 986,946
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EFE-EFERTF BEEER
FIVE-YEAR
FNANGIAL _ Eﬁi 160,204 1,155,264
SUMMARY Beyond five years BBEAF 582 927
AEHHEES 5,211,448 4,214,282

Less: Amounts due within one year & : JRBV & &EE 75

shown under current R—F A EIE
liabilities /| (3,824,249) (2,071,145)
Amounts shown under JEmBIBEIE T ATHIFIE
non-current liabilities 1,387,199 2,143,137
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings R2022F 128318 » AEEE K
amounting to RMB255,546,000 (2021: RMB41,416,000) AR #255,546,0007T (20214 -
had been secured by the Group’s property, plant and AR #®41,416,00070) LA B AR 5
equipment with an aggregate net carrying amount BEAAR325 100,0007T (2021
of RMB325,100,000 (2021: RMB64,354,000) (Note F: AR®64,354,0007T) B9 A&
14). The Group’s secured borrowings amounting to BETWE - BERKEERR
RMB109,117,000 (2021: Nil) had also been guaranteed by (MH5E14) - REBWERERAR
a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary. #109,117,0007C (20214 : ) 71
B KRB A B 8 IR AR R IE
R e
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28 Deferred Tax

Notes to th

e Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

UAARKESIR)

28 EERIIE

FRRTEHEEERBENFESH
™

Deferred tax liabilities EEHESRE
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax
amortisation  of property,  amortisation
of lands plantand  of intangible
use rights equipment assets Total
nE - BER
THEREz  REZME  BFEEZ
R B A 85 REHRE MEHESRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1A18 3,809 39,426 2,913 46,148
Deferred tax (credited)/charged RBEAGIA) /Ml
to profit or loss (Note 11) ERHIBWE1) (107) 15,397 (568) 14,722
Gross deferred tax liabilities 202112 A31HH)
at 31 December 2021 BETHEAE 3,702 54,823 2,345 60,870
At 1 January 2022 20226 1A18 3,702 54,823 2,345 60,870
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss ~ R#EZE A A
(Note 11) ERHIBWE11) (309) (8,253) (252) (8,814)
Gross deferred tax liabilities 202212 A31HH)
at 31 December 2022 BELHEARE 3,393 46,570 2,093 52,056
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

28 EERIE(E)

28 Deferred Tax (continued)
CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER

Losses

Provision for  Provisionfor available for
Provision for impairments of - impairments of offsetting

impairments  prepayments property, ~ against future
of trade and other plant taxable Others
receivables  receivables and equipment profits (Note) Total
EfRR 9% BER TRER
NOTES TO THE E5RNE AER  REZHE  BREBAK A
CONSOLIDATED HEBE  JHERE BE  ERBRAR W) a5t
FINANCIAR RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00
STATEMENTS _ _ _ _ _ —
GaMBRRmE AREFL  AREBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R2021E151R 589 1027 12305 - 24016 26,937
Deferred tax (charged)icredited  NEHRAMIR) /3t A
to profit or loss (Nots 71) ERERE W) (3) (19) (492) 6,357 2778 8621
(Gross deferred tax assets Ro021E12A3188)
at 31 December 2021 BEEHREE 586 1,008 813 6357 26,79 35,558
FIVE-YEAR At 1 January 2022 R2022F1718 586 1,008 813 6,357 26,794 35,558
;'S‘Sh’:i'RAYL Deferred tax credited/(charged) REZERMEA/ (Fk)
e {0 profit or loss (Aot 11) EREE ) 191 563 (291) (6,169) (5,041) (10,747)
(Gross deferred tax assets 202251273188
at 31 December 2022 BEEHREE m 1,571 522 188 21,753 24,811

292

Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax arising from refund
liabilities and provision for miscellaneous expenses.

As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses for
approximately RMB288,049,000 (2021: RMB346,127,000),
which included in the tax losses of approximately
RMB197,147,000 (2021: RMB332,325,000) that will expire
within five years, and other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of the above items
as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

Wret . HEEZEEHEFBERE
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R2022F12A31H  EFAE A
FRIEEEYHARE288,049,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28 Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Pursuant to the approvals received by the Company
from the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are regarded as
CREs and relevant enterprise income tax policies shall be
applicable to the Company and these subsidiaries starting
from 1 January 2013. As a result, the Company and these
subsidiaries are therefore no longer liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by their subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of retained
earnings generated.

For those subsidiaries not approved as CREs, the Group
is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB351,979,000 (2021:
RMB345,886,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

UAAREFIR)

28 EEBIE(E)

FEHEEE (B

BIEA RV EPRBRRRE DB
RS - ARRIRERFHE QA
WREATEHERMZE - XH2013
F1A1EREREBELEMEM
& o ALt ARF R ENE AR
15 42 J8 b EL A FR B 0 AR S 2 B B
NEIEEMRE BF 2R S5
MTEFNFL o

HRZEREHEAETRERD
¥7MBARIME AEEZAR
B AR B A 3 AR ST B 5% S BT B A B
E2008F1A1BRELE ZAFIAT
IR 2 BR B TEINE o BB IELR
EHERERBFERTENBQF
2HBINBEEEESEAAR
#351,979,0007T (20214F : AR
#5345,886,0007T,) 7142 i 1 7 18 #
1% - B AL B R IEH B0 =
B BERBEERAEITS
AR BRZRAEEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%iﬁ% H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

29 Share capital 29 R
2022 2021
No. of No. of
shares RMB’000 shares RMB'000
ROEE AR®ETR RNEE  ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued Lak o BETRER
and fully paid 1,113,423,000 2,730,433 1,113,423,000 2,730,433

30 Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent: 1) additional contribution
made by the non-controlling shareholders of the
Company’s subsidiaries; 2) in the case of an acquisition
of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition
and the non-controlling interests acquired and; 3) in
the case of a settlement of a shareholder’s loans, the
difference between the carrying amount of loans and the
consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are
required to make appropriations to a certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations from
prior years and before profit distribution to equity holders.
The percentage to be appropriated to such statutory
reserve funds is determined according to the relevant
regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A
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31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% H:J‘%I

Partly-owned subsidiaries with material non- 31
controlling interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

UAARKESIR)

ERERFERER 2D

BEREWEBLE

BAESAFEREE 2 ASENE

DRI

2022 2021
Percentage of equity interests IEIERERFIFRER DI -
held by non-controlling interests:
Wuxi Huapeng mHEN 15.52% 15.52%
Harvest Epoch LA 31.20% 31.20%
Benepack Hong Kong Limited BMpREEEBRAGR
and its subsidiary (“Benepack”) HEWBARTERD 49.00% 49.00%
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated DEEFFERERAFE
to non-controlling interests: i, (E518) -
Wuxi Huapeng mHENS 2,880 2,317
Harvest Epoch AT 48 5,840 2,499
Benepack B (11,185) 5,117
Accumulated balances of IR RN RS B AW
non-controlling interests REt#Ees
at the reporting dates:
Wuxi Huapeng mRENS 59,599 56,719
Harvest Epoch AL 6 179,914 174,074
Benepack B4 65,487 74,621
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁ{%/ﬂ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Mj%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

31 Partly-owned subsidiaries with material non- 31 EEEXRFERER ZHBH

CONSOLIDATED controlling interests (continued) BEEHNBE AR (&
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BaBeRES The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TREHEA LA BE AR N EER
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts BE - EESEAKREHANAAME
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: HIERT 28
Wuxi Huapeng  Harvest Epoch Benepack
EHER WIE % A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT ARBTT
NOTES TO THE 2022 2022¢
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS Revenue WA 577,728 1,508,192 431,770
SARE RN Total expenses Rt (559,173) (1,489,473) (454,595)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE/(BR) 18,555 18,719 (22,825)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE 2B /() %
for the year 18,555 18,719 (18,647)
Current assets mEEE 310,820 554,531 646,132
Non-current assets FRBEE 188,870 316,348 708,749
FIVE YEAR Current liabilities nEaE (87,672) (291,664) (925,732)
;'UNGS?RAYL Non-current liabilities knBARE (20,000) (2,567) (295,459)
HEHBHE Net cash flows (used in)/from "ETE(ER) /EE2HE
operating activities MEFHE (1,443) 156,588 182,550
Net cash flows (used in)/from REZE(ER) /EEzHEE
investing activities MEFHE (6,148) (3,727) (240,252)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BETE(ER) EE2HS
financing activities MEFHE (19,276) - 109,659
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BeRALZENRD)/
and cash equivalents EIFE (26,867) 152,861 51,957
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

UAARKESIR)

31 Partly-owned subsidiaries with material non- 31 EEEXRFERER Z2HBH

controlling interests (continued)

BENEAR(E)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Wuxi Huapeng  Harvest Epoch Benepack GaRSRER
EHENRE T 408 B#
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT
2021 20214
Revenue WA 587,460 1,075,470 375,793
Total expenses F¥ 8% (572,528) (1,067,615) (365,351)
Profit for the year FEHNHE 14,932 7,855 10,442 NOTES 1O THE
. . ) - CONSOLIDATED
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE2MEUE /(F) @@ FINANCIAL
for the year 14,932 7,855 (3,496) STATEMENTS
AP RRMEE
Current assets HBEE 338,887 333,337 445,138
Non-current assets FRBEE 202,197 334,277 489,058
Current liabilities RBEE (131,966) (107,066) (390,893)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (35,939) (2,619) (390,966)
Net cash flows from/(used in) RETHESY (FR)ZES
operating activities REFH 19,173 (8,658) 30,448
Net cash flows (used in)/from REEH(ER)BEERE e e
investing activities mERH (6,982) 1917 (87,613) SUMMARY
Net cash flows (used in)/from BETEH(ER) EE2EE AR
financing activities MEFHE (3,337) - 124,250
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBRESEMEM/
and cash equivalents (R) 38 8,854 (6,741) 67,085
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32 Disposal of a subsidiary 32 HE—XHWEBAF
CONSOLIDATED
ELZLEI“E"LE(;“J’:F During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REZE2022F 128318 IEFE - &
O disposed of 100% equity interest in a subsidiary Shanghai SBE R REAR7,720,000
Pinguan Plastic Industry Co., Ltd, to an independent third TRABYE=AHEWRBAA L
party for a cash consideration of RMB97,720,000. The BmEERBIEARQF100%M
transaction was completed on 30 September 2022. e X HBERN2022F9HA30H %
B o
2022
RMB’000
NOTES TO THE AEﬁg:FJTD
CEONSORBAIES Net assets disposed of: HEATEEFE :
FINANCIAL N
YRS Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) %% - BE KRR #E& (Wit 14) 8,385
HAMBRRME Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHER 30,041
Prepayments, other receivables and TERR - Bt R R E A & =
other assets 92
Trade and bills payables B RN RENER (121)
Other payables and accruals His Sk R EFTE R (805)
37,592
— Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KME A RS 60,128
FINANCIAL 97,720
SUMMARY
HEHBHE Satisfied by: BATHAZA
Cash ko 97,720
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HE—RMBARNRE RS
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: BYRAFEINTLAT
2022
RMB’000
AR%TR
Cash consideration RERE 97,720
Cash and bank balances disposed of HER S MEITER (30,041)
Net inflow of cash and HE—RWBARNRE R
cash equivalents in respect of REZEWMRNFEHE
the disposal of a subsidiary 67,679
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flows

33 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

RE MR EE

UAARKESIR)

33 MEBERERMT

METHELEZEERY

TREJIAEEREETHELELE
BENEEFE  BREAT LIRS
2y MEIDELECABRER
//\Liﬁ/\\j*xfﬁi/mgﬂ—rﬁ/\$é £
MEZEaRERERTOELSRER
PEAZEIREMNARG -

Loan from a Interest-
non-controlling bearing
shareholder bank Lease
of a subsidiary borrowings liabilities Total
WEAR
FERRR
WES  HERTHER HEaE 3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARET TR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1A - 4,214,282 75,886 4,290,168
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSHECET
New bank loans raised HEENBRTEN - 1,383,415 - 1,383,415
Repayments of bank loans BERTEN - (784,109) - (784,109)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BRAERS CEXSA - - (15,017) (15,017)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BRAERS FEHA - - (1,966) (1,966)
Loan advanced from a non-controlling MBLREERRRNER
sharenolder of a subsidiary B 64,895 - - 64,895
Loan repaid to a non-controlling HERARFERRROEN
shareholder of a subsidiary B (69,777) - - (69,777)
Total changes from financing cash flows REREHERYET (4,882) 599,306 (16,983) 577,441
Exchange adjustments ERAZ 4,882 397,860 1,358 404,100
Other changes: A8
Increase i lease liabiltties from SRR HEEARE
entering into new leases 10 - - 17,900 17,900
Interest expenses (Note 7) AMaRxW7) 564 101,964 1,966 104,494
Lease modification HEB] - - (3,273) (3,273)
Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 7) BRLERRAHE7) - (16,777) - (16,777)
Borrowing costs paid classffied as PERIERENEN
operating cash flows BREZAE (564) (80,490) - (81,054)
Transfer to other payables EREMENH - (4,697) - (4,697)
Total other changes EnEHEn - - 16,593 16,593
At 31 December 2022 #2022F12831R - 5,211,448 76,854 5,288,302
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁé/ﬂ\jiﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

33 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (continued)

33 HMEREREBRME(E)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities RETEELE2EBEEE (@)
(continued)
Interest-
bearing
bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
HERTER HE8E @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F181H 4,263,720 81,246 4,344,966
Changes from financing cash flows: HEREREZRE .
New bank loans raised MEBENRTEN 1,061,063 - 1,061,063
Repayments of bank loans BERTER (968,488) - (968,488)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BNAERE 2 EAT - (14,519) (14,519)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERMERSZFSH - (2,000) (2,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSNELDET 92,575 (16,519) 76,056
Exchange adjustments ERAE (142,013) (6,514) (148,527)
Other changes: Hir#g
Increase in lease liabilities RN B EEAEEM
from entering into new leases - 17,480 17,480
Interest expenses (Note 7) MERE% A7) 71,080 2,000 73,080
Lease modification MEEE] - (1,807) (1,807)
Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 7) BT AF27) (7,490) - (7,490)
Borrowing costs paid classified as NEBLERSRENENE
operating cash flows KR (63,590) - (63,590)
Total other changes HinZs)ed - 17,673 17,673
At 31 December 2021 R2021%£12831R 4214282 75,886 4,290,168
34 Pledge of assets 34 BREE

Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and
bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group,
are included in Notes 22, 23 and 27, respectively.

CPMC Holdings Limited Fig BEZERER AR
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(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

UAARKESIR)

35 Operating lease arrangements 35 ReEHERH
CONSOLIDATED
As lessor EREHEA STATEMENT OF
The Group leases its machineries and individual properties AEBRBEEHEER G EMS e
(which was not qualified as an investment property), under RTEEREREMENYED
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for H-BEHBENTFAAERENE
terms ranging from six months to eight years (2021: six (2021F : REREN®F) - HE
months to eight years). The terms of the leases generally BB ENERALPZTRES -
also require the tenants to pay security deposits and WAl R FEE R TSR E AR
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then & e

prevailing market conditions.

- NOTES TO THE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total REBRREHRRIZ LS Fr CONSOLIDATED
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 1M Y EAE I E 2 AR R FINANCIAL
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: AER R KRR FEES 25BN ﬁf;;g::;
™
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ET T
Within one year F—FR 4,680 5,873
Between one and two years F—EE_F 4,058 6,030 ;RA/ENYCEQT
Between two and three years E_EE=F 3,863 4,299 SUMMARY
Between three and four years FE=FEFENF 3,541 3,455 AEMHEE
Between four and five years FENEFRF 2,482 3,134
After five years AF A% 548 1,620
19,172 24,411
36 Capital commitments 36 EAREGE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RBERERAEE 2 EARAHEN
end of the reporting period: N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: BECETOEREBER

Property, plant and equipment M - BE kB 463,023 459,311

Capital contribution payable BN —REELEZERRE
to a joint venture - 4,680
463,023 463,991
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%iﬁ% H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

37 Related party transactions 37 BERRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BREZSEHREUERERE MM
in the consolidated financial statements, the T8z SN AEBR
Group had the following material transactions FREBEALTETHNEKR
with related parties during the year: BT
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®T T AREFT
Transactions with COFCO: HAEHRS
- Repayment of lease liabilities -EEHERBERELER
(including principal and FEH)
interest elements) (i) 650 650
- Purchase of IT software and -BEAARMEEMRER
IT facilities BT (v) 268 275
- Supply of IT Services and - REEARRERTSHD
market consulting services R v) 1,000 943
- Purchase of products -EEEm (iv) 55 319
- Addition to right-of-use assets -ENEREEE (vi) - 3,679
Transactions with related HEENANR S
companies”:
Transactions with HPERBENRS -
COFCO Finance:
- Interest income (Note 6) - IS A (Bf7t6) (iii) 15,095 14,502
Transactions with COFCO BANRFEREFIE(EE)
(Hong Kong), a substantial RENBRR (G g
shareholder of the Company, FEBHEEDNRS
and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “COFCO Hong Kong
Group”):
- Sale of products -HEEm (0 563,951 497,215
- Repayment of lease liabilities -EEHERBERELER
(including principal and FEH)
interest elements) (i) 856 931
- Addition to right-of-use assets -ENEREEE (vii) 1,539 -
Transactions with ORG BANAFERERFERE
Technology, a substantial EEGICTEHES xS
shareholder of the Company, HMEEBENHRS
and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “ORG Technology Group”):
- Sale of products -HEEm (0 21,744 111,352
- Purchase of products -EEEm (iv) 33,088 81,695
Transactions with a joint venture BALE-RaELER
of the Group 5
- Purchase of products -EEEm (iv) 202,479 114,549

*

Related companies are companies under significant
influence of COFCO.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE

37 Related party transactions (continued)

(@)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

The sales were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers
of the Group.

The lease payments were determined with reference
to the prevailing market rental.

The interest income arising from the deposits placed
at COFCO Finance was determined in accordance
with the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated
by the People’s Bank of China with the same terms
and conditions.

The considerations were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices
charged to third parties.

The transactions were carried out in accordance
with the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the
parties involved.

The Group entered into a three-year lease with
COFCO in respect of a leased property, commencing
from 1 January 2021, with an annual lease payment
of RMB1,300,000, payable in half-yearly basis, and
was determined with reference to amounts charged
by COFCO to third parties.

The Group entered into a two-year lease with the
COFCO Hong Kong Group in respect of a leased
property, commencing from 1 February 2022, with a
monthly lease payment of HK$82,500 (or equivalent
to RMB69,000). The lease payments were determined
with reference to amounts charged by COFCO Hong
Kong Group to third parties.

(AARKTIR)

37 BEIRZ (&)

(a) HBREEFEMBHMRAAMM
FRBZRZ5%  AERER
FREREATETHNEKR
RBWT (8

libogz3

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(Vvii)

BHHEEDRIEE TIEE
BRIERTAEETEE
FEIEIFTAETT o

HEMNKI2ER T E

B G A R
EWA T 1% 8 P B B #R
TTHTRM R B ITAREF
KR 3 12 16 [ 16 50 % 1 1F
MEE °

1t 1873 2 BT 77 1745 18
B FIERAEZ W
HEREE -

BFHEXZIRESEET
T FH 5 5E B9 165K R MR 1A
77 °

REFHEFEGHEYZ
AT B20214 18 1HEEGF
BRH=FHHE  FHD
AAR1,300,0007T &
EFEHT R EFRE
[6] 5B = YR 59 5008 1 B
iw

AEFHEFfE (FE)EH
G EYEETV H2022F
25 1H#5 A M F i
B A=z 75825005 7T
(kL FERARB69,000
L) e M 2R EH g
(BE)EFHRE =5 IR
HIIBEEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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37 Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

BELRS (H)

(b) EBEEALZBEHRBER

CASH FLOWS
BARSRER #
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Trade and bills receivables (Note 20): BIRUBF R EREE
(Hizt20)
The COFCO Hong Kong Group HE(ER)EE 75,100 66,044
NOTES 10 THE The ORG Technology Group BnHeHEERE 4,965 44,438
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL Prepayments, other receivables and TR R R E A
;T:;;N;?ﬁa other assets (Note 21): BEMWZ21)
= The COFCO Hong Kong Group HiE(EE) £ 54,792 34,822
Trade payables (Note 23): BHEMRAI223) -
The ORG Technology Group BIHeREEE 246 1,160
Yantai Barrel BRI 32,658 35,088
Other payables and accruals Hi RNk EIER
E:‘éiﬁéﬁi (Note 24): (Hizt24) -
SUMMARY The COFCO Hong Kong Group hiE(EE)&E - 212
AEMHEE COFCO Hig 1,952 -
Deposits placed (Note 22): BRERRWz22) -
COFCO Finance hig A 890,000 137,000
Right-of-use assets: PREEE
COFCO (Note 37 (a) (vi) g (17£37(a)(vi) 1,226 2,453
The COFCO Hong Kong Group HiE(EB)SE
(Note 37 (a) (vii)) (B1:237(a)(vii) 916 73
Lease liabilities: HEAE:
COFCO (Note 37 (a) (vi) Hig(Hi37(a)(vi) 2,569 3,145
The COFCO Hong Kong Group HEER)EE
(Note 37 (a) (vii) (B4:£37(a)(vii) 936 76
Note: Bfet -
(i) Except for the deposits placed to COFCO Finance () BFEHR B IE S 7
which bear interest at prevailing market rates and RBIEBE TS M EEHE I
repayable on demand, the other balances are HEESEES B
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of BRI ERI - THEA
repayment. FEETENA -
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37 Related party transactions (continued)

()

(d)

AAR

¥ 517D

37 BEIRZ (&)

Transactions and balances with other state- (c) HEMEEERZENRS
owned entities RErEE
The Group operates in an economic environment REEESNEERSERD
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly TERXZAETEBNBAE
owned or controlled by the PRC government REL R - BB E S E
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or B EEEEEE ST
other organisations (collectively, “State-owned MEEEGBIEERED - F
Enterprises”). During the year, the Group enters into W AR E E A S K E A
extensive transactions, mainly covering purchases of MEBETEETRERS
tinplates with State-owned Enterprises, other than the FEPREBEFEOH - KX
COFCO Group, on terms comparable to those with EHEMEBEBELECLEARS
other non-state-owned entities. B REAR S o
The directors of the Company consider that KRB EERE  BEMEH
transactions with other State-owned Enterprises ErECHNRZABERE
are activities in the ordinary course of its business, X¥BBERETHNEE B
and that dealings of the Group have not been 7N £5 8 B2 AR Lk el R B AT A
significantly or unduly affected by the fact that s AN B R ERN
the Group and those State-owned Enterprises BHWALEXIEEXTE
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC HE o REEESTEMM
government. The Group has also established pricing RGO EBHE  MxFK
policies for products and services, and such policies RWEBAREFRPRES B
do not depend on whether or not the customers are Eh¥ - KAFEZEEZEH
Stated-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to FEHAEAEE  AREEEFER
the substance of the relationships, the directors of BRZEZHBRTEKAESTT
the Company are of the opinion that none of these TUBRBNREARS °
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.
Compensation of key management personnel of (d) FTEEFEEEASHH
the Group: &
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBET T
Short-term employee benefits RHEREERET 8,337 7,221
Post-employment benefits BERL 2R A 582 518
Total compensation paid SNFEEEEBAEDN
to key management personnel RN 8,919 7,739

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in Note 9.

EREFEREIZTHRA
MemE—ZHBHEHR
Qo

g2
B &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁ{%/ﬂ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Mj%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

38 Financial instruments by category 38 ZEREINERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EeRMTEBEAINRERRNET
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BT -
follows:
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (Debt instruments)
BRAOFESAHMGZEKEN
cREEEEIR)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Bills receivables JEW R IE 180,221 161,661
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBHERATECSREE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 UK 2,557,980 2,326,959
Financial assets included in FTATER R - HAbEE R
prepayments, other HEMEENSREE
receivables and other assets 151,782 120,378
Pledged deposits and BB FER AR HITR
restricted deposit 115,743 36,327
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEZEEY 2,380,067 1,917,295
5,205,572 4,400,959
Financial liabilities tREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RBERATEZESHAE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARKETFTT

Trade and bills payables SO VY ES 2,422,478 2,323,753
Financial liabilities included in other T AR M E R EFTTEE &

payables and accruals TRBaE 275,615 253,331

Lease liabilities HEAE 76,854 75,886

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 5,211,448 4,214,282

7,986,395 6,867,252
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39 Fair value measurement of financial

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and input(s) used).

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

39

UAARKESIR)

ERMTANAFETE

AEERBOEMEENSHERAR
BAFERE - TREHROAEE
ZETBMEEZAFEZENE
B R PR A 2z (B Bl K B A B
) o

BAFESARMEZERSENSH
&E

Fair value as at

Fair value hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

fEEAEMN
AFER AVESREE FEHANBE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETR
Billsreceivables  EWEE 180,221 161,661 Level 2 £#—  Discounted cash flow

method. The key input is
market interest rate.

BERL RS - B
AR ADEFIE -

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only observable
market input.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair
value hierarchy for the current period.

The fair value of financial assets are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Wit RER B 2 B EE BT
SEARIE

RERE AR R FERBIE & E AR
B o

TREENQATENREBEAREE
BERRERBSRONETE -

ARREERR  REEUBHRE
T EREENESRE EREIFEK
AARMEEEREEEN A FER

s

Eo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
lﬁﬁ—:é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40
policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Market risk
(iy  Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of most of the
Company’s subsidiaries is RMB since the
majority of the revenues of the subsidiaries
are derived from operations in the PRC. Some
subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency cash and cash equivalents and
bank borrowings, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. Management conducts
periodic review of exposure and settlements of
various currencies, and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should
the need arise.

MERREREBEREE
B E R E

AREENEBEANEEHK T
BMER - misER(BEINER
B BRERKMNEXERR)  EE
R NREE R -

AEBEMERREREETEEPR
TR TSR AR TR - X SR
R PR [ 3 P (K 3 A 6% [ B A5 R 3R A
BENNEE

(a) WHER
(i) SMNERR

ZNNSTECE 2“4 )]
MIEEEBE /AR -
ARZEMBARZK
ZHBARB PR
e ARBETHER
AAIERSRREF
EWMIBITER - 8
SEABEIERR - B
EETHENIREE
R R AEE - WiSE
BEZERZELHY
HEBEARINE R -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign REBIINETHENEE
currency denominated monetary assets EERBEeRRSEE
(representing cash and cash equivalents) V) RE % aEBIRTT
and monetary liabilities (representing bank BRORHE HHARNRE
borrowings) at the reporting date are as follows: (VNN
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Assets BE
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EEEEENIE
of respective group entities) HEHARE
against RMB 349,605 64,519
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EEEEENE
of respective group entities) B HAET
against US$ 124,079 2,303
RMB (as functional currency AR (ZEEEEMNINE
of respective group entities) B HZET
against US$ 32,330 271,792
RMB (as functional currency AR (EEBEEBRE
of respective group entities) B BT
against HK$ 13,823 12,869
EUR (as functional currency BT (SR E TN
of respective group entities) B HZET
against US$ 3,398 5,262
Liabilities AafE
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EEEEENINE
of respective group entities) B HZET
against US$ 2,437,245 2,288,249
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(AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and

40 BIEKMEEBERBE

policies (continued) (%) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Financial risk factors (continued) B 5 L B R 3% (4]) GABLRER
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) BRI (E)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) (iy SNERBR )
Sensitivity analysis @Z@?’l‘iﬁﬁ
The following table details the Group’s Tﬁ—l—%ﬁﬁu$%lﬁ"
sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and EERBABIGEEE
decrease in the relevant functional currencies HLAT?\\%?HE&RZ@
of the group entities, against the following 5% (20214 : 5%) K #J
foreign currencies. 5% (2021:5%) is the BRRE © 5%(20214F - TS
sensitivity rate which represents management’s 5%)MGRREXTER CONSOLIDATED
assessment of the possible change in foreign [Z %1 )85 [ Z< AT B &) FINANCIAR
. L. N STATEMENTS
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes ZiHhE - REDTE AR M
only outstanding monetary items denominated BIEAINBFHER KRB
in foreign currencies and adjusts their BEEBIEE RRF R
translation at the year end for the 5% (2021: HNEETE R 5% (2021 4F
5%) change in foreign currency rates. The 5%)c BBHEHBE#E
sensitivity analysis excludes balances which TRE - BETEE T
are denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ B BRRESTHE
as its functional currency since US$ is pegged BE—REEBRET FIVE-YEAR
to HK$. BB AR TRHEN A FINANCIAL
ﬁ% o SUMMARY
EEMBHE
A negative number indicates a decrease in BEXRTESEEEEN
pre-tax profit for the year when the relevant EREEEE M K iH R
functional currencies of the group entities HNEEFHES % (20214
strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant 5%) s F [Z BR 50 A1 FH
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2021: 5%) B EEEENA
weakening of the relevant functional currencies B R B K AR NS
of the group entities against the relevant B21E5% (20214 : 5%)
foreign currencies, there would be an equal s - &R A
but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the HEZEEREMARAF
year and the balances below would be positive. 2 PUTHE#HBARIE
1E o
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBETT ARBTET
Pre-tax profit for the year FE R AT
HK$ (as functional currency of BT (ZEE TR
respective group entities) BB AARE
against RMB (17,480) (8,226)
RMB (as functional currency of ~ AR (S EBEEAINEE
respective group entities) B AET
against US$ (1,617) (13,590)
RMB (as functional currency of AR (SEBEEHNINGE
respective group entities) B BT
against HK$ (691) (643)
EUR (as functional currency of BT (R &EBEEEEMNINEE
respective group entities) B RET
against US$ (170) (263)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MsE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

In management’'s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The prices for tinplate
and aluminium may be affected by market
demand and supply, domestic government
policies and other economic conditions. In
order to maintain a continued production
cycle, the Group has a policy of maintaining
a certain level of the Group’s tinplate and
aluminium inventories. The level of the Group’s
tinplate and aluminium inventories will depend
on orders on hand, the prices of tinplate and
aluminium in the market and the perceived
future trend of the tinplate and aluminium
prices. To partially minimise the Group’s market
price risk exposure, the Group enters into
commodity futures contracts of aluminium. In
selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of
the tinplate and aluminium. The directors of
the Company believe it is not necessary for
the Group to enter into any long-term supply
contracts with its suppliers to ensure stable
material prices as there are various sources
of tinplate and aluminium and the Group has
not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 2R AR A

40 HBRAKMEEEERBE

(#&)
B RS EE (&)
(a) TTHREEE)
(iy SNERR(4E)
BREDHT (48)

(ii)

BEEERS  BFERE
B I 1 BE I Bk 5 A &
B BERES AL
HREREBHIMNER

EiRR

BEO#EMiE R AREEN
FERERME - F O
IRERAIREF B H G H
B BEREBRFBERUE
HEM&BERRTE - A
ERIFEEABBOF
B ANEBESIT B
B AEER —TEKED
BEOEMIEFHE - A%
B #) 55 O =5 80 83 6 5 ER
RN FEERIE M55
O FNEREAS A R A 78
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(b)

(iii)  Interest rate risk
Except for bank deposits with stable interest
rates, the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group'’s interest rate risk
mainly arises from bank borrowings. Bank
borrowings obtained at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings and lease liabilities obtained at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group has not hedged its cash flow and
fair value interest rate risks. The interest rates
and terms of repayments of bank borrowings
are disclosed in Note 27.

Management does not anticipate any significant
impact on interest-bearing assets resulting
from the changes in interest rates, because the
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected
to change significantly.

If interest rates had been increased or
decreased by 25 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
decrease/increase by RMB10,063,000 (2021:
RMB8,003,000).

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

(Expressed in Re
GAART

nminbi) 45 B & $R R I ST

3R

40 BIEKMEEBERBE

(%)

Ft 3%
(a)

(b)

NS SC )

i B ()

(i) W EE
FREBRENERMIRTT
TFash - REBEL T
MEAFEEE - A%
BeFEERERKRE
RITER - FBRITE
RAEEBERTRHERN
ENRRER - EEIRTT
ERMHEHERBEER
SEASZ R FENER

B o

AEBVERERS T
LR FEFERRE
TR o RITIER
F 2 K 32 SR EA 9 BB B
FIoTHEE o

B8R T A7 3R M0 R T
BTEKESD &3
EREAENEDTE
Uit B EEEAANE

By 488
-

WA e RET
BMAE EFR T %25
EESZ  AEBERE
Z2022%12H31H Ik
FENFBERD
AR 10,063,000
T (20214F « AR#
8,003,0007T) °

FEmE
AEBEEERATRN - F8
REMNE=ZFTETRS - &
RAKREWBER - FYHMA
EREAERANETRS
MEFPETERZERZ - =
S AN B H R MR R AR R
ETHERE  NHERAS
BAHMEREANERRAR -
HNAREARAELEELD
NHEEBEENRS - BRIk
AEBEREHBPIEER
IALAE - BRIASE MR
ERR IR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 HIEEREEEERBE
CONSOLIDATED policies (continued) (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER Financial risk factors (continued) B 75 L B R 3% (4R)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) zEER(E)
The table below shows the credit quality and the TEREFR12A31BERK
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the SEEEBCR (FEREBBEH
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past BER o EHMERERMNH
due information unless other information is available #A MK AR S 77 B AT BN AS Al
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ERRINEREREERE
classification as at 31 December. The amounts ERB&EAMB - 278 ¢
NOTES 10 THE presented are gross carrying amounts for financial BERTRMEENBKRmE -
CONSOLIDATED assets.
FINANCIAL
AR As at 31 December 2022 #2022 124318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A
BHEEEE 2HEHEERSE
— Simplified
FINANGIAL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach
SUMMARY F-Ke FERE E=RE R AE
HERBBE RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR AR¥TRE ARTn AR%TxR
Trade receivables* 85 - - - 2561515 2,561,515
Bills receivables™ e 180,221 - - - 180,221
Financial assets included ~ FFATERH - £ty
in prepayments, other FEUR R Bt
receivables and other BEMSREE
assets
= Normal™* -EE™ 154,946 - - - 154,946
Pledged deposits and EEAERRER
restricted deposit BIFR
- Not yet past due*** - WA 115,743 - - - 115,743
Cash and cash equivalents 4 KB EEY
~ Not yet past due™** - WERBH 2,380,067 - - - 2,380,067
2,830,977 - - 2,561,515 5,392,492
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

(AARKTIR)

40 BIEKMEEBERBE

40 Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued) (48) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Financial risk factors (continued) BREREZE (@) CASH FLOWS

FERERER

(b)  Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

(b) zEEE(E)
20215128318

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BHEEER 2HBHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach TS T T
R FBE BB HHAZE CONSOLIDATED
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 FINANCIAL
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARE®ETT ARETL STATENENTS
Trade receivables* B 2 RUG - - - 2329726 2329726 S
Bills receivables™ LES 161,661 - - - 161,661
Financial assets included T ATERF ~ Eft
in prepayments, other PR R A A,
receivables and other EEMNERERE
assets
= Normal™* —EE 121,239 - - - 121,239
Pledged deposits and EERAEHRER FIVE-YEAR
restricted deposit HIER FINANCIAL
= Not yet past due**** — fe R A 36,327 - - - 36,327 SUMMARY
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KBS EEY EABHE
- Not yet past due*** - AR A 1,917,295 - - - 1917295
2,236,522 - - 2,329,726 4,566,248
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies * AR EE R G 5 7 % #
the simplified approach for impairment, information TTHERE ZERF - F
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in Note 20. E\Afi 15 4 [ 1) & KRB 5F
20175 °

>k

kA A

The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks if trade receivables are settled
by bills. Therefore, the management of the Group
considers the credit risk arising from bills receivables
as insignificant.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

As at 31 December 2022, all pledged deposits,
restricted deposit and bank balances were deposited
with licensed financial institutions without significant
credit risk. The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 37% (2021: 7%) of the Group’s bank balances
was due from COFCO Finance. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of these
counterparties.

>k

Hokkk

fef B 2 JE W 3K A 9% A4
H FNEBEEZHHEER
RIFE) P B8R 7T 877 2
REGSZIR o B U5 B &
BB BN TEL
BY{E BRI T EX -

fif &t AFET 30 E AL g
HRAEMEENE @MEE
ZEDMAEENEE R R
B Y] 15 #E 58 LA 8 & 1%
20 - RUE S E E AR
[IEF ] &R ZELH
fﬁ%ﬂf]ﬁﬁ,@%ﬁ?%/’ﬁﬁ

R2022412H31H @ Fi &
ERFFHLR BRI 75
FIIRIT R FAFFIE D
g WEEX SRR
B AEFEBEEESF
BEfg  RE AR EERTT
48R 37% (20214 : 7%)
FKEFIEGEE - EEEL
THEHEAZERXZHF
H T JE #9 1 7 2K AT (4] 5

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%ﬁ% Bﬁ"ﬁ‘} (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKETIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(c)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. Further quantitative data in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

40 HBRAKMEEEERBE

(%)

5t 7 L B B 3% (40)

(b)

FEmE (&)

HRASBERERTH
EERINE=ZTETX
5 WU BAEMERR -
B 7K 5 [ | 3 R & 5 FE WK
MEANEERRABNE
ZEEHBREREMBREK
FfFE20 P 4% B -

Liquidity risk (c) RBELER
Prudent liquidity risk management includes BENRDESCEREREES
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the BHREZHNBE G RE S
availability of funds through adequate amounts of BY - BBRERBHE
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out HEEREEENERTE
market positions. RESREEMHBET 28t
5 o
Except for non-current interest-bearing bank BRIERB T BRITER KA
borrowings and lease liabilities, all the Group’s Ea@EN  BERSTHKRD
financial liabilities will be settled within one year or on BRTIHHENBMRAE - K
demand based on the remaining contractual maturity SEMBVBAERN —F
date at the end of the reporting period. NFIZEKEE °
The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing BIEEHRMBARE - K
bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at the end SERHEHARNG BRIT
of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERRMEGBEMNIBER
undiscounted payments, is as follows: W
6to
Lessthan less than 1to After
6 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
6ERE
S i6fE A 12088 1525% 5F#% ait
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTI ARBTT ARETT ARETT
2022 20224
Interest-bearing bank FTRBRITER
borrowings 3,765,373 105,212 1,483,943 589 5,355,117
Lease liabilities HERE 3,866 9,612 27,562 44,047 85,087
3,769,239 114,824 1,511,505 44,636 5,440,204
2021 20215
Interest-bearing bank SHEBITER
borrowings 645,909 1,356,751 2,280,992 944 4,284,596
Lease liabilities HERE 4,488 10,593 27,160 41,813 84,054
650,397 1,367,344 2,308,152 42,757 4,368,650
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net interest-bearing bank borrowings
divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a moderate gearing
ratio. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

(AARKDIR)

40 BIEKMEEBERBE
(&)

Pt 7% B L 3% (4D

EXEHE
AEEEARERNTIZANRRE
AR BEASERE TR
M EARLL R  feT s HEK
R AEBREE -

AEERESERAEE RIE@EE
EZRBREE  EEENEBTE
LI o BT RTFARERNERE -
AEFETARMBREZFREN
S8 MREREEARRBITHR
5 o REBI KR Z EMERINREE AR
HIEBRE - HE2022F12A318 1
FE - BEEAMNBE - BURIE

HEEANEMAT 5K - AERERE
BARL REIREEN o L ERTIE
AT ERTITE FUFBERR AR R BIIRA
FEANBEEESTE - ERER
FESBRRERERRAREE

A g 2 SR R IS AR H R A R
BHRKT o RIS HR 2 IR b %

periods were as follows: s

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT

Total interest-bearing bank STRBITERERE W 227)
borrowings (Note 27) 5,211,448 4,214,282

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERBRSEEY

(Note 22) (Hiet22) (2,380,067) (1,917,295)
Net borrowings B F5E 2,831,381 2,296,987

Equity attributable to equity holders AN QA G IR A B A FE(G
of the Company 5,378,744 5,477,698
Gearing ratio TEIRH & 53% 42%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁ{%/ﬂ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Mj%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

41 Statement of financial position of the

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

41 KD EEEMRR R

BRAARANRE BRI BHMAE

ZEREIT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 916 73
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARIMIRE 4,113,094 3,886,471
4,114,010 3,886,544
Current assets REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEU P B 1~ R 5k IR 2,806,563 2,696,841
Prepayments, other receivables TEfRR - AR R EH M E
and other assets =3 416 380
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 478,256 68,016
3,285,235 2,765,237
Current liabilities REEE
Due to subsidiaries FEASHIT BB A Bl FIE 1,312,012 440,399
Other payables and accruals Hih e sk R EETTER 8,071 2,472
Lease liabilities HEAE 862 76
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 2,098,093 1,473,094
3,419,038 1,916,041
Net current (liabilities)/assets wEN(BR),  EEFHE (133,803) 849,196
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERGBEGE 3,980,207 4,735,740
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHRIRITER 1,007,355 1,811,560
Lease liabilities HEaE 74 -
Total non-current liabilities BIERBEE 1,007,429 1,811,560
Net assets FEE 2,972,778 2,924,180
Equity =
Share capital (N 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves (Note) e (M at) 242,345 193,747
Total equity R 2,972,778 2,924,180
Zhang Xin Zhang Ye
RE R EE
Director Director
E EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

(AARKTIR)

Statement of financial position of the 41 ERQTFHBAARR K (E)
Company (continued)
Note: st -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARE]Z BT
Share-based Exchange
payment fluctuation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
LA AR 5
ERZARE ELRDRE BEAE st
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
it ARETT ARETRT AREFTT ARETT
As at 1 January 2021 M2021F1/81H 18,780 121,462 173,325 313,567
Profit and total comprehensive  FE FIliE & 2 A
income for the year 1 - (64,001) 233,671 169,670
2020 final and special dividends B E k20204 A £ %
declared B RERIRE - - (164,787) (164,787)
2021 interim dividend 2021 R 8 12 - - (124,703) (124,703)
As at 31 December 2021 and R2021F 124318 K
1 January 2022 202261H1H 18,780 57,461 117,506 193,747
Profit and total comprehensive & HE & 2 E ik
income for the year k] - 48,355 239,629 287,984
2021 final dividend declared B EIR2021F K H
[hds) 12 - - (105,775) (105,775)
2022 interim dividend 2022F R AR B, 12 - - (133,611) (133,611)
As at 31 December 2022 A2022612A431H 18,780 105,816 117,749 242,345
Events after the reporting period 42 HEHEREE

On 12 January 2023, COFCO Packaging Limited (“COFCO
Packaging”, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Haoneng (HK) Limited and ORG development Limited
entered into a framework agreement, to incorporate
a joint venture in Hong Kong. COFCO Packaging will
contribute EUR8,920,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB64,896,000) in cash, representing 40% of the
registered capital of the joint venture company.

Approval of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 March
2023.

43

R2023F1 128 hleBREAR
Arl((HEeE]  AQRZ2EN B
NED) C REEB)BRAT RE
CEEERAAGLIERDE - R
BB —REEDLE - hlEgaH
15 A8 4 H & 8,920,0008 7T (HH &
R ARE64,896,0007T) @ (HA %
EFMERNL40% ©

BRSSP BRER

BEEEMN2023FE3A21 B ERIF
BT 47 A BT RS ER K o
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hEHBRYME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is as below:

R

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A3101 £

TR ASERBEREAMKFRZ
¥E BE - BENRFEREDEME
HEER DSBS T E
FHEBE  YEBEHEHHENE

7 == =)
BEIZIZE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT  AR®TT ARETT AR®TT ARETR
Revenue ['ON 10,255,225 9,566,382 7,344,747 7,287,271 6,591,307
Cost of sales R (8,073,085)  (8.236,171)  (6,181,523)  (6,189,886)  (5,621,212)
Gross profit ER 1,282,140 1,330,211 1,163,224 1,097,385 970,095
Other income, gains and losses ~ EHUA « Wz K EE 224,853 142,245 107,290 61,389 53,402
Selling and marketing expenses  SHEREHER (393,955) (409,853) (323,161) (315,794) (310,937)
Administrative expenses THER (431,206) (431,922) (341,344) (320,200) (276,446)
Finance costs BB (87,717) (65,590) (99,063)  (135,878) (90,366)
Share of results of joint ventures  [EIGA S EEE 1,978 1,568 91 - -
Share of losses of an associate ~ JE{EEF 4 A FE1E - - - - -
Profit before income tax BRETEHATRE 596,093 566,659 507,037 386,902 345,748
Income tax expense FEmEY (111,415) (93200) (113,004 (80,363) (80,476)
Profit for the year FEFHE 484,678 473,459 394,033 306,539 265,272
Attributable to: 1L
Equity holders of the Company ~ ANAQRRAHFH A 486,512 462,498 389,388 302,090 255,061
Non-controlling interests RS (1,834) 10,961 4,645 4,449 10,211
484,678 473,459 394,033 306,539 265,272
Assets, liabilities and BE - BfEH
non-controlling interests FERER

Total assets HwEE 14,074,506 12,991,814 11,796,365 11,317,531 10,975,684
Total liabilities peE (8,346,104)  (7,172,775)  (6,293,402)  (6,102,538)  (5,727,096)
Non-controlling interests FEE RS (349,658) (341,341) (285,283) (279,289) (351,551)

5,378,744 5,477,698 5,217,680 4,935,704 4,897,037
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